# IMPACT OF HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT (HRM) PRACTICES ON ORGANIZATIONAL PERFORMANCE: A MEDIATING ROLE OF EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE

By

Tahir Masood

A research thesis submitted to the Department of Management Sciences, Mohammad Ali Jinnah University, Islamabad in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

## DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY IN MANAGEMENT SCIENCES (HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT)



# DEPARTMENT OF MANAGEMENT SCIENCES MOHAMMAD ALI JINNAH UNIVERSITY ISLAMABAD OCTOBER 2010

# IMPACT OF HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT (HRM) PRACTICES ON ORGANIZATIONAL PERFORMANCE: A MEDIATING ROLE OF EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE

By

Tahir Masood

A research thesis submitted to the Department of Management Sciences, Mohammad Ali Jinnah University, Islamabad in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

## DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY IN MANAGEMENT SCIENCES (HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT)



DEPARTMENT OF MANAGEMENT SCIENCES MOHAMMAD ALI JINNAH UNIVERSITY ISLAMABAD OCTOBER 2010 Copyright<sup>©</sup> 2010 by Tahir Masood

All rights are reserved. No part of material protected by this copy right notice may be reproduced or utilized in any other form or any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording or by information storage and retrieval system, without the permission from the author.

CHAPTER 1	1
INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 HRM MODELS AND FRAMEWORK	4
1.2 SIGNIFICANCE AND PHILOSOPHY OF HRM	5
1.3 Workforce and Employment Index	7
1.4 Research Purpose	7
1.5 STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM	8
1.6 SIGNIFICANCE OF THE PROBLEM	9
1.7 Research Questions	9
1.8 Organization	10
CHAPTER 2	11
REVIEW OF LITERATURE	11
2.1 THEORETICAL BACKGROUND	11
2.1 MODE OF THEORIZING	11
2.2 PRECEDING STUDIES	11
2.4 PERCEIVED ORGANIZATIONAL PERFORMANCE (POP)	15
2.5 FINANCIAL ORGANIZATIONAL PERFORMANCE (FOP)	16
2.5 1 Marris Ratio	16
2.5.2 Tobin's Q	17
2.5.2 Return on Equity (ROE)	17
2.5.4 Return on Assets (ROA)	18
2.6 RECRUITMENT & SELECTION (R&S)	18
2.7 TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT (T&D)	20
2.8 PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT (PM)	22
2.9 CAREER PLANNING SYSTEM (CPS)	24
2.10 COMPENSATION SYSTEM (CS)	27
2.11 EMPLOYEE PARTICIPATION (EP)	32
2.12 EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE (EP)	35
CHAPTER 3	38
	20
METHODOLOGY	38
3.1 Study Design	38
3.2 POPULATION	38
3.3 SAMPLING	38
3.4 INSTRUMENTATION	39
3.5 PILOT STUDY	40
3.6 DATA COLLECTION	45
3.7 PROCEDURES FOR DATA ANALYSIS	47
3.8 RESPONDENTS CHARACTERISTICS	48
3.9 FREQUENCIES	48

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

3.9.1 Age	48
3.9.2 Gender	
3.9.3 Education	
3.9.4 Experience	
3.9.5 Industry Type	50
3.9.6 Organizational Life	50
3.9.7 Number of Employees in the Organization	
3.10 RELIABILITY	51
3.11 RESEARCH MODEL AND VARIABLES	
3.12 THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK	55
3.13 Hypothesis	57
3.14 DEPENDENT VARIABLE	59
3.14.1 Perceived organizational performance (POP)	59
3.15 MODERATING VARIABLE	60
3.15.1 Employee performance	60
3.16 INDEPENDENT VARIABLES	61
3.16.1 Recruitment & Selection	61
3.16.2 Training & Development	62
3.16.3 Performance Appraisal	62
3.16.4 Career Planning System	63
3.16.5 Employee Participation	64
3.16.6 Compensation System	65
3.16.7 Control variables	66
CHAPTER 4	67
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	67
4.1 RESULTS	
4.1.1 Research Ouestion 1:	
4.1.2 Research Question 2:	
4.1.3 Research Ouestion 3:	
4.1.4 Research Ouestion 4:	
<i>4.1.5 Research Ouestion 5:</i>	
4.2 SCATTER PLOTS	
CHAPTER5	
SUMMARY, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	
Sommart, conclusion and recommendations	)5
5.1 DISCUSSION OF FINDINGS	93
5.2 CONTRIBUTION OF THE CURRENT STUDY	97
5.3 IMPLICATION FOR MANAGEMENT	98
5.4 LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY	
5.5 DIRECTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH	100
5.6 CONCLUSION	101
REFERENCES	102

APPENDICES117				
7.1 A	ANNEXURE I: QUESTIONNAIRE1	17		
7.2 A	ANNEXURE II: SCATTER DIAGRAM12	26		
7.3 A	Annexure III: Frequencies13	30		
7.4 A	ANNEXURE IV: FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS, (2004-2008)1	53		
INDEX-	1;	58		

# LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 3.1:	DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS	41
TABLE 3.2:	CORRELATION MATRIX OF DEMOGRAPHIC VARIABLES	42
TABLE 3.3:	INDUSTRY RESPONSE RATE	47
TABLE 3.4:	DEMOGRAPHICS	48
TABLE 3.5:	RESPONDENTS' AGE	48
TABLE 3.6:	RESPONDENTS' GENDER	49
TABLE 3.7:	RESPONDENTS' EDUCATION	49
TABLE 3.8:	RESPONDENTS' EXPERIENCE	49
TABLE 3.9:	INDUSTRY TYPE	50
TABLE 3.10:	ORGANIZATION LIFE IN YEARS	50
TABLE 3.11:	NO OF EMPLOYEES	51
TABLE 3.12:	DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS OF DEMOGRAPHIC VARIABLES	51
TABLE 3.13:	RELIABILITY ANALYSIS	52
TABLE 4.1:	VARIABLES INCLUDED IN ANALYSES	68
TABLE 4.2:	CORRELATION OF DEMOGRAPHICS WITH OP, MR, TQ, ,ROE, ROA	70
TABLE 4.3:	REGRESSION ANALYSIS DEMOGRAPHICS WITH (POP)	71
TABLE 4.4:	DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS	73
TABLE 4.6:	REGRESSION ANALYSIS (POP) AND HRM PRACTICES	78
TABLE 4.7:	REGRESSION ANALYSIS (MR) AND HRM PRACTICES	79
TABLE 4.8:	REGRESSION ANALYSIS (TQ) AND HRM PRACTICES	79
TABLE 4.9:	REGRESSION ANALYSIS (ROE) AND HRM PRACTICES	80
TABLE 4.10:	REGRESSION ANALYSIS (ROA) AND HRM PRACTICES	81
TABLE 4.11:	REGRESSION ANALYSIS, (POP) AND HRM PRACTICES	83
TABLE 4.12:	REGRESSION ANALYSIS, (MARRIS RATION) AND HRM PRACTICES	83
TABLE 4.13:	REGRESSION ANALYSIS, (TOBIN'S Q) AND HRM PRACTICES	86
TABLE 4.14:	REGRESSION ANALYSIS, (RETURN ON EQUITY) AND HRM PRACTICES	86
TABLE 4.15:	REGRESSION ANALYSIS, (RETURN ON ASSETS) AND HRM PRACTICES	87
TABLE 4.16:	MEDIATION REGRESSION ANALYSIS (EP) AS MEDIATOR	88

# LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 3.1:	PROCESS FOLLOWED FROM POPULATION TO SAMPLING TO ELEMENTS4	4
FIGURE 3.2:	SCHEMATIC DIAGRAM OF THEORETICAL MODEL	6
FIGURE 4.0:	SCATTER DIAGRAM	2

# ABBREVIATIONS

ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
CPA	Career Planning System
CS	Compensation System
Edu	Education
EP	Employee Performance
EPA	Employees Participation
EXP	Experience
Gen	Gender
HCM	Human Capital Management
HCD	Human Capital Development
InT	Industry Type
IVR	Interactive Voice Response
JRS	Joint Reward System
NPD	New Product Development
NEO	No of Employees in Org
OFP	Organizational Financial Performance
OPI	Organizational Performance Index
POP	Perceived Organizational Performance
OrL	Organization Life in Years
PA	Performance Appraisal
PAK	Pakistan
PCS	People Centered Strategies
PEM	Personnel Management
PIM	Pakistan Institute of Management
PM	People Management
RA	Regression Analysis
R&D	Research and Development
ROA	Return on Assets
ROCP	Return on Career Planning
ROC	Return on Compensation
ROE	Return on Equity
ROEP	Return on Employee Participation
ROPA	Return on Performance Appraisal
RORS	Return on Recruitment & Selection
ROTD	Return on Training & Development
RS	Recruitment & Selection
TD	Training & Development
TQ	Tobin's Q
MR	Marris Ratio
JRS	Joint Reward System
NPD	New Product Development
HCD	Human Capital Development

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am indebted and thankful from the core of heart to Allah Almighty whose countless blessings made me able to give my best in completion of this thesis.

A special thanks goes to my parents for giving me life in the first place, for educating me in both arts and sciences, for their unconditional support and encouragement to pursue my interests, even when the interests went beyond the boundaries of language, It gives me immense pleasure and honor to extend my deepest gratitude to my supervisor Dr. Aisha Akbar for her kind and valuable support throughout the completion of this thesis. Dr. Aisha was always there to listen and to give advice.

I am truly grateful to all of my teachers for their kind contribution in enhancing my knowledge and capabilities, especially Dr. Safdar Ali Butt, Dr. Zafar Moein Nasir, Dr. Tariq Javaid, Dr. Syed Tahir Hijazi, Dr. Rehana Siddiqui and all others.

I must acknowledge the support and help of my friends Mr. Arif Khattak, Dr. M. Aslam Khan, Dr. Zulfiqar Ali Shah, Dr. Amir Shah, Dr. Zaheer Abbas, Dr. Arshad Hasan, Dr. Safiullah Khan, Dr. Attaullah Shah, Mr. Asif Kiani, Mr. Wasim Ahmed, Mr. Hassan Rasool, Mr. Fawad Bashir, Mr. Muhammad Tahir Iqbal, Mr. Muhammad Bilal Khan, Mr. Bilal Aziz and Mr. Abaid Ullah Waqar.

I cannot begin to list everyone who helped me, but I extend my sincere thanks to each of them who helped me with my data collection. I am thankful to HRM professionals who took time to complete the questionnaires.

Tahir Masood

# IMPACT OF HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT (HRM) PRACTICES ON ORGANIZATIONAL PERFORMANCE: A MEDIATING ROLE OF EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE

### ABSTRACT

The objective of this study was to explore the impact of different Human Resource Management (HRM) practices (i.e. recruitment and selection, training and development, performance appraisal, career planning system, employee participation and compensation system) on Perceived Organizational Performance (POP) and Organizational Financial Performance. Another purpose was exploring mediating role of Employee Performance (EP) between HRM practices and Perceived Organizational Performance.

This research study is based on the universalistic perspective showing that a fixed set of best practices can create surplus value in various business frameworks. The Harvard model developed by Beer et al. (1984) guided initial process of domain identification. The most relevant HRM domain recruitment and selection, training and development, performance appraisal, career planning system, employee participation, and compensation system followed by universalistic perspective has been selected for the study.

Human Resource Professionals working in different companies of five industries Banking, Insurance, Leasing, Modaraba and Investment were selected for data collection. Primary data from 274 HRM professionals of 129 companies were collected using questionnaire. Secondary data was collected from the published financial reports of the companies listed with Karachi Stock Exchange (KSE) for the period of five years starting from 2004 to 2008.

The demographic variables, Industry type, organizational life, no of employees, gender, employee age, education and experience were used with the purpose to find out control variables. The ANOVA identified two variables gender and education significant. Therefore throughout the study these two were used as control variables. For the analysis purpose statistical tools ANOVA, Correlation and Regression were tested using Excel and SPSS. Results identified that all human resource management practices were positively correlated with perceived organizational performance and perceived employee performance, while none of the HRM practice showed substantial contribution towards organizational financial performance.

Correlation and beta values of HRM practices were significant with POP in the banking industry. Recruitment and selection ( $\beta = .662$ , p < .001) followed by employee participation ( $\beta = .516$ , p < .01) showed significance in the insurance, ( $\beta = .343$ , p < .001) performance appraisal in the modaraba, and recruitment and selection in the investment industry. Recruitment and selection, training and development and the compensation system significantly contributed towards the Marris Ratio in the modaraba industry. The compensation system in the insurance industry, performance appraisal and compensation system in the leasing industry

contributed towards Tobin's Q, employee participation in the banking industry, career planning system and employee participation in the leasing industry and compensation system in the modaraba industry contributed significantly towards Return on Equity (ROE). Recruitment & selection and employee participation in the banking industry, compensation system in the insurance industry and the modaraba and training & development in the investment industries contributed towards Return on Assets (ROA).

Employee performance has been tested as mediator between HRM practices and POP. As per recommendations (Barron & Kenny, 1986) partial mediation of employee performance has been proved between HRM practices and POP.

This study indicated that organizations using HRM practices effectively on a wider scale generate higher performance. To survive and sustain for the future, it is important that the financial sector companies should implement HRM practices to boost employee performance and the organizational performance index (OPI).

## **CHAPTER 1**

## **INTRODUCTION**

The corporate and professional communities' interest and recognition of the significance of Human Resource Management (HRM) practices gained momentum after realization of the fact that it is the people who make organizations successful not the buildings. It would not be justified to assume that the concept of HRM is a newly emerged phenomenon. It is an advanced form of people management. At present the need for HRM is felt enormously, in order to ensure that the business units are able to accomplish organizational objectives through people. Organizations have always aimed for a sound HRM system for success. However, very few companies could establish separate autonomous HRM departments, owing to either affordability, fear or a lack of understanding of the worth and contribution of HRM activities.

The key objective of HRM is to ensure organizational success through a competent and motivated workforce. This is possible if there are rigorous procedural HRM practices such as recruitment and selection, training and development, performance appraisal, career planning system, employee participation and compensation system. Ulrich (1997) said that to capitalize on new opportunities, HRM systems could be the main source. Sett (2004) argued that the globalization of the South Asian economy has been accompanied by an increasing use of HRM practices.

The concept of HRM has attracted enormous attention and has stimulated significant debate between academicians and practitioners. Much of the discussion has been around the meaning of HRM, yet there is no single universally accepted definition of the concept. Literature suggests a range of definitions; some of these equate Human Resource Management (HRM) with Personnel Management (PEM), while others reflect altogether different concepts. However, the philosophies and practices of the latter concept provide fundamentals for the philosophy and practices of HRM. Personnel Management characteristically focuses on a range of activities relating to the supply and development of labor to meet the immediate and short-term needs of the organization. The activities of recruitment, selection,

rewards, training, compensation and others are viewed as separate individual functions. HRM aims to integrate all the personnel functions into a unified strategy. Furthermore, it deals with employees as individuals by maintaining their personal files and job related activities, while on the other hand it considers the entire organization as a focal point for analysis.

HRM is a planned and rational scheme for the management of population functioning in an organization that alone and together puts in the effort for the accomplishment of organizational objectives. HRM is a pool of unified policies, guidelines and procedures with ideological and rational foundations. The main focus of HRM is on four aspects i.e. a particular group of beliefs and assumptions, strategic thrust notifying choices regarding HRM, fundamental participation of line managers and dependence on a set of levers to form employment affiliations (Storey, 1989).

Legge (1995) described HRM as based on hard and soft aspects by distinguishing differences between human resource and material resource. Hard perspective emphasizes business strategies as calculative and quantitative aspects of HR like other economic factors. Story (1987) considered human resource as a factor of production, and their treatment is like that of the variable cost of doing business. Soft perspective by Guest (1987) is the competitive advantage focused approach, in selecting skilled, devoted and a flexible workforce. HR is treated as a distinctive resource that turns factors of production into wealth. Thus the focus is on acquiring long run competitive advantages by effective leadership, proper motivation and effective communication, and by investing in people through training & development.

#### "HR should be defined not by what it does, but by what it delivers" David Ulrich.

Based on different philosophies in literature, HRM is defined as: A methodological approach to develop a formal structure in an organization to guarantee proper recruitment & selection, training & development, performance appraisal, career planning system, employee participation, compensation system for efficient and effective utilization of skilled & motivated human resource to achieve organizational strategic and operational objectives.

Influence of Human Resource Management practices on organizational performance in different developed economies has been a critical and important area of research. In the past, researchers focused on the effect of Human Resource Management practices on organizational productivity, turnover and financial performance (Choi, 2010). However, in Pakistan this remained an ignored area. Sett (2004) is of the view that since the mid 1980s, with the opening of economies in most South Asian countries, the industries underwent qualitative changes, making it imperative for the region that a comprehensive strategic approach to manage people be adopted. HRM in Pakistan was adopted in response to the challenges posed by globalization to bring efficiency in the economic and business activities. However, the adoption of HRM is still in its preliminary phase in Pakistan. For organizations besides cost reduction, quality enhancement and increasing product functionality, HRM is another core paradigm to acquire competitive advantage.

The world is rapidly changing in all fields of life due to globalization and technological advancements that are causing changes in working procedures of the companies across the world. Active HRM practices can meet the challenges resulting from changes in the world of work and work process engineering, as an integral function can be a major activity towards organizational success. Managing baby boomers and the new generation simultaneously, at different work sites in a dynamic environment is not an easy task. They need special treatment in different ways; some prefer one dimension of benefits while others have difference of preferences. Therefore, implementation of HRM practices to strengthen an organization by increasing employees' performance is a tricky but essential venture.

Success in today's competitive market depends on advantages associated with economies of scale, proper use of technology, access to capital, creativity and innovation. This is possible when competent human resource with proper attitude, skills and knowledge has been selected on merit, so that HR can work with motivation towards organizational growth. Although in most of the developing countries, the main hindrance of organizational growth and profitability is either no or negligible use of professional HRM practices, but, the struggle is continuing to find the best way to use these practices optimally. Pakistan has been focusing on industrial growth for the last few decades. As a result, the organizations from different industries are performing a momentous role in the economic development of the country. Despite their economic importance, different organizations suffer from a variety of structural and institutional weaknesses, which have constrained their ability to take full advantage of rapidly advancing process of globalization and HRM practices.

### 1.1 HRM Models and Framework

Fombrun et al. (1984) at Michigan School precisely sketched HRM concept by saying that the HRM system and the organization structure should be harmonious with the organizational mission and strategy. The HRM cycle consists of different functions, selection (matching HR talent with available positions, or the right candidate for the right job), performance appraisal (evaluation of employees' performance for improvement), and compensation (rewarding employees with substantial packages) so that they can be retained and development (strengthening employees with modern working skills) was introduced.

Prominent contributors in modern theory and practices of HRM is by Beer et al. (1984) at Harvard School believing that HRM is the concern of the management in general, rather than the personnel function in particular, and in this era, different forces are demanding a broader, comprehensive and more strategic perspective of human resources in organizations. Different professionals are looking at the long-term perspective of HRM and consider people as strategic assets instead of an expense.

The core function of HRM is getting the right people for the right job so that the required output can be achieved by getting work done by the appropriate people at proper motivational packages, including provision of training and development opportunities after performance appraisal. Ulrich and Lake (1990) view the HRM system as the source of organizational potential that allows organizations to learn and take advantage of contemporary opportunities.

Importance of Human Resource Management has been recognized by Pfeffer (1998) in his book "The Human Equation: Building Profits by Putting People First".

The organizations that peruse "High management practices," produce strong economic returns over a period of time. In support of this argument, he pinpoints different Human Resource Management practices, called Management Practices, as People Centered Strategies (PCS) i.e. proper recruitment and selection, employees training and development, compensation based on merit & performance, and states that PCS are essential sources of competitive advantage that cause higher economic returns. Peffer's work had no empirical evidence in support of the argument he created. Hence, there arises a need to find empirical evidence to support the relationship between HRM practices and organizational performance.

Whitener (2001) by using hierarchical linear modeling found significant relationship between HRM practices and employees' commitment that leads to employees' performance. Tsui et al. (1997) tested employees training and development investment, employee commitment & their performance and found significant relationship. Arthur (1992) identified significant relationship between HRM practices and steel mills performance. These authors, by their studies suggested that proper implementation of HRM practices increased organizational performance and organizational performance needs to be tested by researchers.

Huselid et al. (1997) discussed two different dimensions to measure HRM effectiveness: Strategic HRM and Technical HRM. The first one (Strategic HRM) is focused on methodology to adopt these practices aligned with organizational strategy and the latter (Technical HRM) means effectively implementing these activities.

### 1.2 Significance and Philosophy of HRM

Human Resource Management, surfaced as a designed and methodical approach in the later half of the 20<sup>th</sup>century, while the evolution and origin of HRM can be traced back to the 1970s with the upsurge of human resources accounting theory. Before the accounting theory, human resources used in the production activity were paid equivalent to what they produced. Their importance and value was not perceived in terms of their skills and ability to deliver, mental and physical struggle that ultimately strengthened the financial power of the organization. Human resource accounting theory reformed this ideology and brought fresh thoughts, that the people were the strategic asset of an organization, and they had to be treated in a proper way for enhancing their motivational level, that would ultimately increase organizational performance. Therefore, on the basis of this approach, Human Resource Management (HRM) reviewed the policies and practices needed to carry out the "people" or the human resource aspect of management position, including selection, job definition, training, performance appraisal, compensation, career planning and encouraging employee participation in decision making.

From another point of view, HRM was defined as a process for the development of abilities and attitude of the individuals leading to personal growth and self-actualization, which enables individuals to contribute towards organizational objectives. The concept of HRM for understanding the needs and hopes of people, in a better way, is required to be developed and strengthened. A Chinese proverb says,

"If you wish to grow something for a season, grow mangoes. If you wish to grow something for a year, grow rice, but if you wish to grow something for a lifetime, develop manpower"

Multinational corporations adopted the concept of HRM in mid 90's. In Pakistan, a significant step to highlight the concept of HRM was the setting up of Pakistan Institute of Management (PIM). PIM was established in 1954 by the Government of Pakistan to promote management development in the country. It functions under the Ministry of Industries & Production and has emerged as a leading organization and a milestone in the field of Human Resource Development (HRD). Later the State Bank of Pakistan, the commercial banks in private sector and insurance companies set up their in-house HRM and T&D departments. Gradually, leading universities developed Public Administration Departments for enhancing human resource effectiveness. Due to the awareness created by PIM and different universities, the HRM departments in different organizations are performing comparatively better than the past. This research is an attempt to explore the relationship of HRM practices with organizational perceived and financial performance in Pakistan.

#### **1.3 Workforce and Employment Index**

Pakistan is the sixth most populous country with a population of 160.9 million in 2008; with an addition of around 128 million people during the last six decades (1951-2008). The population is growing at 1.8 percent and it is expected to double (322.0) million by the year 2045. Population density in 2008 was 203 persons per square kilometer. Rural population is shifting gradually to urban areas where the population has increased to 57 million. This migration rate is demanding a paradigm shift and extension in housing, transportation, electricity, water, sewerage, sanitation, health, educational facilities and businesses. The labor force participation rate is showing an increasing trend in recent years, but is still smaller than regional and global rates. This labor regional migration is making different sectors dynamic and providing females with employment opportunities. As much 86 % of the work force is employed in four sectors, e.g. (43.61 %) in the agriculture sector, followed by trade (14.43 %), services (14.41 %) and manufacturing (13.54 %) (PEC, 2007-2008).

Quick variations in percentages of human resource working in different sectors are witnessing a paradigm shift in economic development of the country. The agriculture sector is a large employment provider followed by wholesale and retail trade, community and social services, and the manufacturing sector is contributing (42.38 %). Deregulation strategies, privatization and liberalization helped in increasing the participation of the private sector in the economy. In fact, new employment opportunities have generated in different industries, and for good performance their assets including HR, need to be used properly. Therefore in view of this paradigm shift, the stock exchange listed companies in the financial sector were chosen for this study.

#### 1.4 Research Purpose

Identification of high performance generating factors is a difficult task, but many organizations in different geographical areas are claiming that their HR is the most valuable asset, and HR satisfaction is top priority for them. This research study addresses this assumption directly and therefore focuses on whether or not the Human Resource Management practices actually make a difference in the performance of both, the individuals as well as organizations. If it is true, then which practices appears more performance oriented?

In literature, HRM practices are linked with different performance measures and, it is justified that HRM practices are significant activities for an organization. Keeping in view the importance of these practices for the organizations, the following objectives were developed for the study:

- 1. To establish the link between different demographics with perceived organizational and financial performance.
- 2. To test the relationship of HRM practices with companies perceived and financial performance.
- 3. To see the effect of HRM practices on companies perceived and financial performance.
- 4. To test the mediating role of employee performance between HRM practices and perceived organizational performance.
- 5. To compare the effects of HRM practices on performance of sample industries
- 6. To suggest companies high weight HRM practices so that they can move towards strengthening the Organizational Performance Index (OPI).

### 1.5 Statement of the Problem

While research has shown relationship and effect of HRM practices on organizational performance, yet the statistical work has not been done to study the relationship between HRM practices and different financial performance indicators, like Marris Ratio, Tobin's Q, ROE, and ROA. Secondly, the literature does not divulge much information about the treatment of mediation of employee performance with organizational performance. Thirdly, the relationship of HRM practices and organizational performance across different industries needs to be studied. Finally countries in the growing phase like Pakistan, need to know the contribution of different factors and the intensity of their impact on organizational performance that leads towards economic development and prosperity. Pakistan is gradually shifting from agriculture to industrial economy and therefore it is important to determine empirically, the contribution of different factors like, HRM practices towards organizational performance.

#### **1.6** Significance of the Problem

Different studies have documented HRM dimensions and their relationship with organizational performance with the key focus on perceived magnitude. This study is contributing twofold dimensional aspects; first it is an addition to HRM literature and secondly to practitioners, by providing information about the active HRM practices in different industries of Pakistan, and their relationship with perceived and financial performance. This research will be helpful for HRM professionals to increase organizational performance by adopting significantly explored and tested HRM practices properly.

### 1.7 Research Questions

The following questions were proposed as part of this research study:

- What is the relationship between demographic variables and perceived organizational performance and organizational financial performance based on Marris, Tobin's Q, ROE and ROA, and to what extent do demographic variables affect different types of organizational performances?
- What is the relationship between Human Resource Management practices and perceived organizational and financial performance?
- To what degree do different types of HRM practices effect perceived and financial performance of the organizations?
- How does employee performance mediate between the relationship of different HRM practices and perceived organizational performance?
- Are the effects of HRM practices on organizational performance different in different financial sector industries?

## 1.8 Organization

The remaining thesis is organized as follows:

Chapter 2 provides a comprehensive review of theoretical and empirical literature with references to perceived organizational performance, financial performances, employees performance, recruitment & selection, training & development, performance appraisal, career planning system, employee participation and compensation. Literature related to HRM practices, employee performance, and organizational perceived and financial performance has been critically reviewed. Chapter 3 explains the data and methodology used in the study for analysis purposes. Chapter 4 explains the detailed analysis of perceived and financial performance indicators, and Chapter 5 concludes the study along with managerial implications and future directions for research.

## **CHAPTER 2**

## **REVIEW OF LITERATURE**

#### 2.1 Theoretical Background

Many scholars and research centers have conducted massive research to find out the relationship between HRM practices, and perceived organizational performance and financial performance. The results varied and indicated that, majority of the studies in different countries of the world identified a positive relationship between HRM practices and organizational performance, but a few studies identified negative relationships. In this chapter the contributions of different researchers have been highlighted as Literature Review and guidelines for the study.

#### 2.2 Mode of Theorizing

This research study is based on the universalistic perspective showing that a fixed set of best practices i.e. recruitment & selection, training & development, performance appraisal, career planning system, employee participation and compensation system can create surplus value in various business frameworks. Delery & Doty (1996) justify the choice for universalistic perspective. The Harvard model developed by Beer et al. (1984) guided initial process of domain identification. The most relevant HRM domain, recruitment & selection, training & development, performance appraisal, career planning system, employee participation, and compensation system followed by universalistic perspective has been selected for the study.

#### 2.3 Preceding Studies

Bartel (1994) identified that an investment in the execution of HRM practices eventually results in better organizational performance In the field of Human Resource Management, an abundance of models and studies are indicating an ever-increasing association between effective HRM practices and organizational performance.

Organizational performance fundamentally depends on its key resource "people", but this assumption has been challenged by those who believed that organizational success depended on effective implementation of appropriate HRM policies and procedures. There is substantial research answering two main questions (i) Do HRM practices make a positive impact on organizational performance? (ii) What can be done to make HR a good thing? Rurcell et al. (2003).

To establish the link between HRM practices and organizational performance an extensive research has been carried out. Ulrich (1997) human resource practices appear to matter, as confirmed by survey results, though the degree of results varies in the different populations and sample size. Huselid & Becker (1996) conducted a study of 740 companies and concluded that organizations having HRM practices were better performers. Patterson et al. (1997) examined the link between organizational performances and human resource practices, and identified significant variation where productivity increased by (18%) and profitability by (19%) with good HR management. Thompson (1998) studied the impact of high performance work practices like performance appraisal, job rotation and found positive relationship with organizational performance.

Budhwar et al. (2010) using correlation identified that there is a significantly positive relationship between different HRM practices, compensation and employee involvement with organizational performance. Katou (2008) Identified significantly positive correlation of HRM practices namely selection (r = .73), training (r = .76), performance appraisal (r = .75), compensation (r = .84) and participation (r = .89) with organizational performance.

Tseng & Lee (2009) in their research applied HRM practices to examine organizational performance of multiple industries using Analytical Hierarchical Process/Data Envelopment Analysis (AHP/DEA) modeled on data collected from 129 companies in the Taiwanese electronic industry, and found a positive effect of five Human Resource Management practices on performance.

Shahzad et al. (2008) posted three significantly positive relationships of HRM practices i.e., compensation (M = 3.26, r = .44), promotion practices (M = 3.32, r = .56), and performance evaluation (M = 3.17, r = .15) with employee performance. Purcell et al. (2003) conducted longitudinal study on 12 organizations and discovered clear evidence of association between positive attitudes towards HRM policies, practices and operational performance. The results indicated that HRM is a vital element in linking people management practices to business performance.

Teseema et al. (2006) studied HRM practices in relationship with perceived employee performance and found a positive relationship. Tested practices were (i.e., recruitment & selection, placement, employee performance, promotion, training and development, compensation, pension, grievance procedure).

Singh (2004) found that there was a positive relationship amongst several HRM practices like selection (r = 0.32), performance appraisal (r = 0.32), training (r = 0.32), compensation system (r = 0.32) employee participation (r = 0.32) with firm performance. Out of these practices only Training ( $\beta$  = 0.37, 0.39) and Compensation system ( $\beta$  = 0.41, 0.43) had positive impacts on perceived general and market performance of the firms, indicating that an addition of (1) unit in training will enhance (0.37) the firm's performance and (0.39) in the firm's market performance, secondly, an increase of (1) unit in compensation will increase (0.41) in the firm's performance and (0.43) in the firm's market performance. On the other hand two practices, namely job definition ( $\beta$  = -0.21) and career planning system ( $\beta$  = -0.15) had a negative and an insignificant impact on perceived firm performance.

Deepak et al. (2003) concluded that organizational performance and competitiveness could be enhanced by using the high performance work system. Based on universalistic and contingency approach they conducted regression analysis and found the value of ( $\beta$  = .189,) which is significant at (p < .05). It has been identified that relative use of HRM practices displayed stronger association with organizational performance. Supporting the same arguments (Arthur, 1994) found that steel mills using HRM had higher productivity levels. Huselid (1995)

studied 968 US companies, which showed a positive link between HRM practices and the firm's performance.

Wan et al. (2002) examined the relationship between HRM practices and firm performance. HRM practices were creating a positive effect on organizational outcome. Results calculated through regression suggested that effective implementation of key HRM practices increased organizational performance. Hierarchical regression results reflected a possibility that different aspects of performance could be effected by different HRM variables. For companies promoting financial performance, the performance appraisal appeared to be the most important issue to tackle. While the companies interested in enhancing HR performance emphasized the need for empowerment and training.

There are studies, which did not find clear effects of HRM practices on productivity. Kelley (1996) found that HRM practices did not affected the performance of single-plant organizations, whereas Batt (2002) found that HRM practices did not pay off in small organizations that operated in local markets. Cappelli & Newmark (2001) identified that Human Resource Management practices might raise productivity slightly, but they also raised labor costs. Sels et al. (2003) highlighted that total effects of HRM practices on liquidity and solvency were very close to zero (-0.008 and -0.007 respectively) and concluded that use of HRM practices did not effect the financial position of the company.

This study is designed to investigate the impact of HRM practices including (recruitment & selection, training & development, performance appraisal, career planning system, employee participation, and the compensation system) on organizational performance index comprising on perceived organizational performance; Marris, Tobin's Q, Return on Equity, and Return on Assets, with mediating role of employee performance between HRM practices and organizational perceived performance, as done by (Delaney, 1989; Cucher-Gershenfeld & Barney, 1991; Wright & McMahan, 1992; Arthur, 1994; Pfeffer, 1994; Lado & Wilson, 1994; Huselid, 1995; MacDuffie, 1995; Becker & Gerhart, 1996; Delery & Doty, 1996; Harel & Tzafrrir, 1999; Batt, 2002; Datta, 2003;

Singh, 2004; Gerhart, 2005; Teseema, et al. 2006; Chenhall, 2007; Katou, 2008; Ya-Fen, et al. 2009; Choi, 2010; and Budhwar, et al. 2010).

#### 2.4 Perceived Organizational Performance (POP)

In literature, various indicators of organizational performance have been used, perceptual measures of organizational performance were used by Delany & Huselid (1996) financial measures such as profit and financial ratios were used by Terpstra & Rozell (1993) the value added or sales of the organization per employee were applied by Black & Lynch (2001) and Cappelli & Neumark (2001) and physical measures of organizational productivity were used by Arthur (1994). According to Singh (2004) a disadvantage of a perceptual measure is that it can be highly subjective, both in the judgment of organizational performance itself and in the selection of a competitor organization. Therefore HRM mangers were required to benchmark their own organizational performance with the previous years' performance for perceived organizational and employee performance, and financial performance indicators were calculated using data collected from published financial reports.

Present theoretical work on resource-based view of the firm supports the impression that HRM may be a significant foundation of competitive advantage and argued that resources lead to sustainable competitive advantages when they are valuable. Resource-based theory argues that these sources of value are increasingly available to almost anyone anywhere and they are easy to copy, especially when compared to complex social systems like HRM Ulrich & Lake (1990). As a result, several authors Pfeffer (1994), Snell et al. (1996), Wright & McMahan (1992) have contended that the human resource system may be a better source of core competencies that can lead to sustainable competitive advantage; it is consistent with interpretation by Hamel & Prahalad (1994), which suggested that core competencies are normally people-embodied skills. HRM practices influence organizational performance by creating an impact on employees' attitude, skills, abilities, knowledge, motivation and working patterns, Delaney & Huselid (1996).

Numerous authors have explored links between individual HRM practices and organizational market performance. Young et al. (1996) reported that HRM systems were directly related to multiple dimensions of organizational market performance. Better implementation of HRM practices directly affects the market performance of the organization (Singh, 2004). To make this study comprehensive organizational internal and market performance dimensions are measured jointly under perceived organizational performance variable.

## 2.5 Financial Organizational Performance (FOP)

Greer (2001) examined financial performance of the companies and HRM practices, exploring the significant relationships between the variables. Huselid (1995) studied 968 US organizations to explore the use of high performance work practices and found that productivity was influenced by employee motivation; financial performance was influenced by employee skills, motivation and organizational structures. Return on Asset (ROA) and Return on Equity (ROE) are frequently used to measure financial performance by different researchers i.e. Delery & Doty (1996) and Snell & Youndt (1995). These financial tools provide an organizations internal and external financial performance picture. For performance measurement, the empirical evidences suggest that one should choose quantifiable and comparable variables, and accordingly four financial performance variables have been used.

## 2.5.1 Marris Ratio

According to Charreaux (1997) "An adequate performance measurement should be able to take into account all the consequences on the wealth of stakeholders". Nevertheless the choice of a performance measurement is complex for several reasons. Indeed, it will differ, depending on the shareholder or stakeholder value maximization. Eric (2001) Marris ratio (Market value of equity/ book value of equity) is calculated in market value. These last two values are dependent on the anticipations of investors. This ratio is used to determine whether market value of equity is more than book value or not. This only gives a good indication only when the company is performing well.

#### 2.5.2 Tobin's Q

Tobin (1969) Tobin's Q is performance measurement ratio of market value of a firm's assets as measured by the market value of its outstanding stock and debt to the replacement cost of the firm's assets. Regularly this performance indicator is not used as often as either rate of return or price-cost margins etc. If a firm is worth more than its value, based on what it would cost to rebuild it, then excess profits are being earned. These profits are above and beyond the level that is necessary to keep the firm in the industry.

The advantage of using Tobin's Q is that the problematic estimations of either rate of return or marginal costs are avoided. On the other hand, for Tobin's Q to be meaningful, one needs accurate measures of both the market value and replacement cost of a firm's assets. It has been traditionally used in the financial literature (Eric, 2001; Lang et al. 1989; Howe et al. 1992; Denis, et al. 1994; Lang & Litzenberger, 1989) justify the use of Tobin's Q as measurement of growth opportunities. They show that a Tobin's Q above 1 is a necessary condition for a firm to be at a level of investment that maximizes its value and that a Tobin's Q below 1 characterizes a firm with no growth opportunities. In Pakistan, researchers cannot strictly use this measurement because some items (for instance debt maturity, market value of the debt, interest rates or value replacement of the firm) are not available in our dataset. Hence in line with Eric (2001) the researcher chose the total assets instead of the replacement value. Thus the measurement of Tobin's Q ratio is as follows:

(Equity Market Value + Liabilities Book Value) (Equity Book Value + Liabilities Book Value)

### 2.5.3 Return on Equity (ROE)

Financial performance is given by the ROE (net profit / equity, in book value). This indicator is very important for shareholders. However, the ROE does not permit assessment of the profitability of all invested funds. Return on equity (ROE) is repeatedly used to determine financial performance by HRM researchers Delery & Doty (1996) and Snell & Youndt, (1995). This ratio is used to determine how many times the company earned with respect to shareholders equity.

$$ROE = \frac{Net Income after tax}{Shareholder Equity}$$

#### 2.5.4 Return on Assets (ROA)

ROA is an indicator of how profitable a company is in relation to its total assets. ROA gives an idea as to how efficient management is at using its assets to generate earnings. Dividing a company's annual earnings by its total assets, ROA is calculated in percentage. Sometimes this is referred to as "return on investment".

Return on assets is an indicator of how profitable a company is before leverage, and is compared with companies in the same industry. Since, the total assets of the company depends on the carrying value of the assets, some caution is required for companies whose carrying value may not correspond to the actual market value. Return on Assets is a common figure used for comparing performance of financial institutions such as banks, because the majority of their assets have a carrying value that is close to their actual market value. Return on assets is not useful for comparisons between industries because of the factors of scale and peculiar capital requirements (such as reserve requirements in the insurance and banking industries). Return on Asset (ROA) is repeatedly used to measure financial performance by HRM researchers Delery & Doty (1996) and Snell & Youndt, (1995).

Smith (2007) used multiple variables to measure organizational performance. In this study Organizational Performance Index (OPI) is developed, and is based on multiple performance indicators i.e. Marris Ratio, Tobin's Q, Return on Equity, Return on Assets and perceived organizational performance.

#### 2.6 Recruitment & Selection (R&S)

The recruitment and selection process is a sequence of precise steps used to make a decision about staff hiring (William B. Werther & Keith Davis). The main objective of recruitment and selection process is to obtain at the lowest cost, the quantity and quality of employees necessary to meet the human resource requirements. The use of non standardized, unreliable, invalid and biased selection/recruitment procedures in the companies, despite the presence of better substitutes, has been a matter of great concern for practitioners in Human Resource Management for a long time and no one can deny its importance towards the best HRM and organizational performance. The process of selection/recruitment can be categorized into four stages: (a) advertising methods (b) receiving applications (c) initial screening of applications and (d) final selection decisions (Derek & Jane 2003).

There are different kinds of recruitment sources like referrals by employees, ads in newspapers or direct applications 'walk-ins' and a broad variety of substitutes also exist like rehires, internships, employment agencies, etc (Klaus, 2005). In the initial stage of the recruitment process, companies try to draw job hunters into the applicant pool (Rynes, 1991). This selection process affects the organizational performance. The selection process can be different in different firms but the main aim is the same i.e. to select the right person for the right job. Various studies regarding selection methods exert an early influence on the association between candidates and companies (Gilliland, 1993; Herriot, 1989). Selection procedures may also help a joint search for similarity and fit (Schneider, 1987). White & Doyle's (1997) studied five specialized groups and established a preference for informal, 'word of mouth' associates and interviews, with lack of the conservative concept of severity in selection. Different firms use different selection processes, for example Nike used Interactive Voice Response (IVR) technology, followed by computerassisted interviews with selected candidates and finally executed face-to-face interviews (Thornburg, 1998). On the other hand companies such as Home Department and the US Defense Department use a number of technologies for selection, such as telephone, IVR, and computer adaptive testing (Frost, 1997).

Identification of the right candidate with required skills to perform the job for achieving organizational performance is the output of the sophisticated selection system (Holzer, 1987)) that signals a message of HRM importance to the organization (Pfeffer, 1994). The mismatch between the person and the job can slow down performance levels (Lado & Wilson, 1994) whereas, a sophisticated selection system can ensure a better fit between the person's abilities and the organization's requirements (Fernandez, 1992).

Greater significance is attached to develop transparent procedures that provide comprehensive job analysis and personnel planning followed by transparent distribution of responsibilities for the selection process (Iles, et al. 1997, Sels, et al. 2003). On the other hand, one of the major mistakes made by the management is the failure to appoint "the right person for the right job" (Stone, 2002). Recruitment & selection process should be led by job analysis. A comprehensive study can be beneficial to identify important job factors for development of job description. These factors help selectors to pinpoint required skills, attitude, physical and mental characteristics that candidates must have. Good selection process has been found positively related with organizational performance, but this process is becoming increasingly complex and its integration into organizational and human resource strategies ensures organizational success. With proper consideration of organizational, economic, social and political contexts, matching the right applicant to the right job is a tricky and continuous activity for HRM professionals (Terpstra & Rozell, 1993).

After reviewing the research conducted by (Holzer, 1987; Pfeffer, 1994; Lado & Wilson, 1994; Fernandez, 1992) recruitment and selection has been added as an independent variable in this study. To acquire competitiveness at domestic, national and even at an international level, the organizations should use effective recruitment and selection processes, failing which the results could be quite disappointing or disastrous.

### 2.7 Training & Development (T&D)

"Training is something we hope to integrate into every manager's mindset" (Chris Landauer)

In organizations the training remains a major activity of Human Resource Development (HRD) practice (Nordhaug, 1989) for employee development and their competencies building (Gritz, 1993). To perform effectively, at a managerial position, employees go through dynamic process of training and development (Baldwin & Padgett, 1994). Training activities are considered as an integral exercise to acquire competitive advantages over the competition (Barney, 1995). In this competitive world, one of the key strategies to attain competitive advantage is, conducting trainings properly which helps to achieve organizational objectives (Dobson & Tosh ,1998) by increasing organizational and employees productivity (Ng & Siu, 2004). Training organized for bilateral benefits (employees and organization) contributes to high effectiveness (Noe, 1986). Enhancing employees' performance is a high demanding and continuous practice that enables organizations to compete within the competitive marketplace. It is possible when employees' attitude, knowledge and skills are developed on a regular basis. Although training is an expensive activity yet it can give various advantages, like improved employee performance, increased productivity and employee development (Elangovan & Karakowsky, 1999).

A significant amount of theoretical and empirical work is available on how training and development contributes to organizational performance. Acquisition of up to date skills always enhances people's performance. Gaining a strong competitive position largely depends on employees and organizational aptitude towards innovation, change and development. (Booth & Snower,1996). Importance of training and team working is increasing because of interdependency and integration of assignments at site. For the last few decades, researchers and practitioners are focusing to identify the relationship of training, with organizational performance and have concluded different dimensions in different periods of times.

Russell et al. (1985) studied retail stores and explored the strong positive relationship between percentage of trained human resource, and organizational performance, measured in volume per employee and store image. Training evolves employees' professional approach and positive aptitude, in addition to skill enhancement that contributes substantially towards revenues (Pfeffer, 1998.a). Frequent research studies confirmed positive persuasion of training with organizational performance. 'People are the most valuable asset' nobody can rebuff it. People in many organizations remained undervalued, untrained and under utilized, which causes stress, low performance and weak profitability (Bartel, 1994). Weak organization can compete with the performance of the tycoons' employees by investing in proper training programs that lead to high performance. Companies invest in training and development of employees to enhance their attitude, skills, abilities and performance and training received in the desired direction is positively associated with organizational performance.

(Arthur, 1994; Huselid, 1995; Wan, et al. 2002; Patrick, et al. 2003; Sels, et al. 2003; Singh, 2004).

Training is the key to meet the demands, staff knowledge and skills within the organization and training programs are expected to provide many benefits, including staff development, increased productivity and improved staff performance. These programs are however, expensive investments and there is a mounting concern about costs and effectiveness of training (Elangovan & Karakowsky, 1999).

Given the high costs incurred in developing and implementing training programs, it is essential to gain a better understanding of the factors that combine to make an effective training program (Arthur, et al. 2003).

Training is a huge and expensive activity that affects a huge workforce at any point in time (Tobias & Fletcher, 2000). Although few researchers highlighted that there was a negative relationship between training and organizational performance, but based on different findings and theories, an argument could be developed, that training was one of the critical predictors that helped the organizational engine, and its employees, to get equipped with the required modern skills for predicting their performance that could make a significant difference in organizational performance. Numerous organizations are moving towards training and development to gain strategic strengths and high level of performance (Brown, 2005). Practitioners and researchers are investing substantial money, effort and time to figure out the essence of employee training from the last 30-plus years (Emadi, et al. 2007). In this research study, training and development is considered as an independent variable to test T&D contribution into organizational performance.

### 2.8 Performance Management (PM)

## "Maximizing performance is priority for most organizations today" (Bob Cardy)

In Human Resource Management, discipline and performance management remain one of the most vital and criticized processes (Compton, 2005). One of the most important among the HRM practices is the performance appraisal system. Organizations can monitor the development of desired employee attitudes and behavior through the use of the appraisal mechanisms. This appraisal-based information could be used for changing the selection and training practices in order to select and develop employees with the desired behavior and attitude (Singh, 2004).

Performance Appraisal (PA) is a formal system of measuring, evaluating and influencing an employee's job-related attributes, behavior and outcome. The objective is to determine how productive an employee is and to determine the way in which an employee's productivity can be improved. Overall Performance Appraisals serve as an important purpose in managing people and meeting company goals. From the employee perspective, the Performance Appraisal informs them about what is required from them in order to do their job. It guides them how well they have achieved those objectives and helps them to take corrective measures to improve their performance, and consequently it may reward them for meeting the required standards.

Performance Appraisal (PA), also known as Employee Assessment (EA), is a method in which the performance of a staff member's job is evaluated (generally in terms of quality, quantity, cost and time). PA is part of the career development process and by this organizations evaluate employees' performance (William & Keith). Staff Performance Appraisal is an integral responsibility of HRM professionals and managers of concerned departments. The process that is used to appraise performance needs to be compatible with the culture and principles that indicates the behavior of the organization (Ebrahim, et al. 2005). Performance can be measured by different techniques according to the culture of the organization. Each organization sets standards through which it measures the performance of employees. Peers and subordinates, leaders and clients (whether internal or external) should be involved in the evaluation process.

Performance Appraisal is sometimes mismanaged and not done properly. The major causes of such incompetence of Performance Appraisal are subjective measures, ignoring individual objectives and poor management in providing feedback to employees (Ebrahim, et al. 2005).

23

Wan et al. (2002) found positive relationship between Performance Appraisal and organizational performance. Further Sels et al. (2003) found significant relationship between performance appraisal and organizational performance. They further add that an organization also needs a Performance Appraisal system in order to establish principles of managerial accountability. Naturally, where employees are given responsibilities and duties, they need to be held accountable. One of the functions of Performance Appraisals is to ensure that people are accountable for their organizational responsibilities. Perhaps the most significant benefit of Performance Appraisal is the opportunity provided to managers and subordinates to have a one-on-one discussion on important work issues. During appraisals, subordinates and supervisors can focus on work activities and goals, identify and correct existing problems and encourage better future performance.

In a nutshell, the Performance Appraisal enables a manager to identify the training needs of the employees to evolve a training plan to enable them to serve and meet other objectives. Performance Appraisal satisfies the psychological need, because individuals want to know how they are performing in their job and it increases employees' job satisfaction and morale when they know that the manager is interested in their progress and development. Many organizations use Performance Appraisals to plan placements, to provide input into decisions regarding salary increases and to promote and transfer as and when appropriate. Finally, each Performance Appraisal may be used as a basis for coaching and counseling an individual employee by the superiors.

## 2.9 Career Planning System (CPS)

"A comprehensive process by which people determine their interests, skills and values is called career planning" (Leibowitz, Farren & Kaye, 1988)

Hall et al. (1986) describe Career Planning as a focused track for becoming aware of self, opportunities, limitations, choices and consequences, identification of career related goals, work, education, and related developmental experience to provide the direction, timing and sequence of steps to achieve a specific career goal. While career development is a route in which individuals recognize their values,
interest in job and their strengths and weaknesses that enhance the likelihood of attaining their career ambitions (Greenhaus, 1987).

Career Planning and Development Program, fostering organizational effectiveness, depends on the organization's ability to transfer staff from a conventional model of expectation to one of increased responsibility for their own career growth and development (Martin, Romero, Valle & Dolan, 2001). A well-designed career development structure allows organizations to tap into their wealth of in-house talent for staffing and promotion by matching the skills, experiences, and ambitions of individuals to the needs of the companies. In addition, it allows them to make informed choices around compensation and succession planning to attract, keep and inspire the staff, resulting in a more engaged and productive workforce (Thite, 2001; Kapel & Shepherd, 2004; Kaye, 2005). Career development must be an ongoing system connected with the organization's Human Resource (HRM) structures and not a one-time event (Leibowitz, et al. 1988). These arguments defining and maintaining a sustainable career development process, calls for theorizing and testing the antecedents and outcome of career development practices across the performance of different industries.

Career development is a long-term composite process. Indeed, organizations and individuals understand and appreciate the intrinsic longevity in this complex experience. Often, career development is reported as an organizational program whereby organizations set up processes, structures and systems to promote career development initiatives for individuals (McDaniels & Gysbers, 1992; Herr, 2001). In recent years, the views of individuals following their careers and shaping, molding and developing them in order to get utmost benefit have received more extensive concentration. For example Hall et al. (1986); and Granrose & Portwood (1987) emphasized the significance of Career Planning as the first step towards the career development process. Indeed, individuals need to discover career development areas and make decisions about personal objectives and development plans. Moreover (Leibowitz, Farren & Kaye, 1986) argue that individuals are responsible for initiating their own Career Planning as well as recognizing their skills, standards, interests and it is their responsibility to look for their career alternatives in order to set the objectives of their career plans. The significant change in business environment, especially in the technological aspect, has caused a great impact on the perception of people towards their attitude and experience. The perception is dominated by organizational restructuring and downsizing. Hall, et al. (1986) said that, human resource professionals have focused on the use of career management and development within organizations to improve employee commitment leading to better performance.

Scholars and practitioners in the filed of Human Resource Management have widely accepted that, performance feedback is an essential component for job performance and satisfaction (Denisi & Kiuger, 2000). Heckman & Oldham (1980) advocated that the performance feedback and motivation increases job satisfaction and motivation. They also argued that the career development models included a feedback loop focusing on the individual's learning based on receiving feedback. One effective way to meet the challenge of developing careers and increasing performance is the supportive role of organizations, which assist employees to develop a career path for success in their careers (Baruch, 2006).

Career exploration and career strategy both play a significant role in career development resulting in an individual's performance. A more systematic exploration process is likely to result in a better awareness and understanding of development needs. This awareness is an important prerequisite for development of behavior and willingness to participate in development activities (Noe, 1986). A career strategy is an activity or behavior, such as participating in a mentoring relationship that increases the likelihood of attainment of career goal (Gould & Penley, 1984).

To conclude the discussion, it can be said that career planning is viewed as an initiative where individuals apply personal control over their career and connect informed decisions to their occupation, organization, job assignments and self development (Hall, et al. 1986). On the other hand, organizations can assist by offering career planning tools or workshops through vocational counseling, or by using workbooks or career resource centers to guide employees to perform self assessment, examine and assess their career options and preferences, write down their development aims and arrange an implementation plan (Hall, 1986; Leibowitz, et al. 1988; Appelbaum, et al. 2002). It is because of the importance given to the Career

Planning System in management literature, that Career Planning has been taken as an independent variable in this study.

### 2.10 Compensation System (CS)

"Compensation is employee cheerfulness against the work they contribute in the company equity accounts". TMQ

Any monetary or non monetary reward given to employees for their endeavors is called compensation. It plays an important role in an employees' motivation and thus enhances organizational effectiveness (Lawler, 1971; Milkovich & Newman, 1996). There are different factors that need to be addressed while compensating any employee; i.e. work performance, relationship with coworkers, and relationship with managers, and personal needs. Compensation may be used to keep competent workers, boost or sustain satisfaction, encourage peak performance, decrease turnover and encourage company loyalty. Compensations may be different for different workers depending upon their level and type of formal education, experience and training (Pedro & Vicente, 2007). Many equity based compensation plans are normally used for staff. These plans include employee stock option plans, employee stock purchase plans, restricted stock plans, employee stock ownership plans, and various qualified retirement's plans. These are extensive plans and can be classified as non-retirement and retirement plans based on when the worker is entitled to get benefits (Melissa, 2004).

This study is based on instrumentality theory, introduced in the 19<sup>th</sup> century. The main idea is that if we perform one job it will lead to another and people work for money by contributing towards economic outcome. It further focuses that rewards are contingent upon effective performance and if penalties and rewards are directly related to performance, the employees will be motivated to work hard. This theory is derived from scientific management, Taylorism. FW Taylor in 1911 wrote: 'It is impossible, through any long period of time, to get workmen to work much harder than the average men around them, unless they are assured of a large and permanent increase in their pay. This theory is also linked with principle of reinforcement by (Skinner, 1974) in which he said that people could be 'conditioned' to act in certain ways if they were rewarded for behaving as required. It was also called the law of effect'.

Payment sensitivity of performance needs to be strong. If the presence of a strong relationship exists, then it seems that high levels of executive compensations might be justified. Two important questions in literature related, to the issues of compensation include: (1) How to measure performance? (2) How to determine acceptable performance levels? Some researchers have concluded that the relationship between pay and performance in the past was stronger. Another issue raised by researchers was whether, controversy and public pressure on the board of directors made the compensation strategies less effective. Based on a comprehensive study, (Jensen and Murphy, 1990) said, "There is weak relationship between pay and performance".

Employee compensation usually contains numerous elements: a base salary, annual bonus, stock options and other long-term incentive plans. Employee stock options (ESOs) are used to motivate staff to high levels of performance and retain talented employees (Chih-Ying, 2003).

Compensation is the outcome (reward) employees receive in exchange for their work. The latest trend appears to be performance-related pay integrated with the appraisal of the employee (Alen, 1998). A substantial body of work has provided evidence that incentive-based compensation has an impact on firm performance (Gerhart & Milkovich, 1992; Gomez-Mejia, 1998; Milkovich & Boudreau, 1998). Traditional reward practices and plans do not have a link with performance management system, and rewards are allocated on the basis of seniority and position. In contrast, rewards are now allocated on the basis of job performance. Rewarding for performance is a better motivating tool, as an employees' effort is linked with performance. Consequently, one who performs well receives rewards, and employees value these rewards.

Numerous research studies highlighted performance-based compensation as highly motivating, and an influence creating HRM practice (Arthur, 1994; Huselid, 1995; MacDuffie, 1995; Delery & Doty, 1996; Shaw, et al. 1998; Sels, et al. 2003). Bonus systems are to motivate employees to work towards the company's objectives (Pfeffer, 1994). Empirical studies on the relationship between performance-related pay and company performance have generally found

a positive relationship. A great deal of research shows that offering high wages can reduce voluntary turnover (Shaw, et al. 1998).

Some researchers have concluded that the relationship between pay and performance in the past was stronger, and agreed that compensation played a key role in enhancing employee effectiveness, and intrinsic and extrinsic "rewards" contributed towards shaping employee behavior. In generalized terms, it can be said that compensation is used as a motivator to enhance performance. Employee motivation for employees working in companies depends upon compensation (March & Simon, 1966; Rosenstiel, 1975; Weinert, 1998).

Lawler (2005) reported that organizational performance & effectiveness, organizational design and change management is the outcome of an outstanding HRM system. Commenting on the same, Hewitt (2004) and Saratoga Institute (2006) concluded that for the improvement of the various HRM tasks, HRM indicators were required to be empirically measured and reported by HRM systems. Resultantly, the approach would shift the HR systems and functions from traditional personnel administration towards Strategic HRM, having wide growth opportunities for an organization. It is therefore obvious that reward and performance are closely linked with each other to increase organizational effectiveness.

Various authors have studied the compensation system on the basis of which rewards were divided into two main categories i.e. intrinsic and extrinsic rewards. Intrinsic rewards are those that exist with the job itself or in the content of the job, such as variety, challenge, and autonomy. Extrinsic rewards are the context of jobs such as pay and fringe benefits, promotion or advancement opportunities within the organization, the social climate and physical working conditions. Brief and Aldag (1977) reported that it was useful to have a distinction between extrinsic and intrinsic rewards. Similarly, extrinsic and intrinsic rewards in organizations were differentiated by (Crino, 1978) who highlighted that, extrinsic and intrinsic rewards were not only just different types of an outcome, but were two separate ends of the same band. On the contrary, Guzzo (1979) suggested that differentiating extrinsic and intrinsic rewards is inadequate for understanding different types of reward and incentive systems in an organization. Porter & Lawler (1968) noted that there was an equivocal relationship between extrinsic and intrinsic rewards with performance. However, there was a weak relationship between extrinsic rewards and work performance because it was very difficult to maintain consistency and fairness in rewarding work performance. Another reason was the inherent difficulty in the Performance Management System and evaluation of qualitative tasks. Intrinsic rewards could easily be linked to performance as these rewards were associated with the soul and spirit of a person. Intrinsic rewards focused on achievement of something good that was urgent, immediate and directly related with performance, and such rewards were not influenced by situations and were not externally controlled. They further contended that when they combined intrinsic and extrinsic rewards with one another, they influenced satisfaction and performance.

Although not much work has been done on this issue, but some researchers have shown significant association between rewards and incentives tied to organizational performance. A study by Bau & Dowling (2007) found that there was an association within the organizational life cycle especially in the reward and incentive systems. They further suggested that organizations having a large number of skilled and educated employees had better reward practices, both in financial and non-financial terms, while the smaller organizations with less staff could manage to have structured extrinsic rewards practices.

Kessler & Heron (2006) explored four distinctive pay practice systems in the United Kingdom. They found that the effort-based reward system and the understanding of the remuneration criteria were satisfiers for the employees. The employees were more content with the traditional remuneration system as it was linked with culture and belief of employees.

Chang et al. (2007) focused on the New Product Development (NPD) teams and worked on four aspects of the Joint Reward System (JRS); (1) participation in reward decision (2) reward linked to the NPD phases (3) risk-free participation (4) over-reward incentive using a conceptual model. They studied responses from individuals of the New Product Development teams, comprising of members from Research and Development (R&D), Marketing and Manufacturing Departments. The results showed that the risk free knowledge sharing and NPD performance were the most important aspects of the JRS for the NPD teams. They found the commitment for the JRS among the marketing team and NPD performance. However, R&D and manufacturing produced conflicting results with respect to the tying up of rewards to the NPD phases. The researchers failed to find a relationship between over-reward incentive for knowledge sharing and NPD performance.

As per SoonYew et al. (2008) benefits for the employees have become integral parts of the compensation package nowadays. The employee commitment increases with increasing benefits. However, the fringe benefits have a stronger impact on the commitment as compared to the mandatory benefits. This research concludes, that by increasing the fringe benefits one could get fourfold benefits which consisted of (i) organizational commitment (ii) motivation (iii) overall productivity (iv) job performance.

Different extrinsic reward policies are adopted by different organizations. Sometimes, uncertainty pushes the organizations to adopt the compensation packages according to performance, and this act strengthens a culture of performance and performance improvement in an organization (TMC news, 2009).

Stoughton & Wong (2007) found that impact of stock option varied with the situation Companies kept on changing the option for its employees with the changing situation. However, it was found that the need to change such policies was reduced considerably by controlling the turnover of employees. The outcome of this stability in the staff resulted in the stability of the organization and had a positive impact on the overall market. The trend in this regard was interesting and showed that if an industry was dominated by a firm, the options were utilized, while if there was a good potential for domination, stocks were used. This proved that compensation schemes also helped the companies to gain better profits and became leaders in the industry.

Bau & Dowling (2007) in their research paper said, that, although not much work had been done on this issue, some researchers had found a relationship between the reward and incentive systems within the organizational life cycle, especially with respect to entrepreneurs. This particular research, targeting the entrepreneurs concluded that due to the small size of the company they emphasized more on intrinsic rewards and incentives. From the employees' point of view, the ability to communicate with the employer directly, a high degree of responsibility etc could be a real incentive rather than gaining some financial benefits. The study further found that organizations having highly educated persons had a better reward system.

In a research, conducted by Qureshi et al. (2009) in the cement industry of Pakistan, the researchers concluded that both, the intrinsic and extrinsic rewards were highly correlated with the performance of the employees.

A firm's Compensation System reflects the firm's values and cultures. Employees are more likely to look at what a company pays rather than what it says. In many aspects, people behave as they are rewarded. The Compensation Scheme also indicates to the employees what the firm expects from them. Therefore, for example, if quality is an important value, it should be reinforced through some element of the total Compensation System. Managing a firm's Compensation System is a complex task as it involves providing systematically administered and equitable salaries, reconciling employees' career aspirations in terms of earnings, aligning employees' personal objectives with those of the organization and keeping the firm's costs under control. On the basis of literature review, the Compensation System has been considered as one of the independent variables in this study.

#### 2.11 Employee Participation (EP)

# "Coming together is a beginning, Keeping together is progress, Working together is success" Henry Ford

Ford & Randolph (1992) said that Management Style, where subordinates contribute extensively in decision making with their leaders is Participatory Management. Strauss (2006) said that participation is a process that allows employees to exercise some control over their work and the conditions under which they work.

It encourages employees to participate in the process of making decisions, which have a direct impact on work environment. Substantial employee participation in management is vital for cross-functional integration and efficient working. Open communication with the high chain of command, expression of creative & innovative ideas, result in common vision, mutual respect and trust. Employee participation is a method where, a large number of subordinates share a degree of decision-making power with their superiors. Participation in management is very significant for cross-functional integration (Nyhan, 2000). Research in employee participation has examined how it effects an employee's normative, continuous, and effective commitment. Further it motivates employees and gives meanings to concepts like organizational loyalty (VanYperen, et al. 1999; Tesluk, et al. 1999) consequently leading towards high performance.

In the past, employee participation studies examined its process, content and nature. Majority of work is currently focused on evaluating impact of participation on organizational performance, which is the primary line of investigation (Cox, et al. 2006). Analysis of employee participation impact on organizational performance has been rather less common, but recently a lot of work has been done in this area (Bryson, 1999). Impact and relationship analysis of employee participation with employee and organizational performance was considered by Cox et al. (2006). Kessler et al. (2004) studied links between employee participation and employee perceptions. According to Marchington et al. (2001) EP definition is elastic and somewhat problematic; it can be categorized, (i) Direct participation requiring participation of an individuals' problem solving or team building. (ii) Indirect participation through workplace committees.

Different types of participation means different degrees of influence, known as Participation Intensity (Wilpert, 1998) while Participation Depth is focusing on central dimensions (Strauss, 1998). Heller (2003) pointed that the distribution of power is a necessary action in order to enhance performance and satisfaction through employee involvement. Different groups for strengthening their status, influence different situations in an institution (Ng, 1982). Likewise, an individual's status is determined on the basis of influence within the organization (Turner, et al. 1987; Tyler & Blader, 2003) but most of the time participation is necessary to get basic rights. These concepts emphasized the importance of including employee participation as a dimension in this study to test the relationship between employee participation and organizational performance. Specifying the form while investigating employee participation is essential because, of the fact that different participation forms reflect various decision-making processes that might produce dissimilar results in terms of employee relations and attitudes (Wilpert, 1998). Work-related issues related to staff conditions immediately to perform a function, are called nearby issues, while the regulatory issues related to the regulatory environment are called far-issues. Issues related to work and organizations are two different phenomena and employee participation can be applied to both (Strauss, 1998).

To increase the competitiveness of the organizations, participative practices are praised and the main theme behind this principle is to encourage employees to achieve a higher output. (Zwick, 2004) using regression analysis found out that the shop floor employee involvement increased the organizational productivity. Research shows that profit sharing programs are more successful when combined with employee participation in the management (Blinder, 1990). Stock options, productivity and performance bonuses all are designed to provide financial incentives to employees for improving their performance (Strauss, 2006). Past studies also showed that employee participation is positively related to employee and organizational performance (Pfeffer, 1994; Wagner, 1994). Participation can be Work-related, like individual or collective and direct (face-to-face) or indirect (via a representative). Traditional collective participation shed light on fair sharing of power in organizations, and new participation forms are more direct and aim to secure employee commitment to organizational objectives through sophisticated communication procedures, and individualized reward and developmental initiatives, such as performance appraisal linked to performance-related pay. Different forms of direct participation have become additionally significant for managers to gain intentional loyalty from employees for the organizational (Walton 1985). Participative practices in HRM literature are shown as activities that encourage active utilization of human potential for increased organizational performance (Gallie, et al. 2001).

Employee participation in conventionally owned and organized institutions can be task-related (i.e. at the work station) or strategic (i.e. at corporate level), and participation at either of these levels can be communicative, consultative or negotiable (Heller, et al. 1998). On the basis of research work by (Walton, 1985; Pfeffer, 1994; Wagner, 1994; Verma, 1995; Strauss, 1998; Gallie, et al. 2001; Wan, et al. 2002; Sels, et al. 2003; Singh, 2004; Kessler, et al. 2004; Cox, et al. 2006; Strauss, 2006) employee participation has been selected as an important factor for this study.

## 2.12 Employee Performance (EP)

Performance of work, in terms of quantity and quality, expected from each staff member is called the Performance of the Employees. These standards are the foundation for performance evaluation. According to job performance theory Campbell (1990) performance is the behavior or people's actions that have an effect on the objectives of the organization. This behavior can be positive or negative and can be either provided as part of the work or outside the scope of the duties set forth.

Accordingly Porter & Lawler (1968) performance can be divided into three types. One is to measure the rates of production and the number of sales during a certain period of time. The second type of performance measurement and evaluation includes evaluation of individuals by someone other than the person who is being considered in the performance. The third type of performance measurement and evaluation is self-evaluation. As a result, the adoptions of self-evaluation and self-assessment techniques were found useful in encouraging staff to play an active role in preparing his own goals.

Factors such as work environment, feedback to managers, emotional intelligence, training and development of staff increase employee performance. Peter Hosie, Nick Forster & Peter Sevastos (2004). Today's market place and companies in every industry are packed with competitors. This, in turn, has a negative effect on the health and comfort of workers. This results as an issue of high cost to business (MacDonald, 2005). The present state of social system poses many problems for the working class, like balance between work, family and life satisfaction. This situation demands effective implementation of HRM practices (Cooper & Robertson, 2001). The workforce as a competitive weapon now has become a necessity for every organization. Edgar & Geare (2005) found that work related attitude of employees was the function of a number of HRM practices. Furthermore they conclude that

HRM practices had the potential to yield the greatest performance outcome for both, employee and employer. Managers who helped employees' progress in their careers and encouraged their professional development, supported subordinates through professional development by providing feedback about performance were likely to stimulate employee performance. They also argued that investments in human capital development could result in effective and positive results in the performance of the firm, so each company should understand the link between HRM and employee satisfaction (Wan, 2007). Huslied et al. (1997) found significant relationship between HRM practices and firm performance. They further elaborated that HRM practices had a positive impact on professional and business related performance of employees. The exercise of human agency had been proposed as a significant dimension of employee behavior, impacting upon organizational dynamics (Hesketh & Fleetwood, 2006). Research by Seeck & Parzefall (2008) demonstrates that an active role played by employees in constructing employment relationships, rather than simply responding to employer behavior, are not often considered in the highly managementcentered perspective. HRM practices enable companies to gain a competitive advantage. Effective Human Resource Management enhances the ability of organizations to attract and retain quality employees, who can be motivated to perform. This result in greater profitability, low employee turnover, high product quality, lower production costs, and more rapid acceptance & implementation of corporate strategy, particularly when competitors do not have the right people such practice can create a number of competitive advantages for the organization (Schuler & MacMillan, 1984). High employee turnover rates are low in unionized workplaces than in nonunion workplaces, even in the presence of a range of human resource practices (Batt, et al. 2002). Fey & Bjorkman (2001) support the findings that HRM practices for managerial and non-managerial employees are found significantly related to firm performance. Furthermore, management and employee development, combined with reward systems on group performance for non-managerial employees, has positive effect on performance. Guest (2002) found investments in HRM practices benefit employees and proper use of HRM practice resulted in increasing the level of commitment of employees. He further elaborated that HRM was only concerned with the effective utilization of employees. Research exploring the relationship between HRM practice and positive employee attitudes showed a strong association (Guest & Conway, 2002).

HRM practices have a great impact on employees' workplace attitudes because of the strong correlation between them (Edgar & Geare, 2005) as employees and organization performances are parallel. They are as important to managers as to employers and other stakeholders. HRM research (Guest, 2001) led to the belief that the voice of an employee must be heard. Daniels (2006) describes that people look for jobs in an organization that match with their personality, and provide motivators that meet their needs. In this respect, key HRM practices like, work life balance and satisfaction etc, have become of great importance for both employees and organizations. As a result employers have embraced the issue of creating an acceptable work life balance for employees through flexibility and introducing a wide range of working patterns to fit the needs of the workforce. Flexibility relates to different aspects, work timings and work place (Houston, 2005).

HRM practices are getting importance because companies are trying hard to survive. They cannot perform successfully if their employees are not in an excellent state of health and wellbeing (MacDonald, 2005). Baptiste (2007) drew findings from his research study that, the implementation of HRM practices would promote commitment, trust, support and positive relationship. By promoting employee wellbeing at work at all levels, within an organization, the managers can contribute to develop a workforce which is more committed, satisfied with jobs, has work-life balance and is more positive towards enhanced performance, reduced absenteeism and turnover. A multitude of studies examined the relationships between HRM practices and firm performance. But, research of employee performance and HRM policies is relatively not to a great extent explored in literature. Human Resource Management (HRM) activities are often recognized as playing an essential role in identifying employee capabilities and performance requirements of a firm. This relationship is still open to debate (Youndt, et al. 1998). Further it is argued that mediating or moderating role of variables between HRM and organizational performance should be tested (Becker & Gerhart, 1996). Considering the importance of employee performance it has been selected as a mediator between HRM practices and perceived organizational performance.

# **CHAPTER 3**

## METHODOLOGY

This chapter addresses research design, research model, tested variables (independent, dependent, intervening, and control), hypotheses, population, sample, instrumentation, questionnaire reliability, data gathering procedures, response rate and statistical analysis methods.

#### 3.1 Study Design

In this cross sectional study the primary data on six independent, one intervening, five dependent and seven demographic variables were collected from HRM professionals working in different financial sector companies in Pakistan, through questionnaires. Secondary data related to financial performance of the companies was collected from published financial reports.

#### 3.2 Population

Population of the study comprised of all HRM professionals working in 866 listed companies with Karachi Stock Exchange (KSE). 129 financial sector companies of different industries i.e. Banking, Insurance, Leasing, Investment and Modaraba were taken from the KSE website. The companies were scrutinized and selected for the study on the basis of financial data availability and existence of HRM department. The postal addresses of the registered offices of these companies and HRM professionals were also obtained.

#### 3.3 Sampling

Purposive Sampling (PS) technique, a form of non-probability sampling was used. The target groups of employees "HRM Professional" in different companies were identified. Purposive sampling was applied because the respondents for this study were not common employees; rather they were employees posted at different positions in HRM departments. All 350 HRM professional of 129 different listed companies from 5 different financial sector industries were selected for the study. They were approached to answer the survey questions. In phase one, preliminary required information was collected with the permission of the departmental heads. This information was related to number of HRM professionals working in the HRM department, their email addresses and phone numbers. In the second phase, more data was collected using self-responded surveys from the same sample.

#### 3.4 Instrumentation

Both primary and secondary types of data have been used in this study. Primary data has been collected through a questionnaire, designed on seven points Likert scale with options from strongly agree to strongly disagree. Each option was assigned a scale. 7 = strongly agree, 6 = agree, 5 = somewhat agree, 4 =indifferent, 3 = somewhat disagree, 2 = disagree and 1 = strongly disagree. To measure the HRM practices, the questionnaire was based on questionnaires used by Snell & Dean (1992), Boselie et al. (2001), Singh (2004), Laka (2004), Qureshi et al. (2007). Like most researches in social sciences, in this study, the questionnaire was used for primary data collection. The survey is considered as the best data collection method because the dream of "data collection from large population" becomes a reality. The reliable and valid information collected from the selected sample can be generalized over the entire population (Kerlinger & Lee, 2000). To study the relationship amongst variables or to describe variables, standardized information is required which can be collected by surveys for quantitative study. Surveys can be of relational and descriptive types (Rungtusanatham, et al. 2003). Relational surveys are developed to collect data that can empirically test relationships between two or more variables in confirmatory or exploratory style, and the descriptive surveys identify current state of affairs. This study is a relational survey intended to identify relationship between different HRM practices and perceived organizational and financial performances.

The questionnaire was divided into two sections (A) and (B), (A) consisted of personal and company information based on nominal and ordinal scaling, while section (B) contained questions relating to Human Resource Management practices, employee performance and perceived organizational performance, based on seven point Likert scale. A cover letter describing the objectives and scope assured respondents about strict secrecy.

The questionnaires were distributed amongst HRM professionals of 129 different financial sector companies. After five weeks, HRM professionals were given 1<sup>st</sup> reminder through emails, 2<sup>nd</sup> reminder was given three weeks after the first one, meanwhile responses started coming. This whole data collection process took 130 days.

Secondary data, relating to financial performance was taken from the financial reports of the companies submitted to the Karachi Stock Exchange (KSE). Data related to value of paid up capital, face value of shares, number of shares, equity, book value per share, total assets, sales bank financial charges, taxation, profit after tax, cash divided, stock dividend were taken for the years 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008. Using Excel 2003 the ratios like Marris Ratio, Tobin's Q, Return on Equity (ROE) and Return on Assets (ROA) were calculated for each company separately on year to year basis for five years, and the average for each financial variable were calculated. Secondary data consisting of financial performance indicators is given in (Annexure-IV).

## 3.5 Pilot Study

One focus group discussion comprising of 50 human resource professionals from 5 different industries i.e. Banking, Insurance, Leasing, Modaraba, and Investment was organized. The moderator initiated the discussion on the importance of HRM practices by asking funneling questions by following unstructured interviewing methodology. Pilot study was conducted because HRM is relatively new phenomenon in Pakistan, Consensus of HRM professionals was very important to know the importance and usage of different HRM practices in different local industries. Based on their opinion there were six HRM practices with more importance in the Pakistani set up, i.e. recruitment & selection, training & development, performance appraisal, career planning system, employee participation and compensation system. After focus group discussion and extensive literature review, an instrument was designed and distributed amongst same static panel of HRM professionals. The response was 100 % and all questions were considered for analysis, the results are given in (Table 3.1).

	Ν	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	S. D
Industry Type	50.00	1.00	4.00	1.68	1.17
Organizational Life	50.00	3.00	64.00	24.38	22.46
No of Employees	50.00	20	15000	5157	5206
Gender	50.00	1.00	2.00	1.78	.42
Age	50.00	26.00	45.00	33.34	7.26
Education	50.00	14.00	18.00	16.00	.99
Experience	50.00	1.00	22.00	9.71	5.93
OP	50.00	4.50	7.00	5.80	.57
EP	50.00	4.00	7.00	5.54	.64
RS	50.00	3.80	7.00	5.76	.68
TD	50.00	4.30	6.90	5.55	.70
PA	50.00	4.10	7.00	5.50	.69
СР	50.00	3.60	7.00	5.51	.76
EPA	50.00	3.20	7.00	5.36	.87
СМ	50.00	4.10	7.00	5.41	.80
Valid N (list wise)	50				

 Table 3.1:
 Descriptive Statistics

Analysis of data shows that almost all the respondents agreed with all the questions asked about different HRM practices as mean values for all the variables are more than (m > 5) and standard deviation value is lesser than one (SD < 1.0). Questionnaire is attached in annexure (I).

	InT	OrL	Gender	Age	Edu	Exp	NOE	POP	EP	RS	TD	PA	СР	EPA	СМ
InT	1														
OrL	13	1													
Gender	23	.285*	1												
Age	<b>-</b> .414 <sup>**</sup>	.273	.317*	1											
Edu	<b>-</b> .300 <sup>*</sup>	034	296*	.063	1										
Exp	423**	.259	.459**	.837**	103	1									
NOE	547**	.388**	.196	.458**	.252	.370**	1								
OP	221	205	223	.085	.377**	.096	.247	1							
EP	232	06	136	.089	.284*	.038	.452**	.519**	1						
RS	226	183	202	065	.364**	012	.082	.679**	.335*	1					
TD	<b>-</b> .361 <sup>*</sup>	153	.021	.139	.456**	.114	.352*	.695**	.641**	.673**	1				
PA	1	424**	145	.031	.347*	09	.024	.533**	.495**	.594**	.740**	1			
CP	.001	23	215	.077	.313*	.007	.167	.654**	.559**	.523**	.666***	.685**	1		
EPA	049	298*	249	064	.392**	094	.012	.656**	.441**	.702**	.747**	.803**	.819**	1	
СМ	077	390**	365**	.059	.349*	048	.136	.608**	.399**	.423**	.529**	.661**	.578**	.641**	1
* Corrol	ation is sig	mificant at	$th_{0} = 0.05 \text{ low}$	rol(2 toilor)	1)										

<b>Table 3.2:</b>	Correlation	Matrix	of demographic va	ıriables
-------------------	-------------	--------	-------------------	----------

\*. Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

\*\*. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

Correlation values are indicating a positive relationship with substantial significance. Recruitment and selection is having a strong positive correlation (r = .679) with organizational performance and positive (r = .335) with employee performance. Likewise training and development (r = .695) (r = .641), performance appraisal (r = .533) & (r = .495), career planning system (r = .654) & (r = .559), employee participation (r = .656) & (r = .441) and compensation system (r = .608) & (r = .399) with organizational performance and employee performance respectively. All these values are significant at (p = .01). Control variables education correlation of (r = .377) with perceived organizational performance. (r = .284) with employee performance are significant in addition to (r = .452) correlation of number of employees with employee performance. Based on pilot study findings a comprehensive research strategy was planned.

## Figure 3.1: Process followed from population to sampling to elements



## **3.6 Data Collection**

For data collection a total of 350 HRM professionals of 129 companies from 5 different industries were contacted. Initially mail survey strategy was adopted for this purpose. Through this method 41 responses were received, but some problems reduced the response rate efficiency. HRM executives from different organizations were not quick in answering the questions asked; as such the data collection was slow. To overcome this problem, personal and one to one, interviewing method was adopted. Organizations operating in the twin cities (Rawalpindi and Islamabad) were personally visited and the questionnaires were distributed to their HRM Managers & Executives. As a result of self-administered data collection technique, the response rate became better in respect of quality and quantity. Responses were collected from 30 elements, but there were other problems like, time consumption and extensive traveling. To combat this situation telephonic method was exercised which proved more productive bringing of 35 responses. Within a short period of time, email attachment technique was used that produced even better results, and thus as many as 169 responses were collected.

For concrete research work, HRM professionals were requested to respond to all the questions to the best of their knowledge with reference to the HRM practices implemented in their organizations. There was an open option that any person from the HRM department at the managerial level could fill out the questionnaire. During data collection process, it was observed that a few organizations did not have a separate HRM department, but other departments like administration and management departments were taking care of the HRM activities.

Returned questionnaires were coded and data entered into Excel 2003 and SPSS 16.0.0. As the data was collected through mailed questionnaires there was no possibility for the researcher to ensure that respondents answered all the questions.. A small number of questions were not answered in some of the questionnaires.

According to Roth & Switzer (1995) two problems arise when some questions are not answered. (i) Missing data trims down the statistical power and it

needs to increase the size of the sample needed for the statistical test to be accurate, whereas statistical power means capability of data analytic technique to notice significant results through analysis. (ii) Accuracy of estimating parameters may be affected due to missing data, while accuracy refers to quantity of dispersion around a true score in the study. Missing records raise the variance around true scores because there is a lesser amount of data for analysis in the sample. Roth and Switzer (1995) are of the view that missing data can be dealt in different ways like hot deck imputation, regression imputation & mean substitution, pair wise and list wise deletion. Hot deck imputation replaces missing data with real data from a similar individual. Regression imputation uses related variables to estimate missing values. List wise deletion technique removes the entire information for the record containing any missing value. Mean substitution puts in the mean value of a variable in the place of missing data, is considered better because it saves important collected data.

In this study three different methods were followed to deal with missing values. (i) List wise deletion was used where more than 10 questions were not answered. According to this method, 6 questionnaires were identified so excluded. (ii) Hot deck imputation was used for local respondents by visiting Rawalpindi and Islamabad respondents personally with a request to fill the unfilled questions, as many as 7 questionnaires were completely filled in this way. (iii) In 6 questionnaires, one question in each was not answered; therefore mean values of particular scales were entered to fill the missing values. As a result, out of 280 responses, only 6 were discarded while the remaining 274 equivalent to 78 % were analyzed. This response rate is considered very good. Babbie (1998) recommended that more than 70% response rate is very good, 60% rate is considered good and 50% is adequate.

The reasons for very good response can be attributed to e-questionnaires, email reminders and telephonic calls. Response rate is the indication of success of a survey-based study and is important for different reasons. Completely filled items give prejudice-less results and give substantial representation where different statistical test can be tested (Fronlich, 2002).

No	Industry	Sample	Responses	Response %
1	Banking	80	60	75
2	Insurance	60	47	78
3	Leasing	60	46	77
4	Modaraba	110	97	88
5	Investment	40	24	60
		350	274	78

 Table 3.3:
 Industry response rate

Out of the 350 questionnaires distributed, 80 went to the commercial and investment banks (response 60; response rate 75%), 60 to the insurance companies (response 47; response rate 78%), 110 to modaraba and mutual fund companies (response 97; response rate 88%), 40 to investment companies (response 24; response rate 60%), and 60 to leasing companies (response 46; response rate 77%). Total response rate is 78 %.

## 3.7 Procedures for data analysis

Statistical analysis has been done at Mohammad Ali Jinnah University Islamabad, Pakistan. The researcher and the supervisor were involved in the planning and execution of the analysis. Reliability test, descriptive statistics, correlation and regression analyses were used to analyze data.

Beside Excel 2003, SPSS 16.0.0 package was used to perform required calculations. Construct validity of measures was determined for the validation of an instrument. For accurate relationship, among variable construct validity of measures is incredibly essential and it relies on the aptitude of the researcher to appropriately measure the variables. Cronbach's alpha was calculated to determine the internal reliability of the tool.

## 3.8 Respondents characteristics

The following table contains demographic variables used in the study.

Individual characteristics	Organizational characteristics			
Age (in years)	No of employee			
Gender	Life of organization (in years)			
Education (in years)	Industry type			
Experience (in years)				
7 Demographic variables used in study				

Table 3.4:Demographics

## 3.9 Frequencies

\_

Frequencies of occurrence of certain variables are determined, from which the percentage and cumulative percentage are calculated. Frequency tables of demographic variables are given bellow and frequency tables of different independent variables, (recruitment & selection, training & development, performance appraisal, career planning system, employee participation & compensation system, intervening variable (employee performance), dependent variables (POP, Marris, Tobin's Q, ROE and ROA) are given in (Annexure III).

## 3.9.1 Age

Respondents were requested to give their age in years. The participants' age ranged between 21 and 59 years. The mean age of the respondents is (M = 36.05) years with a standard deviation of (SD = 7.92). Majority of the respondents' age was between 27 to 45 years.

Age in Years	Frequency	Percent	Valid %	Cumulative %
21-30	77	28.1	28.1	28.1
31-40	135	49.3	49.3	77.4
41-50	46	16.8	16.8	94.2
51-60	16	5.8	5.8	100.0
Total	274	100	100	

## 3.9.2 Gender

Respondents were asked to mention their gender. The gender distribution is given in table (3.6). Majority of the respondents were male (n = 235) representing 85.77 % of the sample, while females were (n = 39), 14.23%.

Gender Type	Frequency	Percent	Valid %	Cumulative %
Male	235	85.77	85.77	85.77
Female	39	14.23	14.23	100.00
Total	274	100	100	

## Table 3.6: Respondents' gender

## 3.9.3 Education

Education was measured in years and the respondents were required to state years of schooling. Majority of the respondents had sixteen or eighteen years of schooling and a few senior employees had fourteen years of education, but, based on their experience they held senior HRM positions.

Years of Schooling	Frequency	Percent	Valid %	Cumulative %
Graduation	19	6.93	6.93	6.93
Master	217	79.20	79.20	86.13
M. Phil	38	13.87	13.87	100.00
Total	274	100	100	

## 3.9.4 Experience

Experience was also measured in years, which ranged from, (1 to 33) years. The mean value (M = 10.88) indicates that majority of the respondents were in the middle of their professional careers.

Experience in years	Frequency	Percent	Valid %	Cumulative %
01-10	153	55.84	55.84	55.84
11-20	93	33.94	33.94	89.78
21-30	26	9.49	9.49	99.27
31-40	2	0.73	0.73	100.00
Total	274	100	100	

 Table 3.8:
 Respondents' experience

## 3.9.5 Industry Type

Five different types of industries were selected for data collection. All of them participated substantially but the response rate was different from industry to industry. Highest to lowest responses from industry to industry were in the following order:

Modaraba, Insurance, Leasing, Banking and Investment. The over all industries response rate was 78 %, which is considered as a very good response rate.

Industries	Frequency	Percent	Valid %	Cumulative %
Banking	60	21.90	21.90	21.90
Insurance	47	17.15	17.15	39.05
Leasing	46	16.79	16.79	55.84
Modaraba	97	35.40	35.40	91.24
Investment	24	8.76	8.76	100.00
Total	274	100	100	

Table 3.9:Industry Type

#### 3.9.6 Organizational Life

Organizational life is measured in years. The newest organization used in the sample was one and half years old, and the oldest 72 years. Mean is (M = 20.43), indicates that on average organizations are two decades old.

Org Life in Years	Frequency	Percent	Valid %	Cumulative %
01-20	200	72.99	72.99	72.99
21-40	23	8.39	8.39	81.39
41-60	33	12.04	12.04	93.43
61-80	18	6.57	6.57	100.00
Total	274	100	100	

Table 3.10:Organization life in years

## 3.9.7 Number of Employees in the Organization

Number of employees in the organization was measured. The selected organizations had minimum number of employees working in one organization 7 and maximum as 26851.

Org. Employees	Frequency	Percent	Valid %	Cumulative %
1-10000	249	90.88	90.88	90.88
10001-20000	24	8.76	8.76	99.64
20001-30000	1	0.36	0.36	100.00
Total	274	100	100	

Table 3.11:No of employees

 Table 3.12:
 Descriptive statistics of demographic variables

Variables	Ν	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation
Age	274	26.00	59.00	36.05	7.92
Gender	274	1.00	2.00	1.86	0.35
Education	274	12.00	18.00	16.07	1.08
Experience	274	1.00	33.00	10.88	7.08
Industry Type	274	1.00	5.00	3.04	1.37
No of Employees in Org	274	7.00	18000	2257	4270
Valid N (list wise)	274				

#### 3.10 Reliability

At initial stage coefficient alpha (Cronbach, 1951) was applied. Data was analyzed to measure reliability. The study computed separate and combined reliability estimates, which are similar to the normally used coefficient alpha statistics. Cronbach value beyond ( $\alpha = .7$ ) signifies acceptable reliability (Cuieford, 1965).

Inter item consistency reliability or Cronbach's alpha reliability coefficients of one dependent, one mediating and six independent variables were obtained, they all were above ( $\alpha = .70$ ). Cronbach's alpha calculated is given in the table (3.13). As the coefficients get closer to ( $\alpha = 1.0$ ) the better is reliabilities and coefficients, and less than ( $\alpha = .60$ ) are considered poor. Recruitment & selection was measured by 10 items and had a Cronbach's alpha of ( $\alpha = .766$ ), training & development scale contained 10 items with ( $\alpha = .821$ ) Cronbach's alpha value, Career planning system was measured through 10 items and had Cronbach's alpha of ( $\alpha = .808$ ), performance appraisal scale contained 10 items with ( $\alpha = .776$ ) Cronbach's alpha, employee participation was measured through 10 items with Cronbach's alpha of ( $\alpha = .848$ ), compensation system the last HRM practice of the study was also measured by 10 item scale with Cronbach's alpha ( $\alpha = .815$ ), employee performance was measured by 10 item scale like all independent variable with Cronbach's alpha of ( $\alpha = .763$ ) and the dependent variable perceived organizational performance was also measured by 10 items scale with Cronbach's alpha value of ( $\alpha = .742$ ).

The overall reliability for each question separately is given separately in table (3.13) representing that 80 different questions asked in the questionnaire had Cronbach's alpha value of more than ( $\alpha > .70$ ) signifying the acceptable reliability limit. Individual Cronbach's alpha for each item is even more than ( $\alpha = .70$ ) thus, the internal consistency reliability of the measurers used in the study can be considered to be good and reliable.

Table 3.13:Reliability Analysis

(Cronbach's Alpha)	(α) Values
Perceived Organizational Performance (POP)	$(\alpha = .742)$
Quality of products/services has been improved.	.80
Development of new products or services is major activity in our organization.	.80
Organizational ability to attract employees has improved.	.79
Ability to retain employees is a major strength of our organization.	.79
Satisfaction of customers/clients is preferred concern of our organization.	.80
Management and employees are having trustful relationship with each other	.79
Market Share of organization has been increased.	.80
Our company has better standing in the market now, as compared to last 5 years.	.81
Organization shares are improving in the stock exchange.	.80
Organization sets SMART targets for the employees.	.80
Employee performance	$(\alpha = .763)$
Quantity of employees' work output has improved in last five years.	.74
Coming up with new ideas is appreciated in the organization.	.74
Most of the employees achieved organizational goals of last 5 years.	.71
Targets given to different employees are often met.	.72
Over all employees targets achievements has improved over the last 5 years.	.73
Employees feel happy to work in teams.	.73
Majority of employees can work independently and give high performance.	.71
Employees in organization have been enabled to make decisions well.	.70
Employees' communication skills have been improved in this organization.	.72
Employees' competencies are in line with the org. operational and strategic goals.	.71
Recruitment & Selection	$(\alpha = .766)$

Recruitment & selection system followed in our organization is well defined.	.73
In our organization, line managers and HRM managers participate in recruitment & selection	.78
Valid and standardized tests are used in the selection process of employees.	.74
Selection system in our organization selects those having the desired (ASK).	.73
Our organization uses comprehensive selection process before rendering a decision.	.73
The organization uses assessment centers for selection.	73
Our organization uses unbiased test and interviewing techniques for selection.	.74
Our organization selects employees without any bias.	.75
We have strong merit criteria for employee selection. We use attitude and desire to work in a team and individual as a criterion in selection	.74 .74
Training & Development	$(\alpha = .821)$
Our organization conducts extensive Training and Development (T&D) programs	.76
Employees at each job normally go through T&D programs every year.	.76
Training needs are identified through a formal need assessment mechanism.	.73
There are formal training programs to teach new employees the skills they need to perform their job.	.75
Trainings needs identified are realistic, useful and based on the business strategy of the organization.	.75
There are formal training evaluation methods to assess effectiveness of training.	.75
The organization has a system for calculating the cost and benefit of training.	.74
T&D has helped reduce employee turnover in our organization	.76
T&D has resulted in higher employee performance in our organization	.74
T&D has resulted in higher productivity and financial returns for the organization.	.75
Performance appraisal	$(\alpha = .776)$
Performance is measured on the basis of objectives and quantifiable results	.76
Appraisal system in our organization is growth and development oriented.	.80
Employees are provided performance based feedback and counseling.	.80
Appraisal system is unbiased and transparent	.80
Appraisal information is used for bonuses, promotions and selecting training	.80
Everybody working in the org. knows clear objectives of performance appraisal	.80
Appraisal system is modern and uses the latest techniques and technology.	.80
Appraisal system has a strong influence on individual and team behavior	.81
Our organization conducts performance appraisal on a regular basis.	.80
In our company, performance appraisal is not used for penalization.	.81
Career Planning System	$(\alpha = .808)$

Employees at each level in our organization have clear career ladder.	.75
Employees at each level in our organization are aware about their career ladder.	.76
Organizational and individual growth needs are aligned in this organization.	.76
Org. takes career planning & development and succession planning very seriously	.76
In our organization internal hiring is preferred over external.	.76
New employees get inspired by our career planning and development system.	.76
Minorities and women have comparable opportunities of growth and development.	.74
Organization is helping me develop skills needed for my future career.	.75
Our organization provides opportunities to develop skills to attain career goal.	.75
Employees in this organization get career guidance from their supervisor.	.78
<b>Employee participation</b> Employees at each level in the org. take part in decision-making process up to an extent	( <b>α</b> = <b>.848</b> ) .80
Employees are asked by superiors to participate in related decisions. Employees are provided opportunity to suggest improvements in the way things are done here	.77 .80
Employees are trusted to make decisions for themselves and the organization	.79
Our organization gives rewards for making appropriate suggestions.	.80
We have a culture that promotes employee involvement in our organization.	.77
We meet voluntarily to identify, operational problems relevant to the organization.	.80
Out organization consults employees in strategic decision-making.	.79
Employees' decision freedom improves their satisfaction in our organization. Employees having liberty to organize their job tasks as per their convenience produce more output.	.79 .80
Compensation system	$(\alpha = .815)$
Compensation offered by our organization matches the expectancy of employees.	.82
In our organization, salary and other benefits are comparable to the market.	.82
In our org., compensation is decided on the basis of competence of the employee	.83
The compensation for all employees is directly linked to their performance.	.84
In our org., profit sharing is used as a mechanism to reward higher performance	.83
Our org. offers both financial and non-financial rewards without discrimination	.84
The compensation plan is revised accordingly with the economic situation.	.84
Take home pay is enough for my family and me	.83
My last year's salary raise was better than the previous one.	.83
In general, I understand why I get what I get.	.86

## 3.11 Research model and variables

Based on extensive literature review, brainstorming session of HRM professionals and pilot study of different types of independent variables i.e. recruitment & selection, training & development, performance appraisal system, career planning system, employee participation and compensation system were selected for the study. Intervening variable employee performance was used to test mediation. To measure organizational performance, Marris ratio, Tobin's Q, Return on Equity, Return on Assets and organizational perceived performance were selected.

## **3.12** Theoretical framework

Variance in the dependent variable, perceived organizational performance, Marris Ratio, Tobin's Q, ROE and ROA can be explained by six independent variables, (recruitment & selection, training & development, performance appraisal, career planning system, employee participation and compensation system), as HRM practices are low focused activities in the organization. Due to this myth or reality HRM activities are performed with low level of confidence towards profitability acquisition, but without focusing on these practices employee motivation and performance become low. Making employee dynamic to contribute desired performance, needs HRM practices to be exercised properly which leads towards substantial organizational perceived and financial performance.

Thus, the six independent variables considered here would significantly explain the variance and perceived organizational performance and the employee performance was used as mediating variable between dependent and independent variables.

Figure- 3.2: Schematic diagram of theoretical model



In this research study, 14 variables are considered for analysis. Out of these 6 are independent variables, 2 are control variables, 1 is intervening variable and 5 are dependent variables.

## 3.13 Hypothesis

On the basis of extensive literature review the following different hypothesis were developed for the study.

## Hypothèses (1- a, b, c) (Recruitment & Selection)

- H1a: Recruitment & Selection positively effects Perceived Organizational Performance.
- *H1b: Recruitment & Selection positively effects Organizational Financial Performance.*
- *H1c:* Employee Performance mediates relationship between Recruitment & Selection and Perceived Organizational Performance.

## Hypothèses (2- a, b, c) (Training & Development)

- H2a: Training & Development positively effects Perceived Organizational Performance.
- *H2b: Training & Development positively effects Organizational Financial Performance.*
- *H2c:* Employee Performance mediates relationship between Training & Development and Perceived Organizational Performance.

## Hypothèses (3- a, b, c) (Performance Appraisal)

- H3a: Performance Appraisal positively effects Perceived Organizational Performance.
- *H3b:* Performance Appraisal positively effects Organizational Financial Performance.
- H3c: Employee Performance mediates relationship between Performance Appraisal and Perceived Organizational Performance.

## Hypothèses (4- a, b, c) (Career Planning System)

- *H4a:* Career Planning System in organization positively effects Perceived Organizational Performance.
- *H4b:* Career Planning System in organization positively effects Organizational Financial Performance.
- *H4c:* Employee Performance mediates relationship between Career Planning System and Perceived Organizational Performance.

## Hypothèses (5- a, b, c) (Employee Participation)

- **H5a:** Employee Participation positively effects Perceived Organizational Performance.
- **H5b:** Employee Participation positively effects Organizational Financial Performance.
- **H5c:** Employee Performance mediates relationship between Employee Participation and Perceived Organizational Performance.

## Hypothèses (6- a, b, c) (Compensation System)

- *H6a:* Compensation System positively effects Perceived Organizational *Performance.*
- *H6b:* Compensation System positively effects Organizational Financial Performance.
- *H6c:* Employee Performance mediates relationship between Compensation System and Perceived Organizational Performance.

## Hypothesis (Demographic variables)

*H7:* Demographic variables are having positive relationship with Perceived Organizational and Financial Performance.

## 3.14 Dependent variable

Financial and perceived organizational performances were dependent variable in this study. Financial performance was measured by 4 financial indicators i.e. Marris, Tobin's Q, ROE, ROA and in order to measure perceived organizational performance the questionnaire was used by benchmarking the competitors. All perceived and financial performance indicators together are termed as Organizational Performance Index (OPI).

## 3.14.1 Perceived organizational performance (POP)

With comparison to other organizations in the same industry, data were collected by asking a question. "How the respondents compare their organization's performance over the past five years in with other organizations in the same industry", especially in relation to the following:

- 1. Quality of our products/services has been improved.
- 2. Development of new products or services is major activity in the organization.
- 3. Organizational ability to attract employees has improved.
- 4. Ability to retain employees is a major strength of the organization.
- 5. Satisfaction of customers/clients is preferred concern of the organization.
- 6. Management and employees are having trustful relationship with each other
- 7. Market Share of organization has been increased.
- 8. The company has better standing in the market now, as compared to last 5 years.
- 9. Organizations' shares are improving in the stock exchange.
- 10. Organization sets SMART targets for the employees.

The organizational performance variable covered such aspects, as, quality of the

product, development of new product, employee attraction ability, employee retention, customer satisfaction, trustful relationship, market share, market standing, value of shares and goal setting strategies of the organization.

### 3.15 Moderating variable

#### 3.15.1 Employee performance

Employee performance variable covered different aspects like, quality of employee, idea creation and appreciation, goal achievement, target achievement, improvement in success, enjoyment at work, high performance at work, rational decision making of employees, communication skills and alignment of employees' competency with organizational requirements and goals.

- 1. Quantity of our employees' work output has improved in last five year.
- 2. Coming up with new ideas is appreciated in the organization.
- 3. Most of the employees achieved organizational goals of last 5 years.
- 4. Targets given to different employees are often met.
- 5. Over all employees target achievements has improved over the last 5 years.
- 6. Employees feel happy to work in teams.
- 7. Majority of employees can work independently and they give high performance.
- 8. Employees in the organization have been enabled to make decisions well.
- 9. Employees' communication skills have been improved in this organization.
- 10. Employees' competencies are in line with the organizational operational and strategic goals.
#### 3.16 Independent Variables

#### 3.16.1 Recruitment & Selection

Recruitment & Selection was considered as an independent variable measured by an instrument consisting of 7 items, and the respondents had to specify the significance attached to R & S practice. Recruitment and Selection covered different dimensions, i.e. well defined system, managerial participation, use of standardized tests, assessment centers, bias less selection, team working force selection, and selection based on ASK. Areas and items included in the questionnaire were as follows:

- 1. Recruitment & selection system followed in the organization is well defined.
- 2. Line managers and HRM managers participate in recruitment & selection.
- 3. Valid and standardized tests are used in the selection process of employees.
- 4. Selection system in our organization selects those having the desired Attitude, Skill and Knowledge (ASK).
- 5. Organization uses comprehensive selection process before rendering a decision.
- 6. The organization uses assessment centers for selection.
- 7. Organization uses unbiased test and interviewing techniques for employee selection.
- 8. Organization selects employees without any bias.
- 9. Organization has strong merit criteria for employee selection.
- 10. Organization uses attitude and desire to work in a team and individual as a criterion in employee selection.

#### 3.16.2 Training & Development

Training and development was measured over the basis of different items like, arrangement of T&D in the organization, equal opportunities for training, implementation of need assessment mechanism. T&D evaluation mechanism, and T&D was used for positive multiple purposes. The questionnaire consisted of the following:

1 Organization conducts extensive Training and Development (T&D) programs for

## employees

- 2. Employees at each job normally go through T&D programs every year.
- 3. Training needs are identified through a formal need assessment mechanism.
- 4. There are formal training programs to equip new employees with the skills they need to perform their job.
- 5. Training needs identified are realistic, useful and based on the business strategy of the organization.
- 6. There are formal training evaluation methods to assess the effectiveness of the training.
- 7. The organization has a system for calculating the cost and benefit of training.
- 8. T&D helped reduce employee turnover in the organization.
- 9. T&D resulted in higher employee performance in the organization.
- 10. T&D resulted in higher productivity and financial returns for the organization.

#### 3.16.3 Performance Appraisal

Performance appraisal is measured through a 7-item scale asking the respondents to indicate the extent to which the performance of the employees is

evaluated on the basis of quantifiable results using the performance appraisal data. The items from the questionnaire are as under:

1. Performance of the employees is measured on the basis of objectives and quantifiable results.

2. Appraisal system in the organization is growth and development oriented.

3. Employees are provided performance based feedback and counseling.

4. Appraisal system is unbiased and transparent

5. Appraisal information is used for bonuses, promotions and selecting training

6. Everybody working in the organization knows the clear objectives of performance appraisal.

7. Appraisal system is modern and uses latest techniques and technology.

8. Appraisal system has a strong influence on individual and team behavior

9. The organization conducts performance appraisal on regular basis.

10. The performance appraisal is not used for penalization.

# 3.16.4 Career Planning System

Career planning and development was measured on a 7 point scale. As an independent variable it was measured by following 10 different dimensions.

1. Employees at each level in the organization have clear career ladder.

2. Employees at each level in the organization are aware about their career ladder.

- 3. Organizational and individual growth needs are aligned in the organization.
- 4. The organization takes career planning & development and succession planning very seriously.

- 5. Internal hiring is preferred over external hiring.
- 6. New employees always get inspired by company career planning and development system.
- 7. Minorities and women have equal opportunities of growth and development.
- 8. Organization is helping employees to develop skills needed for future requirements.
- 9. Organization provides opportunities to develop skills that may be needed to attain career goal.
- 10. Employees in the organization get career guidance from their supervisor without any hesitation.

#### 3.16.5 Employee Participation

Employee participation was measured based on 10 points, pertained to areas such as employees decision making, opportunities for improvement by decision making, trust of employee, employee involvement culture and decision making freedom.

Following 10 items were asked from the respondents.

- 1. Employees at each level in organization take part in decision-making process up to an extent.
- 2. Employees are asked by superiors to participate in related decisions.
- 3. Employees are provided opportunity to suggest improvements in the way things are done.
- 4. Employees are trusted to make decisions for themselves and the organization
- 5. Organization gives rewards for making appropriate suggestions.
- 6. Organization has culture that promotes employee involvement in the organization.

- 7. Employees meet voluntarily to identify, operational problems relevant to the organization.
- 8. The organization consults employees in strategic decision-making
- 9. Employees decision freedom improves their satisfaction in the organization.
- Employees having liberty to organize their job tasks, as per their convenience, produce more output.

#### 3.16.6 Compensation System

Compensation System scale was measured through a scale having 10 items asking the respondents to indicate the extent to which the compensation system was linked to the performance and the items in the questionnaire were as under:

- 1. Compensation offered by the organization matches the expectancy of employees.
- 2. The salary and other benefits are competitive to the market.
- 3. Compensation is decided on the basis of competence of the employee.
- 4. The compensation for all employees is directly linked to their performance.
- 5. The profit sharing is used as a mechanism to reward higher performance.
- 6. The organization offers both financial and non-financial rewards without discrimination.
- 7. The compensation plan is revised accordingly with the economic situation.
- 8. Take home pay is enough for my self & family.
- 9. The last year's salary raise was better than the previous one.
- 10. In general, an employee understands why he/she gets what he/she gets.

## 3.16.7 Control variables

Control variables can have an important effect on the results (Guest, 2001; Katou, et al. 2010). With the intention to control the influence of external factors, different research scholars used different variables i.e. (gender, age, education experience, industry type, organizational life, and number of employees working in the organization). Demographic variables were selected after extensive review of the research by (Freeman & Medoff, 1984; Lewis, 1986; Huselid, 1995; Singh, 2004). Theoretically many variables were included as controls in analysis to capture other organizational and environmental forces related to HRM practices and organizational performance. Primary data was collected using the questionnaire about the demographics. To decide about the potential control variables from the demographic variables ANOVA test was used. One-way analysis of variance revealed that responses only varied across gender type and education, which showed significant impact on organizational performance. All others showed highly insignificant impact on organizational performance. Therefore to control the effect of external and demographic variables only gender type and education levels were used as control variables.

## **CHAPTER 4**

# **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

This chapter presents information obtained for this research study from the data collected through primary and secondary sources. It includes the findings in respect of demographic information of respondents, recruitment & selection, training & development, career planning system, performance appraisal, employee participation, compensation system, employee performance and perceived organizational & financial performance. Analysis is done in two parts; the first part pertains to demographic information of the respondents while second part contains analysis of respondents' answers to the questions. Excel 2003 and Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS 16.0) were used to calculate descriptive statistics, ANOVA, correlation and regression analyses. Main focus of the study was to find answers to the following questions.

- To what extent demographic variables effect different types of organizational performances?
- What is the relationship between demographic variables and perceived organizational and financial performance based on (Marris, Tobin's Q, ROE and ROA,
- What is the relationship between Human Resource Management practices and perceived organizational and financial performance?
- To what degree different types of HRM practices effect perceived and financial performance of the organizations?
- What is the mediating role of employee performance between different HRM practices and perceived organizational performance?
- How differently do HRM practices effect organizational perceived and financial performance in different financial sector industries?

Table (4.1) indicates different dependent, intervening, independent as well as demographic variables to be used in further analysis for finding answers to the research questions.

Indep	endent Varia	ables				
1	RS	Recruitment & Selection				
2	TD	Training & Development				
3	PA	Performance Appraisal				
4	СР	Career Planning System				
5	EPA	Employees Participation				
6	CS	Compensation System				
Mediating variable						
7	EP	Employee Performance				
Perceived organizational performance variable						
8	POP	Perceived Organizational Performance				
Finan	Financial performance variables					
9	ROA	Return on Assets				
10	ROE	Return on Equity				
11	TQ	Tobin's Q				
12	MR	Marris Ratio				
Demog	graphic vari	ables				
13	InT	Industry Type				
14	Gen	Gender				
15	Age	Age				
16	Edu	Education				
17	EXP	Experience				
18	OrL	Organization Life in Years				
19	NEO	No of Employees in Organization				

 Table 4.1:
 Variables included in analyses

# 4.1 Results

#### 4.1.1 Research Question 1:

What is relationship between demographic variables and perceived organizational and financial performance? How do they effect the perceived and financial performances?

All demographic variables were tested with perceived organizational and financial performance variables. Besides calculating means and standard deviation of independent and dependent variables, correlation (Table 4.2) and multiple regressions (Table 4.3) were calculated to answer the first question. Pearson correlation was calculated to find out how variables were related to each other.

	POP	MR	TQ	ROE	ROA	InT	Gen	Age	Edu	Exp	OrL N	IOE
POP	1											
MR	.029	1										
TQ	028	243(**)	1									
ROE	052	.003	021	1								
ROA	.081	.101	.54	.001	1							
InT	07	249(**)	.054	.066	012	1						
Gen	.155(*)	.005	027	063	016	007	1					
Age	.093	011	154(*)	.103	045	022	337(**)	1				
Edu	.154(*)	.11	132(*)	.043	.047	.016	.134(*)	.127(*)	1			
Exp	.093	024	117	.086	051	034	359(**)	.898(**)	.068	1		
OrL	062	.297(**)	057	065	.099	183(**)	132(*)	.058	06	.034	1	
NEO	.069	.176(**)	037	068	030	187(**)	.009	065	.085	122(*)	.283(**)	1
* Correl	* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).											

 Table 4.2:
 Pearson Correlation Coefficients between demographics variables and (OP), (MR), (TQ), (ROE) and (ROA)

The Pearson correlation matrix obtained for different variables including seven demographic variables, one perceived organizational performance and four financial performance variables is shown in (Table 4.1). Only two demographic variables, Gender type (.155 p < .05) and Education (.154 p < .05) are significantly and positively correlated with Perceived Organizational Performance. Organizational Life (.297, p < .01) and number of Employees in the organization (.176, p < .01) are significantly correlated with Marris Ratio. None of the HRM practices is significantly correlated with Marris Ratio. None of the HRM practices is significantly correlated with Marris Ratio. None of the HRM practices is significantly correlated with Marris Q, ROE and ROA. The highest correlation is of Experience with Age and it has proved the argument that if a person is employed, then his age and experience move in the same direction.

	, (									
	1 –	POP			2 – MR					
	β	$R^2$	$\Delta R^2$	Sig.		β	$R^2$	$\Delta R^2$	Sig.	
Gender	.0157	.024	.024	.011	Gender	.643	.012	.012	.07	
Education	.4	.024	.024	.01	Education	.072	.000	.000	.936	
3 - Tobin's Q					4 – ROE					
	β	R <sup>2</sup>	$\Delta R^2$	Sig.		β	R <sup>2</sup>	$\Delta R^2$	Sig.	
Gender	-1.1727	0.017	0.017	.029	Gender	.29	.002	.002	.478	
Education	893	0.001	0.001	.657	Education	107	.004	.004	.299	
	5 –	ROA								
	β	R <sup>2</sup>	$\Delta R^2$	Sig.						
Gender	007	.000	.000	.787						
Education	009	.003	.003	.398						

Table 4.3:Multiple Regression Analysis of demographics with (POP), (MR),(TO), (ROE) and (ROA)

No correlation of any demographic variable with any performance variables was higher than (.297). If correlation was higher than (.75), there might be doubt whether or not the highly correlated variables are two different and distinct variables, and that might challenge the validity of responses (Sekaran U., 1994). Very high correlation variables could also create multicollinearity issue.

Data were regressed on variable-to-variable basis. Gender had significant impact on POP ( $\beta = 157$ , p .01, R<sup>2</sup> = .017) and MR ( $\beta = .643$ , p .07, R<sup>2</sup> = .012). Education had only significant impact on POP ( $\beta = 157$ , p .01, R<sup>2</sup> = .024). Results given in Table (4.3) show that variables Gender type and Education have positive effect but this effect is not significant.

## 4.1.2 Research Question 2:

What is the relationship between Human Resource Management practices and perceived organizational performance and financial performance?

Correlation results are shown in Table (4.5). Correlations amongst variables are positive. Correlation interpretation is based on following five classical rules introduced by Franzblau (1985) to interpret correlation coefficient amongst different variables,

- (r = 0 to .20) indicates negligible or no correlation
- (r = .20 to .40) indicates positive but low degree of correlation
- (r = .40 to .60) indicates positive moderate degree of correlation
- (r = .60 to .80) indicates positive and marked degree of correlation
- (r = .80 to .1.00) indicates positive and high degree of correlation

All variables are treated symmetrically, i.e. there is no distinction between dependent and independent variables. Two variables are said to be correlated when they tend to simultaneously vary in the same direction. If both the variables tend to increase or decrease together, the correlation is said to be direct or positive. When one variable tends to increase and the other decreases, the correlation is said to be negative or inverse.

	Range	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation
РОР	5.00	2.00	7.00	5.55	.90
EP	4.00	3.00	7.00	5.64	.91
MR	52.78	-22.09	30.69	2.12	5.19
TQ	134.52	.14	134.66	2.32	11.60
ROE	6.40	-1.94	4.46	.26	.59
ROA	1.63	-1.27	.36	.0366	.150
RS	4.00	3.00	7.00	5.71	.85
TD	4.00	3.00	7.00	5.76	.85
PA	4.00	3.00	7.00	5.64	.85
СР	4.00	3.00	7.00	5.59	.86
EPA	4.00	3.00	7.00	5.54	.83
СМ	5.00	2.00	7.00	5.52	.95
Gen	4.00	0	1	.14	.35
Edu	4.00	14.00	18.00	16.09	.88
Valid N (list wise) 27	4				

#### Table 4.4:Descriptive Statistics

Standard deviation is the balancing point for the distribution. It serves as a basic measure of variability. Smaller value of the standard deviation indicates that most of the observations in a data set are close to the mean, while a large value implies that the observations are scattered widely about the mean. Table (4.4) is showing standard deviation and means values of different variables. For POP (Mean = 5.55, S.D = .90), for EP (Mean = 5.64, S.D = .91), for RS (Mean = 5.71, S.D = .85), for TD (Mean = 5.76, S.D = .85), for PA (Mean = 5.64, S.D = .81), for CP (Mean = 5.59, S.D = .86), for EPA (Mean = 5.54, S.D = .83) and for CM (Mean = 5.52, S.D = .95). All these values are indicating that there is a minute difference between answers given by HRM executives. A generic argument can be developed on the basis of small value of standard deviation and high value of mean are indicative of respondents, agreement with the options for all the questions asked from respondents.

	POP	EP	MR	TQ	ROE	ROA	RS	TD	PA	СР	EPA	СМ	Ind	Edu
РОР	1													
EP	.550(**)	1												
MR	.029	.023	1											
TQ	028	253(**)	243(**)	1										
ROE	052	.008	.003	021	1									
ROA	.081	013	.101	.054	.001	1								
RS	.351(**)	.235(**)	042	187(**)	.01	022	1							
TD	.250(**)	.106(*)	009	078	003	.057	.423(**)	1						
PA	.334(**)	.368(**)	043	278(**)	.027	034	.331(**)	.446(**)	1					
СР	.274(**)	.359(**)	004	049	.059	058	.378(**)	.350(**)	.423(**)	1				
EPA	.302(**)	.240(**)	.031	137(*)	108(*)	.015	.337(**)	.327(**)	.370(**)	.355(**)	1			
СМ	.220(**)	.122(*)	.089	113(*)	.043	037	.198(**)	0.053	.220(**)	.256(**)	.412(**)	1		
Gender	.155(*)	.117	.005	027	063	016	.054	096	011	.038	.137(*)	.152(*)	1	
Edu:	.154(*)	.129(*)	.110(*)	132(*)	.043	051	.032	.02	.075	.023	.034	112(*)	.016	1

Table 4.5: Pearson Product Movement correlation between factor variables (N = 274)

\*\*Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (1-tailed).

\*Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (1-tailed).

Table (4.5) contains correlations for all variables and Table (4.4) contains descriptive statistics comprising upon values of standard deviation, mean, median, modes, minimum maximum values and range. There is positive correlation amongst independent variables and dependent variable perceived organizational performance. (r = .351, p < .01) correlation of recruitment and selection with perceived organizational performance with mean (5.77) and standard deviation (S.D = (0.85) is indicating that there is positive and significant correlation between these two variables, proving that standardized and transparent selection system is part of organizational performance indicators. Furthermore R&S has positive and significant correlation (r = .368, p < .01) with employee performance and (r = .01, p = ns) insignificant correlation with ROE. (r = .250, p < .01) correlation of training with perceived organizational performance and (r = .106, p < .01) with employee performance showing mean (4.14) and standard deviation (S.D = .85) indicates that training will be beneficial for individuals and organizations when conducted after training needs analysis. Training conducted in this fashion will ultimately increase the efficiency of the organization. Secondly it indicates that training should focus on what the present job demands are in terms of desired Attitude, Skill, and Knowledge (ASK) rather than on those (ASK) that are somewhat connected to the current job. While (r = .423, p < .01) is the highest value of correlation of Training with Selection indicating that whenever there is a highly scientific and rigorous selection system, where line managers and HRM managers both participate in selection, valid and standardized tests are used for the selection of those who have desired knowledge, skills and attitudes, then training creates a more positive effect, otherwise training may not be a productive activity.

Performance appraisal is showing correlation (r = .334, p < .01, mean = 5.64 and S.D = .85) with perceived organizational performance and (r = .368, p < .01) with employee performance, indicating that performance of those employees will be good who have been selected through standardized procedures with the right caliber and combined opinion of different concerned managers. Correlation (r = .446, p < .01) between performance appraisal and training is the highest proving that training based on the needs identified through appraisal has a better fit. Training needs identified from performance evaluation process, considering

the opinion of all concerned stakeholders as realistic and useful. Correlation (r = .331, p < .01) with recruitment and selection is indicating that PA is positively linked with RS. The significant association between performance appraisal and organizational performance reflects the psyche of the Pakistani organizations that the performance of the employees is measured on the basis of quantifiable results. The appraisal system in these organizations can be growth and development oriented, if, the employees of the organizations are provided with performance based feedback and counseling. Employees have more faith on the performance appraisal system and the appraisal system will have a strong influence on the individual and team behavior.

Career planning (r = .274, p < .01, Mean = 5.59 and S. D = .86) with perceived organizational performance and (r = .368, p < .01) with employee performance are presenting positive and significant relationship. When organizations focus on career planning their employee performance and perceived organizational performance is enhanced. Furthermore (r = . 378, p < .01) with recruitment & selection, (r = . 350, p < .01) with training & development and (r = . 423, p < .01) with performance appraisal also indicate the same direction.

Compensation management correlation (r = .220, p < .01, mean = 5.52 and S. D = .95) with Perceived organizational Performance and (r = .122, p < .01) with employee performance. (r = .198, p < .01) with recruitment & selection, (r = .220, p < .01) with performance appraisal, (r = .256, p < .01) with career planning (r = .412, p < .01) with employee performance shows that the compensation system will be acceptable and satisfactory when it is linked with the performance shown in the performance appraisal process. In a nutshell, the results show that the usage of pay based on merit and performance and matching with the expectations of employees leads to higher employee and organizational performance.

Employee participation (r = .302, p < .01, mean = 5.54 and S. D = .83) with Perceived organizational Performance and (r = .240, p < .01) with employee performance, (r = .337, p < .01) with recruitment & selection, (r = .327, p < .01) with training & development, (r = .370, p < .01) with performance appraisal and (r = .355, p < .01) with career planning show positive relationships. These results are indicating that Pakistani tycoons are moving steadily towards employee participation approach. It indicates that among individual HRM practices, employee participation in routine decision making and sometimes in strategic decision making, is also a very important factor which leads the organizations to a relatively high performance. It also indicates that the employees in the organizations are allowed to make decisions related to cost and quality matters. They are asked by their supervisors to participate in operation related decisions. Finally they are provided with an opportunity to suggest improvements in the way things are being done.

Highest mean of Training & Development (5.77) is indicating that majority of the managers think that T&D is the most important factor in organizational performance, but compensation management is showing the lowest mean (5.52), indicating that the compensation system already prevailing in the organizations is not as much of a focused factor as compared to other HRM practices. There are some correlation values that are positively correlated with MR, TQ, ROE and ROA but none of them is significant.

#### 4.1.3 Research Question 3:

To what degree different types of HRM practices can predict perceived and financial performance of the organizations?

To answer this question, inferential statistical technique of Multiple Regression Analysis (MRA) was used. Kerlinger and Lee (2000) opined that regression analysis is a statistical method that relates one dependent variable to a linear combination of one or more independent variables. Regression identifies how much each independent variable has an impact on dependent variable. For each performance indicator separate data were regressed. (Table 4.6, 4.7, 4.8, 4.9 and 4.10) are depicting regression results. Multiple regression analysis calculates multiple correlation coefficients, R<sup>2</sup>; it is the proportion of variance in dependent variables towards dependent variables is measured by the Beta value and can be explained on the basis of p or t value.

	β	$R^2$	$\Delta R^2$	Sig.
STEP 1 (Control Variables)				
Gender type	.353	.042	.042	.024
Education	.139	.042	.042	.023
STEP 2 (HRM Practices)				
Recruitment & Selection	.362	.161	.119	.000
Training & Development	.280	.111	.069	.000
Performance appraisal	.347	.149	.107	.000
Career Planning System	.280	.113	.071	.000
Employee participation	.310	.121	.079	.000
Compensation system	.213	.090	.048	.000

Table 4.6:Regression Analysis (POP) as dependent and HRM practices asindependent variable

Regression analysis of perceived organizational performance as dependent variable is indicating that all the tested variables are significantly contributing towards organizational performance. Recruitment and selection ( $\beta = .362$ ,  $R^2 = .161$  and p = .000), training and development ( $\beta = .280$ ,  $R^2 = .111$  and p = .000), performance appraisal ( $\beta = .347$ ,  $R^2 = .1149$  and p = .000), career planning system ( $\beta = .280$ ,  $R^2 = .113$  and p = .000), employee participation ( $\beta = .310$ ,  $R^2 = .121$  and p = .000) and compensation system ( $\beta = .213$ ,  $R^2 = .090$  and p = .000). Control variables gender type ( $\beta = .139$ ,  $R^2 = .042$  and p = .024) and education ( $\beta = .353$ ,  $R^2 = .042$  and p = .023) are significantly contributing towards perceived organizational performance. Therefore hypothesis H1a, H2a, H3a, H4a, H5a and H6a are fully accepted as all the tested variables predict perceived organizational performance.

	β	$\mathbb{R}^2$	$\Delta R^2$	Sig.
STEP 1 (Control Variables)				
Gender Type	148	.012	.012	.870
Education	.651	.012	.012	.070
STEP 2 (HRM Practices)				
Recruitment & Selection	276	.014	.002	.457
Training & Development	073	.012	.000	.845
Performance appraisal	318	.015	.003	.391
Career Planning System	040	.012	.000	.914
Employee participation	.180	.013	.001	.640
Compensation system	.588	.023	.011	.082

 Table 4.7: Regression Analysis (MR) as dependent and HRM Practices as independent variable

Regression analysis with Marris ratio as dependent variable indicates that all the tested variables are not significantly contributing towards MR except compensation system ( $\beta = .588$ ,  $R^2 = .023$  and p = .082). Recruitment & selection ( $\beta =$ .276,  $R^2 = .014$  and p = .457), training and development ( $\beta = .073$ ,  $R^2 = .012$  and p =.845), performance appraisal ( $\beta = .318$ ,  $R^2 = .015$  and p = .391), career planning system ( $\beta = .040$ ,  $R^2 = .012$  and p = .914) and employee participation ( $\beta = .180$ ,  $R^2 =$ .013 and p = .640) have insignificant results. From control variables, education is significantly contributing towards Marris ( $\beta = .651$ ,  $R^2 = .012$  and p = .070). Therefore hypothesis H1b, H2b, H3b, H4b, H5b and H6b are rejected. None of the HRM practices is either or has effect on Marris Ratio except compensation system.

Table 4.8:Regression Analysis (TQ) as dependent and HRM practices asindependent variable

	В	$\mathbf{R}^2$	$\Delta \mathbf{R}^2$	Sig.
<b>STEP 1 (Control Variables)</b>				
Gender Type	315	.117	.017	.876
Education	-1.710	.117	.017	.033

STET 2 (IIIII) Tractices)				
Recruitment & Selection	-2.502	051	.033	.002
Training & Development	-1.060	.023	.006	.202
Performance appraisal	-3.691	.090	.073	.000
Career Planning System	.621	.020	.003	.448
Employee participation	-1.886	.035	.018	.027
Compensation system	-1.608	.034	.016	.033

# **STEP 2 (HRM Practices)**

Regression analysis with Tobin's Q as dependent variable indicates that none of the variables are significantly contributing towards TQ. Recruitment and selection ( $\beta = -2.502$ ,  $R^2 = .15$  and p = .002), training and development ( $\beta = -1.060$ ,  $R^2 = .023$  and p = .202), performance appraisal ( $\beta = -3.691$ ,  $R^2 = .090$  and p = .000), career planning system ( $\beta = .621$ ,  $R^2 = .020$  and p = .448), employee participation ( $\beta = -1.886$ ,  $R^2 = .035$  and p = .027) and compensation system ( $\beta = -1.608$ ,  $R^2 = .034$  and p = .033). All yield insignificant results. Further no control variable is significantly contributing towards TQ, gender type ( $\beta = -.315$ ,  $R^2 = .117$  and p = .876) and education ( $\beta = -1.710$ ,  $R^2 = .117$  and p = .033) are contributing towards TQ. Therefore hypotheses H1b, H2b, H3b, H5b and H6b are not accepted.

Table 4.9: Regression	Analysis (ROI	E) as Dependent	and HRM	Practices as
Independent Variable				

	В	$\mathbf{R}^2$	$\Delta \mathbf{R}^2$	Sig.
STEP 1 (Control Variables)				
Gender Type	119	.007	.007	.253
Education	.035	.007	.007	.319
STEP 2 (HRM Practices)				
Recruitment & Selection	.009	.007	.000	.836
Training & Development	007	.007	.000	.862
Performance appraisal	.015	.007	.000	.716
Career Planning System	.042	.010	.003	.319
Employee participation	074	.017	.010	.093
Compensation system	.039	.011	.004	.317

Regression analysis with Return on Equity (ROE) as dependent variable indicates that all the tested variables are not significantly contributing towards ROE. Recruitment and selection ( $\beta = 009$ ,  $R^2 = .007$  and p = .836), training and development ( $\beta = -.007$ ,  $R^2 = .007$  and p = .862), performance appraisal ( $\beta = .015$ ,  $R^2$ = .007 and p = .716), career planning system ( $\beta = .042$ ,  $R^2 = .017$  and p = .319), employee participation ( $\beta = -.074$ ,  $R^2 = .017$  and p = .093) and compensation system ( $\beta = .039$ ,  $R^2 = .011$  and p = .317). All show insignificant impact. None of the control variables, gender type ( $\beta = -.119$ ,  $R^2 = .007$  and p = .253) and education ( $\beta = .035$ ,  $R^2$ = .007 and p = .319) has significant impact. Therefore hypotheses H1b, H2b, H3b, H4b, and H5b are not accepted, and only H6b is accepted.

	В	$\mathbf{R}^2$	$\Delta \mathbf{R}^2$	Sig.
STEP 1 (Control Variables)				
Industry Type	004	.003	.003	.873
Education	008	.003	.003	.415
STEP 2 (HRM Practices)				
Recruitment & Selection	.010	.003	.000	.341
Training & Development	.018	006	. 003	.174
Performance appraisal	005	.004	.001	.612
Career Planning System	010	006	. 003	.351
Employee participation	.003	.003	.000	.767
Compensation system	007	.004	.001	.492

 Table 4.10: Regression Analysis (ROA) as Dependent and HRM Practices as

 Independent Variable

Regression analysis with Return on Assets (ROA) as dependent variable indicates that all the tested variables, recruitment and selection ( $\beta = -.010$ ,  $R^2 = .003$ and p = .341), training and development ( $\beta = .018$ ,  $R^2 = .006$  and p = .174), performance appraisal ( $\beta = -.005$ ,  $R^2 = .004$  and p = .612), career planning system ( $\beta$ = -.010,  $R^2 = .006$  and p = .351), employee participation ( $\beta = .003$ ,  $R^2 = .003$  and p = .767) and compensation system ( $\beta = -.007$ ,  $R^2 = .004$  and p = .492), have insignificant impact and none of the control variables is significant, gender type ( $\beta = -.004$ ,  $R^2 = .004$  .003 and p = .873) and education ( $\beta$  = -.008, R<sup>2</sup> = .003 and p = .415) have no effect on ROA. Therefore hypotheses H1b, H2b, H3b, H4b, H5b and H6b are rejected.

#### 4.1.4 Research Question 4:

To what extent HRM practices effect different industries' perceived & financial performance in the financial sector?

To find out the answer to this question, the data for different industries were separately regressed.

Regression analysis with organization performance as dependent variable and six HRM practices as independent variables were tested in different industries, i.e. banking, insurance, leasing, modaraba and investment industries. All tested HRM practices including recruitment & selection ( $\beta = .662$ , P = .000), training & development ( $\beta = .471$ , P = .001), performance appraisal ( $\beta = .560$ , P = .000), career planning system ( $\beta = .471$ , P = .000), employee participation ( $\beta = .545$ , P = .000), compensation system ( $\beta = .298$ , P = .015), are significantly contributing towards the performance of the banking industry. Therefore an inference can be drawn that organizational performance in the banking industry is significantly affected by HRM practices. Likewise in the insurance industry, 5 HRM practices are significantly related to Perceived Organizational Performance, which includes recruitment & selection ( $\beta = .301$ , P = .040), training & development ( $\beta = .340$ , P = .053), performance appraisal ( $\beta = .471$ , P = .003), career planning system ( $\beta = .368$ , P = .011), employee participation ( $\beta = .516$ , P = .005). Whereas, none of the HRM practices is significantly contributing in organizational performance of the leasing industry.

Table 4.11: Regression Analysis, (POP) as dependent and HRM practices as independent variable

	<b>Banking Industry</b>		<b>Insurance Industry</b>			Leasing Industry			Modaraba Industry			Investment Industry			
	В	$\mathbf{R}^2$	Sig.	В	$\mathbf{R}^2$	Sig.	В	$\mathbf{R}^2$	Sig.	В	$\mathbf{R}^2$	Sig.	В	$\mathbf{R}^2$	Sig.
Recruitment & Selection	.662	.326	.000	.301	.091	.040	.163	.039	.190	.311	.072	.008	.464	.253	.012
Training & Development	.471	.172	.001	.340	.081	.053	.128	.024	.304	.139	.014	.243	.204	.062	.241
Performance appraisal	.560	.268	.000	.471	.180	.003	.019	.000	.907	.343	.109	.001	.053	.003	.807
Career Planning System	.471	.233	.000	.368	.134	.011	178	.027	.274	.233	.037	.061	.156	.042	.339
Employee participation	.545	.245	.000	.516	.160	.005	.016	.000	.913	.258	.048	.032	.134	.027	.446
Compensation system	.298	.098	.015	.299	.065	.083	.137	.023	.313	.172	.026	.112	.090	.032	.402

Table 4.12: Regression Analysis, (Marris Ration) as dependent and HRM practices as independent variable

	<b>Banking Industry</b>		<b>Insurance Industry</b>			Leasing Industry			Modaraba Industry			Investment Industry			
	В	$\mathbf{R}^2$	Sig.	В	$\mathbf{R}^2$	Sig.	В	$\mathbf{R}^2$	Sig.	В	$\mathbf{R}^2$	Sig.	В	$\mathbf{R}^2$	Sig.
Recruitment & Selection	-1.494	.072	.038	-1.893	.042	.168	.029	.006	.597	1.380	.072	.008	555	.012	.606
Training & Development	722	.018	.313	.099	.000	.953	.049	.019	.365	200	.002	.706	393	.008	.681
Performance appraisal	-1.704	.107	.011	-1.367	.018	.373	.064	.020	.348	1.333	.083	.004	660	.015	.574
Career Planning System	-1.206	.066	.047	1.346	.021	.331	025	.003	.726	105	.000	.851	410	.010	.645
Employee participation	-1.917	.131	.004	3.491	.065	.046	058	.019	.361	.850	.026	.114	-1.374	.096	.142
Compensation system	-1.455	.101	.013	4.203	.150	.007	.053	.019	.362	1.048	.049	.029	.300	.012	.609

While in modaraba industry HRM practices – Recruitment and Selection ( $\beta$  = .311, P = .008), Performance appraisal ( $\beta$  = .343, P = .001), Career Planning System ( $\beta$  = .233, P = .061) and Employee participation ( $\beta$  = .258, P = .032) are contributing significantly towards organizational performance. In the investment industry only Recruitment and Selection ( $\beta$  = .464, P = .012) among six HRM practices is contributing significantly in perceived organizational performance.

Regression analysis with financial performance indicator Marris ratio as dependent variable and six HRM practices as independent variables were tested in different industries. Majority of the HRM practices have no significant contribution towards the financial performance of tested industries except recruitment & selection ( $\beta = .1.380$ , P = .008), Training and Development ( $\beta = .1.333$ , P = .004), Compensation system ( $\beta = 1.048$ , P = .029) in modaraba industry.

Regression analysis with financial performance indicator Tobin's Q ratio as dependent variable and six HRM practices as independent variables were tested in different industries. Majority of the HRM practices were not significantly contributing towards the financial performance of tested industries except employee participation ( $\beta = 1.903$ , P = .057) and compensation system ( $\beta = 2.282$ , P = .011) in insurance industry and performance appraisal ( $\beta = .148$ , P = .104) and compensation system ( $\beta = .104$ , P = .183) in leasing industry.

Regression analysis with Return on Equity as dependent variable and six HRM practices as independent variables were tested in different industries. Majority of the HRM practices were not significantly contributing towards the financial performance of tested industries except employee participation ( $\beta = .024$ , P = .154) in the banking industry, career planning system ( $\beta = .422$ , P = .110) and employee participation ( $\beta = .486$ , P = .039) in the leasing industry and compensation system ( $\beta = .016$ , P = .509) in modaraba industry.

Regression analysis with ROA as dependent variable and six HRM practices as independent variables were tested in different industries. Majority of the HRM practices were not significantly contributing towards the financial performance of tested industries. In the banking industry only two HRM practices, Recruitment & Selection ( $\beta$  = .004, P = .079) and employee participation ( $\beta$  = .003, P = .132) were significantly contributing towards the financial performance of the banking industry. In the insurance industry only Compensation System ( $\beta$  = .043, P = .014) and in modaraba and investment industries only training & development ( $\beta$  = .027, P = .032), ( $\beta$  = .027, P = .032) respectively contributing towards financial performance.

It can be generalized that majority of the HRM practices are not effecting the financial performance of the banking industry.

	<b>Banking Industry</b>		Insurance Industry			Leasing Industry			Modaraba Industry			Investment Industry			
	В	$\mathbf{R}^2$	Sig.	В	$\mathbf{R}^2$	Sig.	В	$\mathbf{R}^2$	Sig.	В	$\mathbb{R}^2$	Sig.	В	$\mathbf{R}^2$	Sig.
Recruitment & Selection	154	.070	.041	-1.189	.051	.128	071	.021	.333	-7.419	.093	.002	423	.008	.679
Training & Development	088	.024	.241	114	.000	.905	044	.008	.543	-2.892	.014	.247	508	.015	.574
Performance appraisal	184	.114	.008	814	.019	.352	.148	.059	.104	-9.220	.179	.000	645	.016	.562
Career Planning System	121	.060	.058	.780	.022	.324	.104	.027	.273	-2.378	.009	.363	505	.017	.549
Employee participation	160	.084	.025	1.903	.078	.057	.050	.008	.562	-6.576	.070	.009	222	.003	.806
Compensation system	109	.052	.080	2.282	.136	.011	.104	.040	.183	-5.205	.055	.021	.066	.001	.905

Table 4.13: Regression Analysis, (Tobin's Q) as dependent and HRM practices as independent variable

Table 4.14: Regression Analysis, (Return on Equity) as dependent and HRM practices as independent variable

	<b>Banking Industry</b>		<b>Insurance Industry</b>			Leasing Industry			Modaraba Industry			Investment Industry			
	В	$\mathbf{R}^2$	Sig.	В	$\mathbf{R}^2$	Sig.	В	$\mathbf{R}^2$	Sig.	В	$\mathbf{R}^2$	Sig.	В	$\mathbf{R}^2$	Sig.
Recruitment & Selection	.013	.009	.475	051	.077	.058	.066	.002	.749	005	.000	.839	024	.001	.899
Training & Development	.016	.014	.369	025	.012	.456	.014	.000	.944	047	.034	.070	011	.000	.947
Performance appraisal	017	.018	.311	031	.000	.318	.194	.013	.455	022	.009	.345	178	.034	.386
Career Planning System	013	.012	.402	072	.152	.007	.422	.057	.110	027	.010	.322	.122	.028	.432
Employee participation	.024	.035	.154	001	.000	.981	.486	.093	.039	012	.002	.648	299	.147	.065
Compensation system	.009	.007	.521	.049	.051	.128	.069	.002	.758	.016	.005	.509	050	.011	.626

	Bank	<b>Banking Industry</b>		Insura	<b>Insurance Industry</b>		Leasing Industry			Modaraba Industry			Investment Industry		
	В	$\mathbf{R}^2$	Sig.	В	$\mathbf{R}^2$	Sig.	В	$\mathbf{R}^2$	Sig.	В	$\mathbf{R}^2$	Sig.	В	$\mathbf{R}^2$	Sig.
Recruitment & Selection	.004	.052	.079	022	.047	.145	.016	.022	.331	006	.003	.608	006	.003	.608
Training & Development	.002	.015	.344	.005	.002	.775	.014	.017	.393	.027	.047	.032	.027	.047	.032
Performance appraisal	.001	.003	.690	012	.010	.500	007	.003	.724	012	.012	.283	012	.012	.283
Career Planning System	.000	.000	.986	020	.036	.198	016	.014	.436	.011	.007	.411	.011	.007	.411
Employee participation	.003	.039	.132	.013	.009	.526	.011	.007	.577	003	.001	.802	003	.001	.802
Compensation system	.001	.009	.470	.043	.128	.014	.021	.032	.237	005	.002	.680	005	.002	.680

Table 4.15: Regression Analysis, (Return on Assets) as dependent and HRM practices as independent variable

# 4.1.5 Research Question 5:

How employee performance mediates the relationship of different HRM practices and perceived organizational performance?

Perceived	l Organizational Performance				
		В	$R^2$	$\Delta R^2$	Sig.
STEP 1	(Control Variable)				
	Gender Type	.353	.042	.042	.024
	Education	.139	.042	.042	.023
STEP 2	(HRM Practices)				
	Recruitment & Selection	.362	.161	.119	.000
	Training & Development	.280	.111	.069	.000
	Performance appraisal	.347	.149	.107	.000
	Career Planning System	.280	.113	.071	.000
	Employee participation	.310	.121	.079	.000
	Compensation system	.213	.090	.048	.000
Employe	e Performance Mediation				
		В	$R^2$	$\Delta R^2$	Sig.
STEP 1	(Control Variable)				
	Gender Type	.353	.042	.042	.024
	Education	.139	.042	.042	.023
STEP 2	(Mediation)				
	Employee Performance	.524	.316	.274	.000
STEP 3	(HRM Practices)				
	Recruitment & Selection	.247	.367	.051	.000
	Training & Development	.218	.357	.041	.000
	Performance Appraisal	.166	.337	.021	.004
	Career Planning System	.094	.323	.007	.096
	Employee Participation	.189	.334	.028	.001
	Compensation System	.152	.340	.024	.002

Table 116 Madiation	Deguarian	Amalausia (El	) as madiatan	h atres are (	TIDAD	and (		
Table 4.10: Mediation	Regression	Analysis (El	) as mediator,	between (	HKM	) and (	UP)	)

Mediation analysis is shown in (Table 4.16). In the first step the control variables, gender type and education were entered. In the second step the mediator employee performance and in the third step, Human Resource Management practices were entered in the equation. This three-step model was regressed with organizational performance, separately, for each HRM practice.

As per Barron & Kenny (1986) recommendations, the result partially supported hypothesis H1c, that employee performance mediates relationship between recruitment & selection and perceived organizational performance. Main effect size reduced from ( $\beta = .362$ , p < .000 to  $\beta = .247$ , P < .000) while change in explained variance was reduced from ( $\Delta R^2 =$ .119, p < .000 to  $\Delta R^2 = .052$ , p < .001). Thus, after controlling the effect of mediator, main effects were substantially reduced; hence it is proved that employee performance sustained partial mediation between recruitment & selection and Perceived Organizational Performance.

To test hypothesis H2c, i.e., Employee performance mediate relationship between training & development and perceived organizational performance, same process was repeated to regress the model by using training and development as independent variable. Main effect size reduced from ( $\beta = .280$ , p < .000 to  $\beta = .218$ , P < .000) while change in explained variance was reduced from ( $\Delta R^2 = .069$ , p < .001 to  $\Delta R^2 = .041$ , p < .000). Thus after controlling the effect of the mediator, main effects were reduced; therefore it can be said that employee performance mediates the relationship between training & development and perceived organizational performance.

For testing hypothesis H3c, employee performance mediates relationship between performance appraisal and perceived organizational performance, data was regressed by using performance appraisal as independent and POP as dependent variable. Main effect was reduced from ( $\beta = .347$ , p < .000 to  $\beta = .166$ , P < .004) while change in explained variance was reduced from ( $\Delta R^2 = .107$ , p < .000 to  $\Delta R^2 = .021$ , p < .004). By controlling effect of mediator, main effects were substantially reduced in all three areas ( $\beta$ , p, and  $\Delta R^2$ ). Therefore, it can be said that employee performance mediates the relationship between performance appraisals and Perceived Organizational Performance. According to the argument developed by Barron & Kenny (1986) substantial mediation is proved for this model. To test hypothesis H4c, employee performance mediates relationship between career planning system and perceived organizational performance. Using career planning system as independent variable regression was again applied. It was observed that main results were reduced from ( $\beta = .280$ , p < .000 to  $\beta = .094$ , P value was (ns) not significant) while change in explained variance was reduced from ( $\Delta R^2 = .071$ , p < .000 to  $\Delta R^2 = .007$ , p = ns). In this test main effects were substantially reduced in all three areas ( $\beta$ , p, and  $\Delta R^2$ ). Therefore according to Barron & Kenny (1986) full mediation of employee performance was proved between career planning system and Perceived Organizational Performance.

For testing hypothesis H5c, employee performance mediates relationship between employee participation and perceived organizational performance, using compensation system as independent variable, the equation was regressed and identified that the main effect was reduced from ( $\beta = .310$ , p = .000 to  $\beta = .189$ , P < .01) while change in explained variance was reduced from ( $\Delta R^2 = .079$ , p =. 000 to  $\Delta R^2 = .028$ , p < .01). By controlling the effect of the mediator, main effects were substantially reduced in all three areas ( $\beta$ , p,  $\Delta R^2$ ). Therefore it can be said that employee performance mediates the relationship between employee participation and Perceived Organizational Performance. According to the argument developed by Barron & Kenny (1986) substantial mediation is proved between employee participation and Perceived Organizational Performance due to employee performance.

To test hypothesis H6c, employee performance mediates relationship between compensation system and Perceived Organizational Performance data was regressed. It was observed that the main effect size was reduced from ( $\beta = .213$ , p < .001 to  $\beta = .152$ , P < .05), while change in explained variance was reduced from ( $\Delta R^2 = .048$ , p < .001 to  $\Delta R^2 = .024$ , p < .05). Main effects were minutely reduced; therefore it can be generalized that there is very little mediation between compensation system and Perceived Organizational Performance due to employee performance.

Altogether the results are supporting fully or partially all six-hypotheses H1c, H2c, H3c, H4c, H5c, and H6c.

#### 4.2 Scatter plots:

Scatter diagram is used to study the relationship between two variables. It shows what happens to one variable when the other variable changes.

For finding the relationship between variables, each pair of independent-dependent variables is plotted in graphical shape, using X-axis for independent and Y-axis for dependent variables. There is positive and linear relationship amongst all the variables with perceived organizational performance, therefore the points in the scatter diagrams are showing a tendency around a straight line.

Scatter plots are indicating visible pattern of how two factors vary simultaneously. The trend of scatter plots is that of upward straight line, which shows direct positive correlation between the two variables. In figures (4.1, 4.2, 4.3, 4.4, 4.5 and 4.6) scatter plots are developed between HRM practices (recruitment & selection, training & development, performance appraisal, career planning system, employee participation and compensation system) with Perceived Organizational Performance, showing significantly positive relationship. The relationship of different independent variables, with financial performance indicators (Marris, Tobin's Q, ROE and ROA) as dependent variables are shown in figure (4.7 to 4.3) in (Annexure II). Most of the relationships with financial performance indicators are not significant.



Figure 4.0: Scatter Diagram: OP as dependent variable

## CHAPTER 5

## SUMMARY, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

This chapter pursuit's discussion on major findings with regards to the previous findings in other studies, implications of the findings for management practices, contributions of the current study and finally, the limitations of the study are discussed.

#### 4.3 Discussion of Findings

The first research question was about relationships of different demographics such as age, gender, education, experience, industry type, organization life and number of employees variables with perceived organizational and financial performances. The analyses indicated that some demographic variables had significant relationship with perceived organizational performance and with organizational financial performance indicators. Each of the selected demographic variables has been discussed in the proceeding.

The age demonstrated no significant relationship with perceived organizational and financial performance matching with Karatepe et al. (2006); who found nonsignificant relationship of these variables with performance. Gender is significantly and positively correlated with Perceived Organizational Performance, contrary to the findings of Karatepe et al. (2006); but it is not correlated with any one of the financial performance indicators. According to the results, the organizational performance is significantly effected by gender type responses, education shows significant difference in perceived organizational performance, but insignificantly correlated with ROE, contrary to the findings of Karatepe et al. (2006); who found negative relationship between education level and employee performance. In this study majority of the respondents working in HRM field, had Masters or M. Phil degree, which appeared to be a healthy sign. This trend might bring new changes and innovative styles in HRM systems. Experience of the respondents showed no significant relationship with perceived and financial performances of the organization. Organizational life indicated positive correlation with one financial performance indicator, Marris Ratio, but it did not have significant correlation with others. With Marris Ratio, the number of employees in the

organization also had significant and positive relationship but insignificant correlation with rest of the variables.

The findings of this study suggested that demographic variables play relatively minor part towards perceived organizational and financial performances. The research study was carried out in order to examine the relationship and impact of human resource practices and demographics on organizational performance index comprised on, Perceived Organizational Performance, Marris Ratio, Tobin's Q, Return on Equity and Return on Assets in financial sector industries.

The second research question was about inter-relationship between HRM practices and organization performance. Although results indicated no correlation between HRM practices and organizational financial performance indicators i.e. Marris Ratio, Tobin's Q, Return on Equity and Return on Assets, yet there was a positively significant correlation between HRM practices and Perceived Organizational Performance.

Recruitment & selection, based on well-defined merit and unprejudiced system developed through managerial expert opinions, using standardized test to scrutinize the exact required attitude, skills and knowledge in potential candidates showed notable significant correlation with employee performance and Perceived Organizational Performance. Results were similar to the findings of Holzer (1987), Sels et al. (2003), Datta (2003), Singh (2004), Katou (2008) and also support the argument of Tseng et al. (2009) that identification of the right candidate with required skills to perform the job for achieving organizational performance is the output of sophisticated selection system.

Training & development programs in organizations based on training need assessment, performance appraisal, customization and practically applicable with skills imparting capability are indicating positive correlation with employee performance and Perceived Organizational Performance. These results were similar to the findings of (Russell, et al. 1985; Arthur, 1994; Huselid, 1995; Wan, et al. 2002; Patrick, et al. 2003; Sels, et al. 2003; Singh, 2004; Katou, 2008; Tseng, et al. 2009). Their findings supported the argument that training was an expensive activity but it could give different advantages i.e. improved employees performance, increased productivity and employee development.

There is a significant relation between Perceived Organizational Performance and performance appraisal system, that seems based on focused counseling, employee feed back, transparent disbursement of bonuses, performance based promotions, training selections and clarity of objectives. Results are similar to the findings of (Thompson, 1998; Wan, et al. 2002; Sels, et al. 2003; Singh, 2004; Katou, 2008; Shahzad, et al. 2008; and Tseng, et al. 2009).

A perception that the Career Planning System (CPS) is significantly correlated with employee performance and Perceived Organizational Performance is true if, the Career Planning System is based on clear career ladder, aligned goals with organizational vision, used for succession planning, transparent internal hiring, and equal unambiguous employment opportunity.

Employee participation related to decision-making process based on opportunities to make company and self related decisions, suggestion collection for the betterment of organization and employee wellbeing as also on appreciation strategy has significant positive correlation with employee performance and perceived organizational performance. Results partially match with the findings of (Bryson, 1999; Addison, et al. 2001 & 2000; Singh, 2004; Katou, 2008; Tseng, et al. 2009; and Budhwar, et al. 2010).

Compensation system based on expectancy of employees, comparable with market packages, competency based, performance based, profit sharing based mechanism, covering both financial and non financial dimensions, is positively correlated with employee performance and perceived organizational performance. (Singh, 2004; Shahzad, et al. 2008; Katou, 2008; Qureshi, et al. 2009; Tseng, et al. 2009; and Budhwar, et al. 2010) also had similar findings.

Findings of this research study match with findings of (Arthur, 1994; Huselid, 1995; Huselid & Becker, 1996; Kelley, 1996; Ulrich, 1997a; Patterson, et al. 1997; Hoque, 1999; Khatri, 2000; Cappelli and Newmark 2001; Kaplan & Atkinson, 2001; Wan, et al. 2002; Batt, 2002; Sels, et al. 2003;Purcell, et al. 2003; Paul & Anantharaman, 2003; Deepak. et al. 2003; Singh, 2004; Pfeffer, 1994; Tzafrir, 2005; Huselid, 1995; Cho, Woods, Jang, & Erdem, 2006; Qureshi, et al. 2009; Tseng, et al. 2009; and Budhwar, et al. 2010).

The third research question was intended to determine the degree to which different HRM practices predicted perceived organization and financial performance. Results of multiple regression analysis showed weak predictions of organizational financial performance but strong perceived organizational performance. Results indicated that the six different HRM practices predicted perceived performance with high level of significance and substantial beta values. Career planning was significant with Tobin's Q, compensation system was significant with Return on Equity; however the training and development contributed marginally towards Return on Assets.

Recruitment & selection has significant impact on perceived organizational performance. Training & development has significant impact on Perceived Organizational Performance and Return on Assets (ROA). Performance appraisal system has significant and positive impact on Perceived Organizational Performance. Career planning system is showing significant impact on Perceived Organizational Performance and Tobin's Q. Employee participation has significant and substantial impact on Perceived Organizational Performance. Compensation system has significant and positive impact on Perceived Organizational Performance. Compensation system has significant and positive impact on Perceived Organizational Performance.

The fourth research question was about the impact of HRM practices on performance of different industries. Multiple regression models were tested to analyze data separately for each industry. The results indicated that recruitment & selection had positive and significant impact on perceived performance of banking, insurance, leasing and investment industries. Additionally, it showed positive impact on Marris Ratio and Return on Assets (ROA) of modaraba and banking industries accordingly.

Training and development has positive impact on perceived performance in banking and insurance industries. Performance appraisal has positive impact on perceived performance of banking, insurance and modaraba industries. Furthermore, it has positive impact on Marris Ratio of modaraba industry. The career planning system has positive impact on perceived performance of banking and insurance industries. Employee participation has positive impact on perceived performance of banking, insurance and modaraba industries besides generating positive impact on Marris Ratio, Tobin's Q and on Return on Equity of modaraba, insurance and leasing industries. Compensation system has positive impact on perceived performance of banking, insurance and modaraba
industries, on Marris Ratio of insurance and modaraba industries, on Tobin's Q and Return on Assets of Insurance industry.

The fifth research question was about mediating role of employee performance between HRM practices and Perceived Organizational Performance.

Mediation regression analysis proved mediation between different HRM practices and Perceived Organizational Performance. Employee performance when treated as mediator showed partial mediation between recruitment & selection and Perceived Organizational Performance. Very little mediation has been proved between training & development and POP, substantial mediation has been proved between performance appraisal and POP, full mediation has been proved between career planning system and POP, satisfactory mediation has been proved between employee participation and POP, but there was little mediation between the compensation system and POP.

Perceived Organizational Performance in the financial sector measured through (quality of products or services, development of new products or services, ability to attract employees, ability to retain employees, satisfaction of customers and relations between management and employees, marketing activities, growth in sales, profitability and increase in the market share of the organizations) was tested with different six HRM practices. Delery & Doty 1996 said that larger exercise of specific HRM practices would always result in improved organizational performance. The results of this study were in conformity with the above findings. The sample represented organizations drawn from a variety of domestic industry sectors and from different geographical locations in the country. So the results were applicable to all geographical locations.

#### 4.4 **Contribution of the Current Study**

This study is unique in nature due to a variety of reasons. Human Resource Management practices have been linked with Perceived Organizational Performance and perceived market performance without considering employee performance in numerous studies, but the question is that how does employee performance play mediation role. This question has been tested in this research and mediation has been proved between different HRM practices and perceived organizational performance. Very few studies have tested the correlation and impact of HRM practices on organizational financial performance. Some researchers tested the company's internal financial measures (ROE & ROA) as well. In this study the Organizational Performance Index (OPI) has been created by measuring organizational performance through five different indicators; Perceived Organizational Performance, Marris Ratio, Tobin's Q, Return on Equity (ROE), and Return on Assets (ROA). Researchers studied HRM practices and organizational performance, but comparison of different sectors was not made. Impact of HRM practices on different performance indicators in different industries and comparative analysis is another unique feature of this study.

This study is an addition to earlier research efforts in understanding the relationship between organizational performance and HRM practices. The study provides new dimensions in the research of management by opening a debate on the importance of HRM practices in organizational performance. Statistically significant correlations and regression results were indicated that different HRM practices, such as recruitment & selection, training & development, performance appraisal, employee participation, career planning system and compensation system are significantly related and make positive contributions towards perceived organizational performance.

This study is also significant for the reasons that employee performance has been tested as mediator with organizational performance index consisting of perceived organizational performance, Marris Ratio, Tobin's Q, ROE and ROA dependent variables. Data obtained from organizations through the questionnaires were in the shape of perceptual measures about effective HRM practices, employee performance and organizational performance. Normally, instead of perceptual measures, the objective measures are more desirable and they are particularly more consistent. This study has thus considered both types of variables. Additionally, it appears that demographic variables of gender type and education have statistically significant role in organizational performance.

#### 4.5 Implication for Management

• Empirical facts support the analysis, that HRM practices can manipulate perceived organizational performance and employee performance plays a mediation role between HRM practices and perceived organizational performance. Organizations interested in their development and growth ought to adopt transparent procedures

for recruitment & selection of human resource on competency basis. Similarly for creating high level of organizational commitment and company ownership with high quality service and productivity, the comprehensive training & development programs need to be arranged to update employee skills for meeting the challenges of contemporary competitiveness. Organizational performance needs appropriate employee handling so that they stay in the company. It needs a suitable career planning system. For making effective decision-making the employees should be given adequate chances of participation in decision-making, because sometimes, employees know, what the management does not. Most of the organizations in Pakistan do not see employee participation as a catalyst to better employee performance and thereby higher financial growth. This research is indicating that it is one of the major contributory tools towards performance. Compensation is the reward for which majority of the people work. If it is paid on time, on merit and comparable with market packages, then it makes employees feel happier and they contribute more. The study indicated that the organizations that make use of effective HRM practices on a wider scale generate higher performance.

- Organizations should establish a process of identifying Return on Recruitment & Selection System (RORS), Return on Training & Development system (ROTD), Return on Career Planning System (ROCP), Return on Performance Appraisal System (ROPA), Return on Employee Participation system (ROEP), and Return on Compensation system (ROC).
- Organizations should think about launching a proper procedure for monitoring the implementation of HRM practices to gain higher performance.
- Organizations should also consider designing HRM practices with focus on employee performance.

#### 4.6 Limitations of the Study

Results of this study may be viewed with the following limitations in mind.

• Although out of a sample of 350 as many as 274 (78%) responded from 5 different industries of the financial sector. This sample size is not large to reflect the factual

image of the organizations functioning in Pakistan especially in the context of measuring the relationship between effective HRM Practices and Organizational Performance Index (OPI) based upon perceived organizational performance, Marris Ratio, Tobin's Q, Return on Equity and Return on Assets.

- This study considered only listed companies with the Karachi Stock Exchange, while the non-registered and defaulting firms were ignored. Therefore, the results may not be generalized over the entire market.
- Only six HRM practices (recruitment & selection, training & development, career planning system, performance appraisal, employee participation and compensation system) have been used for this study. The remaining practices like job analysis, orientation, motivation, job rotation, job description have been ignored.
- Respondents' consideration of English as a foreign language could have affected the responses.

#### 4.7 Directions for Future Research

This research is indicating that certain HRM practices can influence organizational performance, but it does not shed light on the mechanisms through which this can be accomplished. Future research directions may include:

- Longitudinal studies to establish a causal relationship between variables.
- Since the study was conducted by selecting HRM professionals as respondents, other employees working in the organization can also be interviewed about HRM practices, by asking different questions regarding how they feel about HRM practices and their implementation because they are the real stakeholders of these practices.
- To enhance external validity, the future research efforts may obtain a bigger sample size from other organizations and industries as well.
- The relationship with HRM practices adopted by bankrupt companies can also be studied.

• Further research is needed to authenticate the validity and reliability of the tools outside Pakistan and to assist making a generalization that HRM practices positively impact on organizational performance.

#### 4.8 Conclusion

Organizations having transparent selection systems, adequately scheduled training programs and employee participation in decision-making are high performers. These organizations become attractive for local and foreign investors for further investment that contributes considerable growth in the economic activities in Pakistan. Since the employee performance is contributing the mediating role between HRM practices and POP, hence the motivating HRM practices can enhance their performance that increase company performance.

#### REFERENCES

- Aelbaum, S.H., H. Ayre, & B.T. Shapiro, (2002). Career management in information technology: a case study. *Career Development International*, 7(3), 142 - 158.
- Alberto, B.M., & M.C. Javier, (2002). Human Resource Management, Strategy and Operational Performance in the Spanish Manufacturing Industry. *Management*, 5(3), 175-199.
- Annette Cox, Stefan Zagelmehyer and ick Marchington (2006). Embedding employee invement and participation at work, *Human Resource Management Journal*, 16(3), 250-267.
- Arthur, J.B. (1994). Effects of human resources systems on manufacturing performance and turnover. *Academy of Management Journal*, 37, 670-87.
- Arthur, (1992). The Link Between Business Strategy and Industrial Relations Systems in American Steel Minimills, *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, 45(4), 488-506.
- Arthur, W., W. Bennet, P.S. Edens, and S.T. Bell, (2003). Effectiveness of training in organizations: a meta-analysis of design and evaluation features, *Journal of Alied Psychology*, 88, 234-245.
- Babbie, Earl R. (1998). The Practice of social research. Wadsworth Pub. Co. (Belmont, CA)
- Baird, Lloyd & I. Meshoulam, (1988). Managing two fits of strategic human resource management. Academy of Management Review, 13 (1), 116-128.
- Baldwin, T.T. & M.Y. Padgett, (1994). Management Development: A Review and Commentary, in C. L. Cooper and I. T. Robertson (eds), *Key Reviews in Managerial Psychology (New York: Wiley)*, 270–320.
- Barney, J. (1991). Firm resources and sustained competitive advantage, *Journal of Management*, 17, 99-129.
- Barney, J.B. (1995). Looking inside for competitive advantage. *The Academy of Management Executive*, 9(4), 49- 61.
- Barrick, M.R. & M.K. Mount, (1991). The Big Five personality dimensions and job performance: A Meta-analysis, *Personnel Psychology*, 44, 1-26.
- Barrick, M.R., M.K. Mount, & J.P. Strauss, (1993). Autonomy as a moderator of the relationships between the Big Five personality dimensions and job performance, *Journal of Allied Psychology*, 78, 111-118.
- Bartel, A. (1994). Productivity gains from the implementation of employee training programs. *Industrial Relations*, 33, 411-125.

- Batt, Rosemary, J.S. Alexander, Colvin and Jeffrey Keefe, (2002). Employee Voice, Human Resource Practices, and Quit Rates: Evidence from the Telecommunications Industry, *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, 55(4), 573-594.
- Batt, Rosemary, and Lisa Moynihan, (2002). The Viability of Alternative Call Center Production Models, *Human Resource Management Journal*. 10.
- Bau F & J.M. Dowling, (2007). An Empirical Study of Reward and Incentive Systems in German Entrepreneurial Firms, *Schmalenbach Business Review*, 59, 160-175.
- Becker, B.M., P.P. Huselid, & M. Spratt, (1997). HR as a source of shareholder value: Research and recommendations. *Human Resources Management Journal*, 311, 1-8.
- Becker, B.M, & B. Gerhart, (1996). The impact of human resources management on organizational performance: Progress and prospects. Academy of Management Journal, 39, 779-801.
- Beer, M., S. Bert, R.L. Paul Mills, & R.E. Walton, (1984). Managing human assets, *New York: Free Press.*
- Beom Cheol Peter Kim, Suzanne K. Murrmann, Gyumin Lee, (2009). Moderating effects of gender and organizational level between rolestress and job satisfaction among hotel employees, *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 28,612-619.
- Black, E. Sandra, and Lisa M. Lynch, (2001). How to Compete: The Impact of Workplace Practices and Information Technology on Productivity, *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 83(3), 434-445.
- Blinder, Alan S & Choi, H.Don, (1990), A Shred of Evidence on Theories of Wage Stickiness, *The Quarterly Journal of Economics, MIT Press*, 105(4), 1003-1015.
- Boselie, P. & J. Paauwe, R., Richardson, (2004). Human Resource Management, Institutionalization and Organizational Performance: A Comparison of Hospitals, Hotels and Local Government, *Erim Report Series Research in Management*.
- Brief, A. & R.J. Aldag, (1977). The intrinsic-extrinsic dichotomy: Toward conceptual clarity, *Academy of Management Review*, 2, 496-500.
- Brown, P.B. (2005). The eving role of strategic management development, *Journal of Management Development*, 24, 209–222.
- Bryson, (1999), Flexible employment: Managing uncertainty or managing uncertainly?", in L. Harris, J. Leopold, T. Watson T. (Eds), Pitman, 63 88.
- Budhwar, S.P. & A.A. Katou, (2010), causal relationship between HRM policies and organizational performance: Evidence from the Greek manufacturing sector. *European Management Journal* 28, 25-39.

- Budhwar, P. & P. Sparrow, (1997). Evaluating levels of strategic integration and development of human resource management in India, *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 8, 476–494.
- Campbell, J. (1990). Modeling the performance prediction problem in industrial and the impact of HR practices on the performance of business units organizational psychology, in Handbook of Industrial and Organizational Psychology (2nd ed). M. Dunnette and L. Hough (eds). Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press.
- Cappelli, P., & D. Newmark, (2001). Do "high performance" work practices improve establishment level outcome? *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, 54, 737-775.
- Chang, T.J., S.P. Yeh & I.J. Yeh, (2007). The effects of joint reward system in new product development, *International Journal of Manpower*, 28.
- Cheng, Q. & D.B. Farber, (2008). Earnings Restatements, Changes in CEO Compensation and Firm Performance, *The Accounting Review, American Accounting Association*, 83.
- Chenhall, R.H., & Langfield-Smith, (2007). Multiple perspectives of performance measures' *European Management Journal*, 25, 266-282.
- Chih-Ying Chen, (2003). Investment Opportunities and the Relation between Equity Value and Employees' Bonus, *Journal of Business Finance & Accounting*, 30(7).
- Choi, Jin Nam, (2010). The Effects of Human Resource Development Investment and Learning Practices on Innovative Performance of Organizations. UC Los Angeles: The Institute for Research on Labor and Employment. Retrieved from: http://www.escholarship.org/uc/item/6cw286pv.
- Cianni, M., & D. Wnuck, (1997). Individual growth and team enhancement: Moving toward new model of career development, *Academy of Management Executive*, 111, 105–115.
- Connie Z., (2006). The relationship between HRM and Chinese SME performance, *International Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 44, 125-137.
- Cortina, J.M., M.L. Doherty, N. Schmitt, C. Kaufman, & R.G. Smith, (1992). The big five personality factors in the IPI and MMPI predictors of police performance, *Personnel Psychology*, 45, 119-140.
- Crino, M.D. (1978). Alternative models of intrinsic and extrinsic motivation. Unpublished doctoral dissertation. *University of Florida*.
- Cronbach, L. J. (1951). Coefficient alpha and the internal structure of tests. *Psychometrika*. 16, 297-334.
- Cuieford, J.P. (1965). Fundamental Statistics in Psychology and Education (4<sup>th</sup> ed), McGraw-Hill, New York, NY.

- Cutcher-Gershenfeld, J. (1991). The impact on economic performance of transformation in workplace relations. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, 44, 241–60.
- Datt, R. & K.P.H. Sundharam, (1999). Indian economy. New Delhi:
- Chand, S., J.T. Delaney, & M.A. Huselid, (1996). The impact of human resource management practices on perceptions of organizational performance. *Academy of Management Journal*, 39, 949–69.
- Deci, E.L. (1972a). Intrinsic motivation, extrinsic reinforcement and inequity, *Journal of Personality and Psychology*, 22, 113-120.
- Deepak K.D., P.G. James, M.W. & Patrick, (2003). HRM and firm productivity: Does industry matter?. *National Academy of Management Meetings, Seattle, WA*.
- Delaney, J.T. & M.A. Huselid, (1996). The impact of human resource management practices on performance in for-profit and nonprofit organizations. *Academy of Management Journal*, 39, 949-969.
- Delaney, J.T., D. Lewin, & Ichniowski, (1989). Human resources policies and practices in American firms, US Department of Labor: US Government Printing Office.
- Delery, J.E., & D.H. Doty., (1996). Modes of theorizing in strategic human resource management: Tests of universalistic, contingency, and configurational performance predictions, *Academy of Management Journal*, 39, 802–835.
- Derek S. Chapman, Jane Webster. (2003). The Use of Technologies in the Recruiting, Screening, and Selection Processes for Job Candidates, *International Journal Of Selection And Assessment*, 11.
- Dillman, D.A. (1978). Mail and telephone surveys: The total design method. New York: Wiley, D. M., (1997). Management development. In Human resource management: A contemporary perspective, eds I. Beerdwell and L. Holden, 212–35. London: Pitman.
- Dobson, P.C., & M. Tosh, (1998). Creating a learning organization: Training and development in British Steel's universal beam mill. *Total Quality Management*, 9(4/5), 566-570.
- Dyer, L., & T. Reeves, (1995). Human resource strategies and firm performance: What do we know and where do we need to go? *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 6, 656–670.
- Ebrahim Soltani, Robert van der Meer, Terry M. Williams (2005). A Contrast of HRM and TQM Aroaches to Performance Management: Some Evidence, *British Journal of Management*, 16, .211–230
- Edgar, F., & A. Greare, (2005). HRM practice and employee attitudes: Different measures different results. *Personnel review*, 34 (5), 534-549.

- Elangovan, A. R. & L. Karakowsky, (1999). The role of trainee and environmental factors in transfer of training: an exploratory framework, Leadership and Organization *Development Journal*, 20, 268–275.
- Ettington, R.D., (1997). How human resource practices can help plateaued managers succeed, *Human Resource Management*, 36(2), 221–234.
- Fernandez, C.J., (1992). Soldier quality and job performance in team tasks, *Social Science Quarterly*, 73, 253–265.
- Fey, F. C., & I. Bjorkman, (2000). The Effect of Human Resource Management Practices on MNC, Subsidiary Performance in Russia. SSE/EFI Working Paper Series in Business Administration 6,
- Fombrun, C.J., N.M. Tichy, & M.A. Devanna, (1984) Strategic Human Resource Management, New York.
- Ford, R.C. & W.A. Randolph, (1992), Cross-functional structures: a review and integration of matrix organization and project management, Journal of Management, 18(2), 267-94.
- Francis, T. & S.J. Hannafey, (2004) Economic and Moral Criteria of Executive Compensation, *Business and Society Review*, 108(3), 405–415.
- Frost, M. (1997, May) HR Cyberspace. HR Magazine, 42, 30.
- Gallie, D., F. Alan, & G. Francis, (2001). Employer policies and organizational commitment in Britain 1992-1997, *Journal of Management Studies*, 38(8), 1082-1101.
- Garry, A.G. & I. Mark, (2003). The Impact of Human Resource Management and Work Climate on Organizational Performance, *Personnel Psychology*, 56, 383-404.
- Gerhart, B. (2005). Human resources and business performance: Findings, unanswered questions, and an alternative approach. *Management Review*, 16, 174-185.
- Gerhart, B., & G.T. Milkovich, (1992). Employee compensation: Research and practice. In Handbook of industrial an organizational psychology, eds M.D. Dunnette and L.M. Hough, 3, 481–569. Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press.
- Gilliland, S.W. (1993). The perceived fairness of selection systems: An organizational justice perspective, *Academy of Management Review*, 18, 694-734.
- Gomez-Mejia, L., & V.T. Wellbourne, (1988). Compensation strategy: An overview and future steps, *Human Resource Planning*, 11, 173–89.
- Granrose, C.S., & J.D. Portwood, (1987). Matching individual career plans and organisational career management. *Academy of Management Journal*, 30(4), 699 720.

- Grip, D.A., S. Inge, (2005). The effects of human resource management on small firms' productivity and employees' wages. *Alied Economics*, 37, 1047-1054.
- Gritz, R.M. (1993). The impact of training on the frequency and duration of employment. *Journal of Econometrics*, 57(1), 21-51.
- Guest, D.E. (2001) Human resource management: When research confronts theory. *International Journal of Human Resource Management* 12, 1092–1106.
- Guest, D.E., (1997). Human resource management and performance: A review and research agenda. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 8, 263–276.
- Guest, D.E., J. Michie, M. Sheehan, N. & Conway, (2000c). Getting inside the HRMperformance relationship, *Paper presented to the Academy of Management Conference*, Toronto.
- Guest, D.E., J. Michie, M. Sheehan, N. & Conway, (2000a). Employment relations, HRM, and business performance: An analysis of 1998 Workplace Employee Relations Survey. *London: CIPD*.
- Guest, D.E., J. Michie, M. Sheehan, N. Conway, & M. Metochi, (2000b). Effective people management: First findings from the future of work-study. *London: CIPD*.
- Guest, E.D. & R. Peccei, (1994). The nature and causes of effective human resource management, *British Journal of Industrial Relations*, 32, 219–42.
- Guzzo, R.A. (1979). Types of rewards, cognitions, and work motivation, Academy of Management Journal, 4, 75-86.
- Hackman, J. (1980). Changes views of motivation in work groups. London:
- Hall, D.T., & Associates (1986). Career development in organizations. (1st ed.). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers
- Harel, H.G. & S.S. Tzafrir, (1999). The effect of human resource management practices on the perceptions of organizational and market performance of the firm, *Human Resource Management*, .38, 185–200.
- Heller, F. (2003), Participation and power: a critical assessment, Allied Psychology: An international Review, 52, 144-163.
- Hendry, C. & A. Pettigrew, (1986). The practice of strategic human resource management, *Personnel Review*, 15(5), 3-8.
- Herr, E.L. (2001). Career development and its practice: A historical perspective, *The Career Development Quarterly*, 49(3), 196 211.
- Herriot, P. (1989) Selection as a social process. In M. Smith and I.T. Robertson (eds.), *Advances in Selection and Assessment* (171-187).

- Hersey, P. & K.H. Blanchard, K (1993), Leadership Style: Attitudes and Behaviors, Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ.
- Hesketh, A. and S. Fleetwood, (2006). Beyond Measuring the HumanResources Management–Organizational Performance Link: *Applying Critical Realist Meta-Theory, Organisation, 12(5), 677-699.*
- Hewitt, (2004). Strategies for improving your HR Bottom Line. Research Highlights Europe, Study, Hewitt Associates.
- Holzer, H. J. (1987). Hiring procedures in the firm: Their economic determinants and outcomes. In Human resources and firm performance, eds M.M. Kleiner, R.N. Block, M. Roomkin and S.W. Salsburg. Washington DC: BNA Press.
- Hosie, P., N. Forster, & P. Sevastos, (2004). The Impact of Global Pressures on the Affective Well-Being of Australian Managers' Performance, Research and Practice in Human Resource Management, 12(1), 134-171.
- Husain, I. (2003). Human Resource Management in practice, A case study of State Bank of Pakistan. *Chief Guest address at the National Conference on Human Resources held at Islamabad.*
- Huselid, M A, S.E. Jackson, & R.S. Schuler, (1997) Technical and strategic human resource management effectiveness as determinants of firm performance, *Academy of Management Journal*, 40(1) 171–88.
- Huselid, M., & B. Becker, (1996). Methodological issues in cross-sectional research and panel estimates of the human resource performance link, *Industrial Relations*, 35, 400–422.
- Huselid, M.A., & B. Becker, (1995). High performance work systems and organizational performance, *Paper presented at the annual meeting of the Academy of Management*, Vancouver.
- Huselid, M.A. (1995). The impact of human resource management practices on turnover, productivity, and corporate financial performance, *Academy of Management Journal*, 38, 635–72.
- Huselid, M.A., S.E Jackson, & R.S. Schuller, (1997). Technical and strategic human resource management effectiveness as determinants of firm performance, Academy of Management Journal, 40(1), 171–186.
- Ichniowski, C., & S. Kathryn, (1999). The effects of human resource management systems on economic performance: an international comparison of U.S. and Japanese plants, *Management Science*, 45(5), 704-721.
- Ichniowski, C., T.A. Kochan, D. Levine, C. Olson, & G. Strauss, G. (1996). What works at work: overview and assessment, *Industrial Relations*, 35(3), 299-333.

- Ichniowski, C., K. Shaw, & G. Prenunshi, (1995). The effect of human resources practices on productivity: *NBER working paper 5333*.
- In: Blinder, A. (ed.), Paying for Productivity. Brookings Institution, Washington, 183 236.
- Jackson, S.E. & R.S. Schuler, (1992). HRM practices in service-based organizations: A role theory perspective, *Advances in Services Marketing and Management*, 1, 123-157.
- James, T. (1969). "Money and Income: Post Hoc Ergo Propter Hoc?," Cowles Foundation Discussion Papers 283, Cowles Foundation, Yale University.
- Jeffrey H. Greenhaus, Saroj Parasuraman & Wayne Wormley (Mar., 1990), Effects of Race on Organizational Experiences, Job Performance Evaluations, and Career Outcomes, *The Academy of Management Journal*, 33,(1), 64-86
- Jindal-Snape, D. & J.B. Snape, (2006). Motivation of scientists in a government research institute, *Scientists' perceptions and the role of management*, 44 (10), 1325-1343.
- John H. Humphreys, & Walter Einstein (2004), Leadership and temperament congruence: extending the expectancy model of work motivation, *Journal of Leadership & amp; Organizational Studies*.
- John Purcell, (2003). Understanding the People and Performance Link, *Unlocking the Black Box (CIPD)*.
- Kapel, C., & C. Shepherd, (2004). Career ladders create common language for defining jobs, *Canadian HR Reporter*, 14(12), 15-16.
- Katou, A.A. & P. S. Budhwar, (2010), Causal relationship between HRM policies and organizational performance: Evidence from the Greek manufacturing sector. *European Management Journal*, 28, 25–39.
- Katou A.A. (2008), Measuring the impact of HRM on organizational performance, *Journal of Industrial Engineering and Management*. 1(2), 119-142.
- Kaye, B. (2005). Build a culture of development, Leadership Excellence, 22(3), 18.
- Kelley & Maryellen, (1996). Participative Bureaucracy and Productivity in the Machined Products Sector. *Industrial Relations 35, 374–399*.
- Kerlinger, F.N. & H.B. Lee, (2000, 4th Ed). Foundations of behavioral research. Wadsworth.
- Kessler, I. and P. Heron, (2006). The fragmentation of pay determination in the British civil service, *A union member perspective*, .35(1), 6-28.
- Kirkpatrick, D. L. (1998). Evaluating training programs. The four levels, San Francisco: Berrett-Koehler.

- KIuger, A.N. & A. DeNisi, (1996). The effects of feedback interventions on performance: A historical review, a meta-analysis, and a preliminary feedback intervention theory, *Psycholoeical Bulletin*, 119, 254 - 284.
- Krishna, A., & A. Monaa, (1994). Economic restructuring and human resource management, *Indian Journal of Industrial Relations*, .29(4)), 490–501.
- Lado, A.A., & C.M. Wilson, (1994). Human resource systems and sustained competitive advantage: A competency based perspective, *Academy of Management Review*, 19, 699–727.
- Law, K.S., D.K. Tse, & N. Zhou, (2003). Does human resource management matter in a transitional economy? China as an example, *Journal of International Business Studies. Washington*, .34, 32-55.
- Lawler, EE 111. (1971). Pay and organizational effectiveness: A psychological view. New York McGraw-Hill.
- Lawler, EE 111. (1981) Pay and organization development. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley.
- Lawler, III, E. E. (2005). From human resource management to organizational effectiveness. *Human Resource Management*, 44(2), 165-169.
- Legge, K. (1995). Human resource management: Rhetorics and realities. *London: Macmillan Business*.
- Leibowitz, Z.B., C. Farren, & B.L. Kaye, (1986). Designing career development systems. (1st ed.). San Francisco: *Jossey-Bass Publishers*.
- Levine, D., L. Tyson, (1990). Participation, Productivity, and the Firm's Environment. In: Blinder, A. (ed.), Paying for Productivity. *Brookings Institution, Washington, 183 – 236*.
- Macduffie, J.P. (1995) 'Human resource bundles and manufacturing performance: Flexible production systems in the world auto industry'. *Industrial Relations and Labor Review*, 48, 197–221.
- March, James G. & Herbert A. Simon (1966), Organizations, New York: Wiley and Sons.
- Marchington, M. (2001) 'Employee involvement at work', in Storey, J. (ed.) *Human Resource Management: A Critical Text.* 2nd edition. London: Thomson Learning.
- Martell, K., & J.S. Carroll, (1995). How strategic HRM is, *Human Resource Management*, 34 (2), 253.
- Martell, K., & J.S. Carroll, (1995). Which executive human resource management practices for the top management team are associated with higher firm performance? , *Human Resource Management*, 34(4), 497–512.

- Martin, A.F., F.P. Romero, C.R. Valle, & S.L. Dolan, (2001). Corporate business strategy, career management and recruitment: Do Spanish firms adhere to contingency model? , *Career Development International*, 6(3), 149-155.
- McDaniels, C. & N.C. Gysbers, (1992). Counseling for career development. (1st ed.). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- McEvoy, M.G. (1997). Organizational change and outdoor management education, *Human Resource Management*, 36 (2), 235 –50.
- Melissa, B. Frye (2004). Equity based compensation for employees: firm performance and determinants, *The Journal of Financial Research*, 27(1), 31-54.
- Milgrom, P. & J. Roberts, (1993). Complementarities and fit: Strategy, structure and organizational change. *Working paper, Stanford University, Stanford, CA*.
- Milkovich, G.T, & J.M. Newman, (1996). Compensation (5th ed.). Homewood, IL: Irwin.
- Milkovich, T.G. & W.J. Boudreau, (1998). Human resource management. 8th edn. Boston: Irwin.
- Mohammed Asad Shareef, Al-Emadi & Michael J. Marquardt (2007), Relationship between employees' beliefs regarding training benefits and employees' organizational commitment in a petroleum company in the State of Qatar, *International Journal of Training and Development*, 11(1), 49-70.
- Morgan, P. J. (2001). HR practices for high performance organizations, *Foundation for* sustainable economic development.
- Moser, K. (2005). Recruitment Sources and Post-Hire Outcomes: The Mediating Role of Unmet Expectations, *International Journal of Selection and Assessment*, 13(3), 188-197.
- Ng, S.H. (1982), Power and intergroup discrimination, in Tajfel, H. (Ed.), Social Identity and Intergroup Relations, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 179-206.
- Ng, Y.C. & N.Y.M. Siu, (2004). Training and enterprise performance in transition: evidence from China, *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 15(4/5), 878-894.
- Noe, R.A. (1986). Trainees' attributes and attitude: Neglected influence on training effectiveness, *Academy of Management Review*, 11, 736-749.
- Noe, R.A. & B.D. Steffy, (1987). The influence of individual characteristics and assessment center evaluation on career exploration behavior and job involvement, *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 30, 187-202.
- Noe, R.A. & S.L. Wilk, (1993). Investigation of the factors that influence employees participation in development activities, Journal *of Alied Psychology*, 78, 291-302.

- Noe, R.A., A.W. Noe, & J.A. Bachhuber, (1990). An investigation of the correlates of career motivation, *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 37, 340-356.
- Noe, R.A. (1986). Trainee's attributes and attitudes: Neglected influence on training effectiveness, *Academy of Management Review*, 11(4), 736-749.
- Nordhaug, O. (1989). Reward functions of personnel training. *Human Relations*, 42(5), 373-388.
- Nyhan, R.C. (2000), Changing the paradigm: trust and its role in public sector organizations, *American Review of Public Administration*, 30(1), 87-109.
- Pakistan Economic Survey 2007-08 issued on 10th June 2008.
- Patrick, M.W., B.D. Benjamin, & A.S. Scott, (2001). Human resources and the resource based view of the firm, *Journal of Management*, 701-721.
- Patrick, M.W., M.G., Timothy, & Lisa, M.M. (2003). The impact of HR practices on the performance of business units, *Human Resource Management Journal*, 13(3), 21-36.
- Pedro Ort'In-'Angel & Vicente Salas-Fuma, (2007). Compensation Dispersion Between and Within Hierarchical Levels, *Journal of Economics & Management Strategy*, 53-79.
- Peter Cappelli & David Neumark, (2001) Do 'High Performance'' Work Practices Improve Establishment-Level Outcomes?, *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, July, 737-775.
- Peter, & F. Glenda, (2000). Human resources, service quality and performance: a case study, International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management, 12(4) 240.
- Pfeffer, (1998) The human equation: Building profits by putting people first, *Harvard Business School Press (Boston)*.
- Pfeffer, J. (1994). Competitive advantage through people: Unleashing the power of the work force, Boston. *Harvard Business School Press*.
- Philip, S. & K. Somboon,(1999). Human capital and performance: A literature review. Judge Institute of Management. University of Cambridge.
- Porter, L. & E.E. III. Lawler, (1968). Managerial attitudes and performance. Homewood, IL: Richard D. Irwin.
- Prince, J. B. (1996). Building performance appraisal systems consistent with TQM practices. In S. B. Knouse (ed.), *Human Resources Management Perspectives on TQM*, *Concepts and Practices*, 43-56.
- Qureshi M.I., T. Shams & R. Kashif, (2009). Relationship between Rewards and Employees Performance.

- Qureshi M.T., R.I. Mohammad, & H.T. Syed (2007), Impact of human resource management practices on organizational performance in Pakistan, Journal of Business & Policy Research, 3(2), 128-138.
- Ramaswamy, E.A., & F.B. Schiphorst, (2000). Human resource management, trade unions and empowerment: Two cases from India, *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 11(4): 664-80.
- Rosenstiel, v. Lutz, (1975). Die motivationalen Grundlagen des Verhaltens in Organisationen, Berlin: Duncker & Humblot.
- Roth, P.L. (1994). Missing data: A conceptual review for applied psychologists. *Personnel Psychology*, 47, 537-560.
- Roth, P.L., & F.S. III. Switzer, (1995). A Monte Carlo analysis of missing data techniques in an HRM setting. *Journal of Management*, 21, 1003-1023.
- Russell, J.S., J.R. Terberg, & M.L. Powers, (1985). Organizational performance and organizational level training and suort, *Personnel Psychology*, 38, 849-863.
- Rynes, S.L. (1991). Recruitment, job choice, and post-hire consequences: A call for new research directions. In M.D. Dunnette and L.M. Hough (Eds), *Handbook of industrial and organizational psychology*, 2, 399-444.
- Saratoga Institute, (2006). Key trends in human capital-- A global perspective. Retrieved 02,05, 2009,http://www.pwc.com/uk/eng/ins-sol/publ/hrs/ pwc\_keytrends\_mar06.pdf.
- Schneider, B. (1987). The people make the place. *Personnel Psychology*, 40, 437-453.
- Schuler, R.S. I.C. MacMillan, (1984). Gaining competitive advantage through human resource management practices, *Human Resource Management: 241–255*.
- Seeck, H. & M.R. Parzefall, (2008). Employee agency: Challenges and opportunities for psychological contract theory, Personnel *Review*, *37*(*5*), *473- 489*.
- Sels, L. (2003). How HRM affects corporate financial performance: Evidence from Belgian SMEs. *Working paper Steunpunt OOI*.
- Sett, P.K., (2004). Human Resource Management and Firm Level Restructuring: The South Asian Drama, Research and Practice in Human Resource Management, 12(1), 1-33.
- Shahzad, K., S. Bashir, & I.M. Ramay (2008), Impact of HR Practices on Perceived Performance of University Teachers in Pakistan, *International Review of Business Research Papers*, 4, 2 pp. 302-315.

- Shaw, J.D., E.D. John, G.J. Douglas, Jenkins, & G. Nina, (1998). An organization-level analysis of untary and inuntary turnover, *Academy of Management Journal*, 41(5), 511-525.
- Simon S.M. Yang & Allan S. Ashley (2004). Executive Compensation and Earnings Persistence, *Journal of Business Ethics* 50, 369-382.
- Singh, K. (2004). 'Impact of HR practices on perceived firm performance in India'. Asia pacific Journal of Human Resources 42(3) 301-317.
- Snell, S.A. & Youndt, M.A., (1995). Human resource management and firm performance: Testing a contingency model of executive controls, *Journal of Management*, 21(4), 711-737.
- SoonYew J, LaiKuan, K.Z.H. Hussin, & J. Kamaruzaman, (2008). The Influence of Employee Benefits Towards Organizational Commitment, *Asian Social Science CCSE*.
- Sparrow, P.R. & P. Budhwar, (1997). Competition and change: Maing the Indian HRM recipe against world wide patterns, *Journal of World Business*, 32(3), 224-242.
- Storey, J. (1987). Developments in the management of human resources: An interim report. Warwick Papers in Industrial Relations, 17. IRRU, School of Industrial and Business Studies, University of Warwick.
- Stoughton N.M. & K. PongWong (2007). Option Compensation and Industry Competition., <u>http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=385621</u>.
- Strauss, G. (1998), An overview, in Heller, F., Pusic, E., Strauss, G. and Wilpert, B. (Eds), Organizational Participation: Myth and Reality, Oxford University Press, Oxford. 8-39.
- Terpstra, D.E. & E.J. Rozell, (1993). The relationship of staffing practices to organizational level measures of performance, *Personnel Psychology*, 46, 27–48.
- Teseema, M. & J. Soeters, (2006). Challenges and prospects of HRM in developing countries: testing the HRM-performance link in Eritrean civil service, *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 17(1), 86-105.
- Tesluk, P.E., R.J. Vance, & J.E. Mathieu, (1999), Examining employee involvement in the context of participative work environments, Group Organization Management, 24, 271-299.
- Thite, M. (2001). Help us but help yourself: the paradox of contemporary career management, *Career Development International*, 6(6), 312-317.
- Thomas, Z. (2004)). Employee participation and productivity, *Labor Economics*. 11, 715-740.

- Thornburg, L. (1998). Computer-assisted interviewing shortens hiring cycle. *HR Magazine*, 43, 73–79.
- TMC news, 2009. HUL moves towards higher variable salary structure, Accessed on 05.01.2009 from <u>http://www.tmcnet.com/usubmit/2009/02/04/3964618.htm</u>.
- Tobias, S. & J.D. Fletcher, (2000). Training & Retraining: A Handbook for Business, Industry, Government, and the Military (New York: Macmillan Reference).
- Tsui, A.S., J.L. Pearce, L.W. Porter, & A.M. Tripoli, (1997) 'Alternative Approaches to the Employer-Employee Relationship: Does Investment in Employees Pay Off?', Academy of Management Journal, 40, 1089-1121.
- Turner, J.C., M.A., Hogg, P.J., Oakes, S.D., Reicher, & M.S. Wetherell, (1987). Rediscovering the Social Group. A Self-Categorization Theory, *Blackwell, Oxford*.
- Tyler, T. & S.L. Blader, (2003). The group engagement model: procedural justice, social identity, and cooperative behaviour, *Personality & Social Psychology Review*, 7, 349-362.
- Ulrich, D. & D. Lake, (1990). Organisational Capability: Competing from the inside/out., *New York: Wiley*.
- Ulrich, D. (1997). Measuring human resources: An overview of practice and a prescription for results, *Human Resource Management 36(3),303-20*.
- Ulrich, D. 1997. Measuring human resources: An overview of practice and a prescription for results. *Human Resource Management* 36(3),303-20.
- Van Yperen, N.W., A.E. van den Berg, & M.C. Willering, (1999). Towards a better understanding of the link between participation in decision-making and organizational citizenship behaviour: a multilevel analysis, *Journal of Occupational & Organizational Psychology*, 72, 377-392.
- Verma, R.M., (1995). Transformations and confluence for rewrite systems, *Theoretical Computer Science*.
- Voss C., N. Tsikriktsis, & M. Fronlich (2002). "Case research in operations management", International Journal of Operations and Production Management,
- Wagner, A.J. (1994). Participation's effects on performance and satisfaction: A reconsideration of research evidence, *Academy of Management Review*, 19, 312-30.
- Walton, R.E. (1985). Toward a strategy of eliciting employee commitment based on policies of mutuality. In R. E. Walton & P. R. Lawrence (Eds.), Human resource management: Trends and challenges, *Boston: Harvard Business School Press*.

- Wan D., V. C. Kok, & Huat, (2002). Strategic human resource management and organizational performance in Singapore, Compensation and Benefits Review Saranac, 34(4), 33.
- Wan, L.H., (2007). Human Capital development policies: enhancing employees' satisfaction, Journal of European Industrial training 31(4), 297-322.
- Weinert, Ansfried B. (1998). Organisations psychologie, Weinheim: Psychologie Verlags Union.
- White, L. & C. Doyle, (1997). Recruitment and selection in small professional firms and practices, Selection and Development Review, 13, 3-8.
- Whitener, E.M. (2001). Do "high commitment" human resource practices affect employee commitment? A cross-level analysis using hierarchical linear modeling, *Journal of Management*, 27, 515-535.
- William B. Werther. Jr and Keith Davis, Human Resource and Personnel Management 5th Edition, *McGraw-Hill Inc*.
- Wilpert, B. (1998). Aviewfrompsychology, in Heller, F., Pusic, E., Strauss, G. and Wilpert, B. (Eds), Organizational Participation: Myth and Reality, Oxford University Press, Oxford, . 40-64.
- Wright, P.M. & G.C. McMahan, (1992). Theoretical perspectives for strategic human resource management, *Journal of Management*, 18(2): 295-320.
- Ya-Fen Tseng & Tzai-Zang Lee (2009). Comparing appropriate decision support of human resource practiceson organizational performance with DEA/AHP model, *Expert Systems with Applications* 36, 6548–6558.
- Youndt, M., S., Snell, J., Dean, & D. Lepak, (1996). Human resource management, manufacturing strategy, and firm performance. *Academy of Management Journal*, 39, 836-866.
- Zwick, T. (2004). Employee participation and productivity. *Labour Economics*, 11(1), 715-740.

### **APPENDICES**

7.1 Annexure I: Questionnaire

**HRM Survey** 

## A case of Financial Sector listed companies

2008

## Impact of Human Resource Management (HRM) Practices on

## Organizational Performance in Pakistan

Dear Respondent!

I am conducting a research on 'Impact of Human Resource Management Practices on Organizational Performance' and have designed this questionnaire to collect data from HRM professionals working in the vicinity of various financial sector organizations. The data collected will be used and reported in aggregate form; no individual responses will be referred to or quoted. The information you furnish will be treated as confidential.

The objective of this research survey is to identify and explain the extent of HRM Practices in the organizations of Pakistan and their impact on organizational performance. The results of this study will facilitate the organizations to address their growth and performance and will help to design effective HRM strategies for future goals achievement.

You are requested to take 25 minutes out of your busy schedule to fill this questionnaire that comprises two parts. Please fill both parts completely. Your cooperation is highly appreciated. If you need findings of this research please send a request to tahirmasood2002@hotmail.com, tq@tahirmasood.com

Tahir Masood, PhD ScholarDepartment of Business Administration, Faculty of Management SciencesInternational Islamic University Islamabad (IIUI)Block 2, Sector H-10, Islamabad, Pakistanwww.tahirmasood.com,Tel: +92 (0) 345 5090550, +92 (0)51 9019463

## Part A

Please provide the following information.

## **Organizational Information**

Name of the organization:
Industry Type/Name:
Life of organization (in years):
No. of employees in the organization:

## **Personal Information**

Gender:
Age:
Education in years:
Total professional experience:
Email:
Phone:
Postal Address

#### Part B

Please encircle the appropriate number against each statement, according to the scale given below.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Somewhat Disagree	Indifferent/Natural	Somewhat Agree	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4	5	6	7

#### **Organizational Performance**

How would you compare your organization's performance over the past five years in comparison with other organizations in the same industry, in relation to the following;

- 01. Quality of our products/services has been improved.
- 02. Development of new products or services is a major activity in our organization.
- 03. Organizational ability to attract employees has improved.
- 04. Ability to retain employees is a major strength of our organization.
- 05. Satisfaction of customers/clients is preferred concern of our organization
- 06. Management and employees are having trustful relationship with each other.
- 07. Market Share of organization has been increased.
- 08. Our company has better standing in the market now, as compared to last 5 years.
- 09. Organizations' shares are improving in the stock exchange.
- 10. My organization sets SMART targets for the employees.

1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
$\Box$ 1	$\Box 2$	3	4	5	6	7

#### **Employee performance**

- 11. Quantity of our employees' work output has improved in last five years.
- 12. Coming up with new ideas is appreciated in our organization.
- 13. Most of the employees achieved organizational goals of last 5 years.
- 14. Targets given to different employees often met.
- 15. Over all employees targets achievements has improved over the last 5 years.
- 16. Employees feel happy to work in teams.
- 17. Majority of our employees can work independently and they give high performance.
- 18. Employees in our organization have been enabled to make decisions well.
- 19. Employees' communication skills have been improved in this organization.
- 20. Employees' competencies are in line with the organizational operational and strategic goals.

#### **Recruitment & Selection**

- 21. Recruitment & selection system followed in our organization is well defined
- 22. In our organization, line managers and HR managers participate in recruitment & selection
- 23. Valid and standardized tests are used in the selection process of employees
- 24. Selection system in our organization selects those having the desired knowledge, skills and attitudes [
- 25. Our organization uses comprehensive selection process before rendering a decision
- 26. The organization uses assessment centers for selection
- 27. Our organization uses unbiased test and interviewing techniques for employee selection
- 28. Our organization selects employees without any bias
- 29. We have strong merit criteria for employee selection
- 30. We use attitude and desire to work in a team and individual as a criterion in employee selection

1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1	2	3	4	5	6	□ 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1	2	3	4	5	6	7

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
les	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	1	2	3	4	5	6	□7
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	1	2	3	4	5	6	□7
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

#### Training & Development (T&D)

- 31. Our organization conducts extensive (T&D) programs for Employees
- 32. Employees at each job normally go through T&D programs every year
- 33. Training needs are identified through a formal performance appraisal mechanism
- 34. There are formal training programs to teach new employees the skills they needed
- 35. Trainings need identified are realistic, useful and based on the organizational strategy
- 36. There are formal training evaluation methods to assess the effectiveness of the training
- 37. The organization has a system for calculating the cost and benefit of training
- 38. T&D has helped reduce employee turnover in our organization
- 39. T&D has resulted in higher employee performance in our organization
- 40. T&D has resulted in higher productivity and financial returns for the organization

#### **Performance Appraisal**

- 41. Performance of the employees is measured on the basis of objectives and quantifiable results
- 42. Appraisal system in our organization is growth and development oriented
- 43. Employees are provided performance based feedback and counseling
- 44. Appraisal system is unbiased and transparent
- 45. Appraisal information is used for bonuses, promotions and selected training
- 46. Everybody working in the organization knows clear objectives of performance appraisal
- 47. Appraisal system is modern and uses the latest techniques and technology
- 48. Appraisal system has a strong influence on individual and team behavior
- 49. Our organization conducts performance appraisal on a regular bases
- 50. In our company, performance appraisal is not used for penalization

1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<u></u> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<u>7</u>

1	2	3	4	□5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
$\Box 1$	$\Box 2$	□ 3	$\Box 4$	$\Box 5$	$\Box 6$	$\Box 7$

#### **Career Planning & Development**

- 51. Employees at each level in our organization have clear career ladder
- 52. Employees at each level in our organization are aware about their career ladder
- 53. Organizational and individual growth needs are aligned in this organization
- 54. Our organization takes career planning and succession planning very seriously
- 55. In our organization internal hiring is preferred over external
- 56. New employees always get inspired by our career planning and development system
- 57. Minorities and women have comparable opportunities of growth and development
- 58. Organization is helping me develop skills needed for my future career
- 59. Our organization provides opportunities to develop skills needed to attain career goal
- 60. Employees get career guidance from their supervisor without any hesitation

#### **Employee Participation**

- 61. Employees at each level in org. take part in decision-making process up to an extent
- 62. Employees are asked by superiors to participate in related decisions
- 63. Employees are provided opportunity to suggest improvements in the way things are done here
- 64. Employees are trusted to make decisions for themselves and the organization
- 65. Our organization gives rewards for making appropriate suggestions
- 66. We have culture that promotes employee involvement in our organization
- 67. We meet voluntarily to identify, operational problems relevant to the organization
- 68. Our organization consults employees in strategic decision-making
- 69. Employees decision freedom improves their satisfaction in our organization
- 70. Employees having liberty to organize their job tasks as per their convenience produce more output

1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<u></u> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	□3	4	5	6	<u></u> 7

1	2	3	4	□5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<u></u> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<u></u> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<u></u> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	$\Box 2$	3	4	5	6	<b>7</b>

#### **Job Description**

- 71. The duties of every job are categorically and clearly defined in our organization
- 72. Each job in our organization has an up to date job description
- 73. The job description for each job contains all the duties performed by individual employee
- 74. The actual job duties are shaped more by the employee than by the formal job description
- 75. Employees are never asked to performed duties not mentioned in the job description
- 76. Job descriptions are revised from time to time to incorporate the upcoming changes
- 77. Employees in our organization are evaluated based on job description
- 78. Job descriptions in our organizations are clear and easy to understand
- 79. Job description in our organization is clearly oriented to new employees for clarity
- 80. Our job descriptions are matching other companies' job descriptions for similar positions

#### Compensation

- 81. Compensation offered by our organization matches the expectancy of employees
- 82. In our organization, salary and other benefits are comparable to the market
- 83. In our organization, compensation is decided on the basis of competence of the employee
- 84. The compensation for all employees is directly linked to their performance
- 85. In our organization, profit sharing is used as a mechanism to reward higher performance
- 86. Our organization offers both financial and non-financial rewards without discrimination
- 87. The compensation plan is revised accordingly with the economic situation
- 88. Take home pay is enough for my family and me
- 89. My last year's salary raise was better than the previous one
- 90. In general, I understand why I get what I get

1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<u></u> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	□5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7



#### **Positive Adaptability of Employees**

91. Employees in our organization always try to avoid problem creation for co-workers.	1	2	3	4	5	6	<u></u> 7
92. Employees in our organization always consider the impact of their actions on co-workers	1	2	3	4	5	6	<u></u> 7
93. Employees in our organization are satisfied from the HRM practices.	1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
94. Employees in our organization take keen interest in their job assignment	1	2	3	4	5	6	<u></u> 7
95. Employees in our organization are sensible and adaptive towards innovation.	1	2	3	4	5	6	<u></u> 7
96. Employees in our organization don't agitate against change.	1	2	3	4	5	6	<u></u> 7
97. Employees always attend meetings that are not mandatory, but are important.	1	2	3	4	5	6	<u>7</u>
98. Employees in our organization attend functions that are not required, but help company image	1	2	3	4	5	6	<u></u> 7
99. Employees in our organization read and keep up with organization announcements, memos, etc.	1	2	3	4	5	6	<b></b> 7
100. Employees in our organization always show positive attitude towards new ideas	1	2	3	4	5	6	<u></u> 7

#### **HRM Scorecard**

To develop HRM Scorecard following HRM practices have been proposed based on literature review. You are requested to please give your opinion about following 9 HRM practices with reference to Pakistani setting, kindly give your opinion about a statement that "This practice should be part of HRM scorecard". While scorecard is a combination of most important HRM practices used in different industries.

	HRM Practices	Score			
01	Employee performance				
02	Recruitment and Selection				
03	Training and Development				
04	Performance Appraisal				

05	Career Planning & Development	
06	Employee Participation	
07	Job Description	
08	Compensation	
09	Positive Adaptability of Employees	

Thank you for your valuable contribution and time

# 7.2 Annexure II: Scatter Diagram Marris as dependent variable

Figure 7

Figure 8



#### Scatter Diagram





#### Scatter Diagram ROE as dependent variable



#### Scater Diagram ROA as dependent variable



## 7.3 Annexure III: Frequencies

Table No. 1:Industry Type

Industries	Frequency	Percent	Valid %	Cumulative Percent
Banking	60	21.90	21.90	21.90
Insurance	47	17.15	17.15	39.05
Leasing	46	16.79	16.79	55.84
Mudaraba/Mutual Funds	97	35.40	35.40	91.24
Investment	24	8.76	8.76	100.00
Total	274	100	100	

## Table No. 2:Gender Type

Gender Type	Frequency	Percent	Valid %	Cumulative Percent
Male	235	85.77	85.77	85.77
Female	39	14.23	14.23	100.00
Total	274	100	100	

## Table No. 3:Age

Age in Years	Frequency	Percent	Valid %	Cumulative Percent
21	1	0.36	0.36	0.36
23	1	0.36	0.36	0.73
24	4	1.46	1.46	2.19
25	4	1.46	1.46	3.65
26	10	3.65	3.65	7.30
27	12	4.38	4.38	11.68
28	12	4.38	4.38	16.06
29	15	5.47	5.47	21.53
30	18	6.57	6.57	28.10
31	14	5.11	5.11	33.21
32	16	5.84	5.84	39.05

33	11	4.01	4.01	43.07
34	12	4.38	4.38	47.45
35	25	9.12	9.12	56.57
36	10	3.65	3.65	60.22
37	8	2.92	2.92	63.14
38	14	5.11	5.11	68.25
39	7	2.55	2.55	70.80
40	18	6.57	6.57	77.37
41	6	2.19	2.19	79.56
42	4	1.46	1.46	81.02
43	1	0.36	0.36	81.39
44	8	2.92	2.92	84.31
45	7	2.55	2.55	86.86
46	2	0.73	0.73	87.59
47	4	1.46	1.46	89.05
48	7	2.55	2.55	91.61
49	3	1.09	1.09	92.70
50	4	1.46	1.46	94.16
51	1	0.36	0.36	94.53
52	2	0.73	0.73	95.26
53	2	0.73	0.73	95.99
54	2	0.73	0.73	96.72
55	2	0.73	0.73	97.45
56	3	1.09	1.09	98.54
57	1	0.36	0.36	98.91
58	1	0.36	0.36	99.27
59	2	0.73	0.73	100.00
Total	274	100	100	

Years of Schooling	Frequency	Percent	Valid %	Cumulative Percent
14	19	6.93	6.93	6.93
15	6	2.19	2.19	9.12
16	211	77.01	77.01	86.13
17	6	2.19	2.19	88.32
18	32	11.68	11.68	100.00
Total	274	100	100	

Table No. 4:Education

Table No. 5: Experience

Experience in years	Frequency	Percent	Valid %	Cumulative Percent
1	5	1.82	1.82	1.82
2	12	4.38	4.38	6.20
3	24	8.76	8.76	14.96
4	18	6.57	6.57	21.53
5	14	5.11	5.11	26.64
6	19	6.93	6.93	33.58
7	14	5.11	5.11	38.69
8	18	6.57	6.57	45.26
9	9	3.28	3.28	48.54
10	20	7.30	7.30	55.84
11	9	3.28	3.28	59.12
12	15	5.47	5.47	64.60
13	9	3.28	3.28	67.88
14	16	5.84	5.84	73.72
15	10	3.65	3.65	77.37
16	5	1.82	1.82	79.20
17	10	3.65	3.65	82.85
18	4	1.46	1.46	84.31
19	5	1.82	1.82	86.13
-------	-----	------	------	--------
20	10	3.65	3.65	89.78
21	3	1.09	1.09	90.88
22	8	2.92	2.92	93.80
23	1	0.36	0.36	94.16
25	5	1.82	1.82	95.99
26	1	0.36	0.36	96.35
28	2	0.73	0.73	97.08
30	6	2.19	2.19	99.27
31	1	0.36	0.36	99.64
33	1	0.36	0.36	100.00
Total	274	100	100	

# Table No. 6: Org Life

Org Life in Years	Frequency	Percent	Valid %	Cumulative Percent
1.5	2	0.73	0.73	0.73
2	4	1.46	1.46	2.19
3	7	2.55	2.55	4.74
4	11	4.01	4.01	8.76
4.5	2	0.73	0.73	9.49
5	19	6.93	6.93	16.42
6	11	4.01	4.01	20.44
7	17	6.20	6.20	26.64
8	6	2.19	2.19	28.83
9	5	1.82	1.82	30.66
10	7	2.55	2.55	33.21
12	10	3.65	3.65	36.86
13	6	2.19	2.19	39.05
14	10	3.65	3.65	42.70
15	21	7.66	7.66	50.36

16	17	6.20	6.20	56.57
17	9	3.28	3.28	59.85
18	12	4.38	4.38	64.23
19	10	3.65	3.65	67.88
20	14	5.11	5.11	72.99
21	1	0.36	0.36	73.36
22	7	2.55	2.55	75.91
23	3	1.09	1.09	77.01
24	2	0.73	0.73	77.74
25	2	0.73	0.73	78.47
28	1	0.36	0.36	78.83
34	1	0.36	0.36	79.20
35	2	0.73	0.73	79.93
36	2	0.73	0.73	80.66
40	2	0.73	0.73	81.39
42	2	0.73	0.73	82.12
46	1	0.36	0.36	82.48
47	9	3.28	3.28	85.77
49	4	1.46	1.46	87.23
50	2	0.73	0.73	87.96
51	1	0.36	0.36	88.32
56	1	0.36	0.36	88.69
57	8	2.92	2.92	91.61
59	2	0.73	0.73	92.34
60	3	1.09	1.09	93.43
60 62	3 13	1.09 4.74	1.09 4.74	93.43 98.18
60 62 64	3 13 1	1.09 4.74 0.36	1.09 4.74 0.36	93.43 98.18 98.54
60 62 64 67	3 13 1 3	1.09 4.74 0.36 1.09	1.09 4.74 0.36 1.09	93.43 98.18 98.54 99.64
<ul> <li>60</li> <li>62</li> <li>64</li> <li>67</li> <li>72</li> </ul>	3 13 1 3 1	1.09 4.74 0.36 1.09 0.36	1.09 4.74 0.36 1.09 0.36	93.43 98.18 98.54 99.64 100.00

Org. Employees	Frequency	Percent	Valid %	Cumulative Percent
7	1	0.36	0.36	0.36
8	1	0.36	0.36	0.73
11	1	0.36	0.36	1.09
12	1	0.36	0.36	1.46
13	1	0.36	0.36	1.82
17	2	0.73	0.73	2.55
19	1	0.36	0.36	2.92
20	2	0.73	0.73	3.65
22	5	1.82	1.82	5.47
24	3	1.09	1.09	6.57
25	5	1.82	1.82	8.39
28	1	0.36	0.36	8.76
40	6	2.19	2.19	10.95
45	2	0.73	0.73	11.68
50	1	0.36	0.36	12.04
60	2	0.73	0.73	12.77
66	2	0.73	0.73	13.50
67	2	0.73	0.73	14.23
70	2	0.73	0.73	14.96
72	4	1.46	1.46	16.42
75	2	0.73	0.73	17.15
76	2	0.73	0.73	17.88
78	2	0.73	0.73	18.61
80	4	1.46	1.46	20.07
85	2	0.73	0.73	20.80
86	2	0.73	0.73	21.53
93	2	0.73	0.73	22.26
95	2	0.73	0.73	22.99

Table No. 7:No of employees in the organization

100	2	0.73	0.73	23.72
103	2	0.73	0.73	24.45
105	1	0.36	0.36	24.82
110	1	0.36	0.36	25.18
111	2	0.73	0.73	25.91
115	2	0.73	0.73	26.64
120	1	0.36	0.36	27.01
122	1	0.36	0.36	27.37
125	4	1.46	1.46	28.83
135	3	1.09	1.09	29.93
147	1	0.36	0.36	30.29
150	5	1.82	1.82	32.12
160	6	2.19	2.19	34.31
170	2	0.73	0.73	35.04
175	1	0.36	0.36	35.40
180	3	1.09	1.09	36.50
185	1	0.36	0.36	36.86
190	2	0.73	0.73	37.59
200	14	5.11	5.11	42.70
202	1	0.36	0.36	43.07
203	1	0.36	0.36	43.43
210	4	1.46	1.46	44.89
215	1	0.36	0.36	45.26
230	1	0.36	0.36	45.62
231	3	1.09	1.09	46.72
235	2	0.73	0.73	47.45
240	2	0.73	0.73	48.18
250	6	2.19	2.19	50.36
260	1	0.36	0.36	50.73
291	2	0.73	0.73	51.46

300	10	3.65	3.65	55.11
312	2	0.73	0.73	55.84
336	1	0.36	0.36	56.20
342	1	0.36	0.36	56.57
350	6	2.19	2.19	58.76
386	2	0.73	0.73	59.49
392	1	0.36	0.36	59.85
400	7	2.55	2.55	62.41
420	1	0.36	0.36	62.77
423	2	0.73	0.73	63.50
475	1	0.36	0.36	63.87
500	2	0.73	0.73	64.60
550	1	0.36	0.36	64.96
600	4	1.46	1.46	66.42
630	1	0.36	0.36	66.79
650	2	0.73	0.73	67.52
680	1	0.36	0.36	67.88
729	2	0.73	0.73	68.61
735	2	0.73	0.73	69.34
800	1	0.36	0.36	69.71
865	2	0.73	0.73	70.44
900	4	1.46	1.46	71.90
928	2	0.73	0.73	72.63
1000	2	0.73	0.73	73.36
1100	2	0.73	0.73	74.09
1200	8	2.92	2.92	77.01
1263	1	0.36	0.36	77.37
1500	2	0.73	0.73	78.10
2000	8	2.92	2.92	81.02
2350	1	0.36	0.36	81.39

4000	4	1.46	1.46	82.85
4140	1	0.36	0.36	83.21
4500	2	0.73	0.73	83.94
5911	2	0.73	0.73	84.67
6000	1	0.36	0.36	85.04
7584	2	0.73	0.73	85.77
8000	2	0.73	0.73	86.50
8537	1	0.36	0.36	86.86
9000	9	3.28	3.28	90.15
10000	2	0.73	0.73	90.88
11000	11	4.01	4.01	94.89
13000	2	0.73	0.73	95.62
13500	2	0.73	0.73	96.35
14000	2	0.73	0.73	97.08
15000	2	0.73	0.73	97.81
18000	5	1.82	1.82	99.64
26851	1	0.36	0.36	100.00
Total	274	100	100	

 Table No.8:
 Perceived Organizational Performance

Responses	Frequency	Percent	Valid %	Cumulative Percent
2	1	0.24	0.24	0.00
2	1	0.36	0.36	0.36
3	7	2 55	2 55	2 02
5	/	2.33	2.33	2.92
4	21	7.66	7.66	10.58
		,	1100	10.00
5	84	30.66	30.66	41.24
6	132	48.18	48.18	89.42
7	20	10.50	10.50	100.00
/	29	10.58	10.58	100.00
Total	274	100	100	
10111	2/7	100	100	

Responses	Frequency	Percent	Valid %	Cumulative Percent
3	2	0.73	0.73	0.73
4	29	10.58	10.58	11.31
5	83	30.29	30.29	41.61
6	113	41.24	41.24	82.85
7	47	17.15	17.15	100.00
Total	274	100	100	

Table No. 9:Employee Performance

 Table No. 10:
 Recruitment and Selection

Responses	Frequency	Percent	Valid %	Cumulative Percent
3	4	1.45	1.45	1.45
4	12	4.37	4.37	5.83
5	90	32.84	32.84	38.68
6	122	44.52	44.52	83.21
7	46	16.78	16.78	100
Total	274	100	100	

8

Responses	Frequency	Percent	Valid %	Cumulative Percent
3	2	0.73	0.73	0.73
4	11	4.01	4.01	4.74
5	93	33.94	33.94	38.69
6	112	40.88	40.88	79.56
7	56	20.44	20.44	100.00
Total	274	100	100	

Responses	Frequency	Percent	Valid %	Cumulative Percent
3	2	0.73	0.73	0.73
4	18	6.57	6.57	7.30
5	100	36.50	36.50	43.80
6	111	40.51	40.51	84.31
7	43	15.69	15.69	100.00
Total	274	100	100	

 Table No. 12:
 Performance Appraisal

## Table No. 13:Career Planning

Responses	Frequency	Percent	Valid %	Cumulative Percent
3	2	0.73	0.73	0.73
4	23	8.39	8.39	9.12
5	99	36.13	36.13	45.26
6	112	40.88	40.88	86.13
7	38	13.87	13.87	100.00
Total	274	100	100	

## Table No.14: Employee Participation

Responses	Frequency	Percent	Valid %	Cumulative Percent
3	2	0.73	0.73	0.73
4	23	8.39	8.39	9.12
5	103	37.59	37.59	46.72
6	116	42.34	42.34	89.05
7	30	10.95	10.95	100.00
Total	274	100	100	

Responses	Frequency	Percent	Valid %	Cumulative Percent
2	2	0.73	0.73	0.73
3	4	1.46	1.46	2.19
4	31	11.31	11.31	13.50
5	83	30.29	30.29	43.80
6	121	44.16	44.16	87.96
7	33	12.04	12.04	100.00
Total	274	100	100	

 Table No. 15:
 Compensation System

## Table No. 16:Marris Ratio

Value	Frequency	Percent	Valid %	Cumulative Percent
-22.09	2	0.73	0.73	0.73
-1.14	1	0.36	0.36	1.09
-0.31	1	0.36	0.36	1.46
-0.27	4	1.46	1.46	2.92
0	23	8.39	8.39	11.31
0.11	2	0.73	0.73	12.04
0.15	5	1.82	1.82	13.87
0.16	2	0.73	0.73	14.60
0.18	3	1.09	1.09	15.69
0.19	1	0.36	0.36	16.06
0.2	4	1.46	1.46	17.52
0.25	2	0.73	0.73	18.25
0.26	2	0.73	0.73	18.98
0.28	5	1.82	1.82	20.80
0.3	1	0.36	0.36	21.17
0.31	2	0.73	0.73	21.90
0.32	2	0.73	0.73	22.63

0.33	4	1.46	1.46	24.09
0.36	2	0.73	0.73	24.82
0.38	3	1.09	1.09	25.91
0.39	5	1.82	1.82	27.74
0.44	2	0.73	0.73	28.47
0.46	6	2.19	2.19	30.66
0.48	4	1.46	1.46	32.12
0.49	4	1.46	1.46	33.58
0.51	2	0.73	0.73	34.31
0.52	2	0.73	0.73	35.04
0.53	3	1.09	1.09	36.13
0.56	4	1.46	1.46	37.59
0.57	4	1.46	1.46	39.05
0.58	7	2.55	2.55	41.61
0.59	2	0.73	0.73	42.34
0.61	2	0.73	0.73	43.07
0.63	9	3.28	3.28	46.35
0.65	2	0.73	0.73	47.08
0.66	10	3.65	3.65	50.73
0.67	6	2.19	2.19	52.92
0.68	2	0.73	0.73	53.65
0.7	4	1.46	1.46	55.11
0.71	2	0.73	0.73	55.84
0.72	4	1.46	1.46	57.30
0.73	2	0.73	0.73	58.03
0.76	2	0.73	0.73	58.76
0.8	1	0.36	0.36	59.12
0.82	2	0.73	0.73	59.85
0.83	4	1.46	1.46	61.31
0.9	3	1.09	1.09	62.41

0.98	3	1.09	1.09	63.50
1.02	1	0.36	0.36	63.87
1.09	2	0.73	0.73	64.60
1.11	2	0.73	0.73	65.33
1.14	1	0.36	0.36	65.69
1.18	2	0.73	0.73	66.42
1.25	1	0.36	0.36	66.79
1.35	2	0.73	0.73	67.52
1.36	2	0.73	0.73	68.25
1.41	1	0.36	0.36	68.61
1.51	2	0.73	0.73	69.34
1.58	3	1.09	1.09	70.44
1.62	3	1.09	1.09	71.53
1.85	6	2.19	2.19	73.72
1.91	2	0.73	0.73	74.45
1.92	1	0.36	0.36	74.82
1.95	6	2.19	2.19	77.01
2.05	4	1.46	1.46	78.47
2.11	3	1.09	1.09	79.56
2.19	2	0.73	0.73	80.29
2.3	1	0.36	0.36	80.66
2.33	4	1.46	1.46	82.12
2.37	7	2.55	2.55	84.67
2.74	1	0.36	0.36	85.04
2.81	3	1.09	1.09	86.13
2.83	1	0.36	0.36	86.50
3.95	1	0.36	0.36	86.86
4.25	1	0.36	0.36	87.23
4.43	2	0.73	0.73	87.96
4.44	2	0.73	0.73	88.69

Total	274	100	100		
30.69	4	1.46	1.46	100.00	
14.49	11	4.01	4.01	98.54	
11.42	2	0.73	0.73	94.53	
11.1	4	1.46	1.46	93.80	
10.35	1	0.36	0.36	92.34	
7.67	2	0.73	0.73	91.97	
4.67	4	1.46	1.46	91.24	
4.51	3	1.09	1.09	89.78	

Table No. 17:Tobin's Q

Value	Frequency	Percent	Valid %	Cumulative Percent
0.14	2	0.73	0.73	0.73
0.16	2	0.73	0.73	1.46
0.21	2	0.73	0.73	2.19
0.25	5	1.82	1.82	4.01
0.28	5	1.82	1.82	5.84
0.33	3	1.09	1.09	6.93
0.34	2	0.73	0.73	7.66
0.35	1	0.36	0.36	8.03
0.37	2	0.73	0.73	8.76
0.41	2	0.73	0.73	9.49
0.42	2	0.73	0.73	10.22
0.45	2	0.73	0.73	10.95
0.46	2	0.73	0.73	11.68
0.49	9	3.28	3.28	14.96
0.52	2	0.73	0.73	15.69
0.57	2	0.73	0.73	16.42
0.58	2	0.73	0.73	17.15
0.59	2	0.73	0.73	17.88
0.6	8	2.92	2.92	20.80

0.61	2	0.73	0.73	21.53
0.64	2	0.73	0.73	22.26
0.67	4	1.46	1.46	23.72
0.69	2	0.73	0.73	24.45
0.7	8	2.92	2.92	27.37
0.71	6	2.19	2.19	29.56
0.72	5	1.82	1.82	31.39
0.73	3	1.09	1.09	32.48
0.74	2	0.73	0.73	33.21
0.75	8	2.92	2.92	36.13
0.76	6	2.19	2.19	38.32
0.77	1	0.36	0.36	38.69
0.78	5	1.82	1.82	40.51
0.8	3	1.09	1.09	41.61
0.81	2	0.73	0.73	42.34
0.83	2	0.73	0.73	43.07
0.87	2	0.73	0.73	43.80
0.9	4	1.46	1.46	45.26
0.91	5	1.82	1.82	47.08
0.93	5	1.82	1.82	48.91
0.95	6	2.19	2.19	51.09
0.96	6	2.19	2.19	53.28
0.97	1	0.36	0.36	53.65
0.98	10	3.65	3.65	57.30
0.99	6	2.19	2.19	59.49
1.00	1	0.36	0.36	59.85
1.01	2	0.73	0.73	60.58
1.02	2	0.73	0.73	61.31
1.04	1	0.36	0.36	61.68
1.05	13	4.74	4.74	66.42

18.2	4	1.46	1.46	99.27
10.85	2	0.73	0.73	97.81
7.6	1	0.36	0.36	97.08
3.31	4	1.46	1.46	96.72
3.15	1	0.36	0.36	95.26
2.54	1	0.36	0.36	94.89
2.26	11	4.01	4.01	94.53
2.22	4	1.46	1.46	90.51
2.03	2	0.73	0.73	89.05
1.87	1	0.36	0.36	88.32
1.81	2	0.73	0.73	87.96
1.79	1	0.36	0.36	87.23
1.76	1	0.36	0.36	86.86
1.65	1	0.36	0.36	86.50
1.6	7	2.55	2.55	86.13
1.59	1	0.36	0.36	83.58
1.37	4	1.46	1.46	83.21
1.32	2	0.73	0.73	81.75
1.3	4	1.46	1.46	81.02
1.21	1	0.36	0.36	79.56
1.16	4	1.46	1.46	79.20
1.13	2	0.73	0.73	77.74
1.11	3	1.09	1.09	77.01
1.10	3	1.09	1.09	75.91
1.09	7	2.55	2.55	74.82
1.08	11	4.01	4.01	72.26
1.07	2	0.73	0.73	68.25
1.06	3	1.09	1.09	67.52

Value	Frequency	Percent	Valid %	Cumulative Percent
-1.94	2	0.73	0.73	0.73
-0.28	2	0.73	0.73	1.46
-0.24	4	1.46	1.46	2.92
-0.2	2	0.73	0.73	3.65
-0.17	2	0.73	0.73	4.38
-0.13	2	0.73	0.73	5.11
-0.07	1	0.36	0.36	5.47
-0.05	1	0.36	0.36	5.84
-0.03	2	0.73	0.73	6.57
-0.01	2	0.73	0.73	7.30
0	8	2.92	2.92	10.22
0.01	11	4.01	4.01	14.23
0.03	2	0.73	0.73	14.96
0.04	5	1.82	1.82	16.79
0.05	4	1.46	1.46	18.25
0.06	9	3.28	3.28	21.53
0.07	2	0.73	0.73	22.26
0.08	5	1.82	1.82	24.09
0.09	9	3.28	3.28	27.37
0.11	5	1.82	1.82	29.20
0.12	6	2.19	2.19	31.39
0.13	11	4.01	4.01	35.40
0.14	2	0.73	0.73	36.13
0.15	15	5.47	5.47	41.61
0.16	11	4.01	4.01	45.62
0.17	1	0.36	0.36	45.99
0.19	5	1.82	1.82	47.81
0.2	9	3.28	3.28	51.09

Table No. 18:Return on Equity

0.21	13	4.74	4.74	55.84
0.22	11	4.01	4.01	59.85
0.24	9	3.28	3.28	63.14
0.25	9	3.28	3.28	66.42
0.26	5	1.82	1.82	68.25
0.27	2	0.73	0.73	68.98
0.28	5	1.82	1.82	70.80
0.29	14	5.11	5.11	75.91
0.3	2	0.73	0.73	76.64
0.31	6	2.19	2.19	78.83
0.32	6	2.19	2.19	81.02
0.33	4	1.46	1.46	82.48
0.35	4	1.46	1.46	83.94
0.36	6	2.19	2.19	86.13
0.37	4	1.46	1.46	87.59
0.38	1	0.36	0.36	87.96
0.4	2	0.73	0.73	88.69
0.42	2	0.73	0.73	89.42
0.43	3	1.09	1.09	90.51
0.44	1	0.36	0.36	90.88
0.45	4	1.46	1.46	92.34
0.5	1	0.36	0.36	92.70
0.55	1	0.36	0.36	93.07
0.58	4	1.46	1.46	94.53
0.73	1	0.36	0.36	94.89
0.77	3	1.09	1.09	95.99
0.8	4	1.46	1.46	97.45
0.88	1	0.36	0.36	97.81
1.88	2	0.73	0.73	98.54
4.46	4	1.46	1.46	100.00

Total 274 100 100

Value	Frequency	Percent	Valid %	Cumulative Percent
-314.04	2	0.73	0.73	0.73
-182.97	1	0.36	0.36	1.09
-115.59	6	2.19	2.19	3.28
-45.63	3	1.09	1.09	4.38
-30.18	4	1.46	1.46	5.84
-29.61	3	1.09	1.09	6.93
-11.82	1	0.36	0.36	7.30
-11.71	2	0.73	0.73	8.03
-11.35	2	0.73	0.73	8.76
-10.82	2	0.73	0.73	9.49
-8.33	2	0.73	0.73	10.22
-7.73	4	1.46	1.46	11.68
-5.99	2	0.73	0.73	12.41
-5.06	2	0.73	0.73	13.14
-3.43	2	0.73	0.73	13.87
-1.73	2	0.73	0.73	14.60
-1.26	1	0.36	0.36	14.96
-0.73	2	0.73	0.73	15.69
-0.08	1	0.36	0.36	16.06
0	7	2.55	2.55	18.61
0.01	3	1.09	1.09	19.71
0.02	2	0.73	0.73	20.44
0.1	4	1.46	1.46	21.90
0.14	1	0.36	0.36	22.26
0.55	2	0.73	0.73	22.99
0.69	4	1.46	1.46	24.45

## Table No. 19:Return on Assets

0.72	2	0.73	0.73	25.18
0.83	4	1.46	1.46	26.64
4.67	2	0.73	0.73	27.37
5.19	1	0.36	0.36	27.74
5.92	2	0.73	0.73	28.47
6.08	2	0.73	0.73	29.20
6.44	2	0.73	0.73	29.93
7.04	1	0.36	0.36	30.29
7.29	2	0.73	0.73	31.02
8.6	3	1.09	1.09	32.12
8.92	2	0.73	0.73	32.85
9.24	1	0.36	0.36	33.21
12.51	2	0.73	0.73	33.94
13.07	5	1.82	1.82	35.77
14.03	1	0.36	0.36	36.13
15.54	1	0.36	0.36	36.50
16.56	4	1.46	1.46	37.96
16.66	2	0.73	0.73	38.69
17.06	2	0.73	0.73	39.42
17.69	2	0.73	0.73	40.15
18.53	3	1.09	1.09	41.24
18.56	2	0.73	0.73	41.97
20.82	5	1.82	1.82	43.80
21.5	2	0.73	0.73	44.53
21.76	2	0.73	0.73	45.26
22.68	3	1.09	1.09	46.35
24.41	1	0.36	0.36	46.72
24.52	1	0.36	0.36	47.08
27.41	5	1.82	1.82	48.91
27.76	3	1.09	1.09	50.00

27.85	2	0.73	0.73	50.73
32.37	4	1.46	1.46	52.19
38.63	1	0.36	0.36	52.55
41.81	2	0.73	0.73	53.28
42.36	1	0.36	0.36	53.65
42.7	2	0.73	0.73	54.38
49.17	1	0.36	0.36	54.74
49.24	4	1.46	1.46	56.20
52.3	4	1.46	1.46	57.66
55.56	1	0.36	0.36	58.03
60.21	11	4.01	4.01	62.04
61.65	2	0.73	0.73	62.77
63.49	1	0.36	0.36	63.14
63.58	2	0.73	0.73	63.87
64.03	2	0.73	0.73	64.60
70.26	1	0.36	0.36	64.96
76.81	1	0.36	0.36	65.33
80.47	3	1.09	1.09	66.42
81.15	1	0.36	0.36	66.79
85.74	4	1.46	1.46	68.25
88.15	2	0.73	0.73	68.98
104.01	4	1.46	1.46	70.44
111.01	4	1.46	1.46	71.90
118.89	2	0.73	0.73	72.63
124	2	0.73	0.73	73.36
132.32	2	0.73	0.73	74.09
168.91	4	1.46	1.46	75.55
183.98	1	0.36	0.36	75.91
189.83	2	0.73	0.73	76.64
193.87	2	0.73	0.73	77.37

203.32	2	0.73	0.73	78.10
203.9	2	0.73	0.73	78.83
236.39	1	0.36	0.36	79.20
249.79	4	1.46	1.46	80.66
318.05	2	0.73	0.73	81.39
383.32	2	0.73	0.73	82.12
437.17	2	0.73	0.73	82.85
482.99	3	1.09	1.09	83.94
510.2	2	0.73	0.73	84.67
621.99	7	2.55	2.55	87.23
759.17	2	0.73	0.73	87.96
791.29	2	0.73	0.73	88.69
854.93	3	1.09	1.09	89.78
1042.41	6	2.19	2.19	91.97
1075.17	3	1.09	1.09	93.07
1246.62	3	1.09	1.09	94.16
1948.31	1	0.36	0.36	94.53
2700.74	4	1.46	1.46	95.99
5051.27	6	2.19	2.19	98.18
13114	5	1.82	1.82	100.00
Total	274	100	100	

Industries/Companies	Marris	Tobin's Q	ROE	ROA
Modaraba				
AL - Meezan Mutual Fund	1.09	1.06	.32	.18
Asian Stock Fund Limited	.66	.61	.12	02
Atlas Fund of Funds	.51	.52	.24	.10
BSJS Value Fund Limited	.66	.67	.24	.23
First Capital Mutual Fund Limited	7.67	.28	.25	.23
First Dawood Mutual Fund	2.05	.60	.58	.14
Golden Arrow S. Stocks Fund Limited	.70	.71	.37	.25
Meezan Balanced Fund	.56	.60	.29	.12
Pakistan Premier Fund Limited	.71	.72	.36	.21
Pakistan Strategic Allocation Fund	.44	.46	.35	.15
PICIC Growth Fund	.61	.64	.25	.15
PICIC Investment Fund	.68	.71	.27	.13
Prudential Stock Funds Limited	.72	.75	24	21
Safeway Mutual Fund Limited	.48	.49	.13	.10
Tri - Star Mutual Fund Limited	.31	.34	.15	.15
First Al – NoorModaraba	.10	.26	.13	.04
Al - Zamin Leasing Modaraba	.49	.93	.25	.08
Allied Bank Modaraba First	.00	.26	.06	.01
B. F. Modaraba	.16	.25	.12	.04
Crescent Standard Modaraba	.25	.58	.16	.11
First Elite Capital Modaraba	.39	.49	.09	.00
First Equity Modaraba	.67	.70	.00	.08
First Fidelity Leasing Modaraba	.53	.73	.08	02
First Habib Bank Modaraba	.00	.51	.01	.05
First Habib Modaraba	.63	.80	.21	.01
First Imrooz Modaraba	.36	.69	.30	.06
First Investec Modaraba	.00	2.27	08	.10

# 7.4 Annexure IV: Financial Performance Indicators, duration (2004-2008)

First National Bank Modaraba	.00	.86	.12	.01
First Pak Modaraba	.18	.25	.04	.00
First Prudential Modaraba	.73	.83	.08	.03
First Punjab Modaraba	.57	.75	.06	.07
First Tri - Star Modaraba	.33	.37	.06	.03
Islamic Modaraba 1 <sup>st</sup>	.76	.81	.12	.05
Modaraba Al – Mali	.63	.78	.29	.07
Standard Chartered Modaraba	.00	.72	.13	.02
SchonModaraba	.98	.99	.11	.04
TawakkalModaraba 1 <sup>st</sup>	.28	.33	.13	.03
Trust Modaraba	.21	.35	04	.12
UnicapModaraba	11.01	3.31	.80	03
Unity Modaraba	-22.09	134.66	.09	.11
Leasing Companies				
Asian Leasing Corporation Limited	.00	.16	.01	25
Askari Leasing Limited	1.18	1.02	.31	.01
Capital Assets Leasing Corporation Ltd.	.32	.70	03	.01
Crescent Leasing Corporation Ltd.	.58	.95	.03	01
Grays Leasing Limited	.26	.21	.11	.00
English Leasing Limited	.65	.99	.22	.10
Interasia Leasing Company Ltd.	27	2.22	.33	.00
International Multi Leasing Corporation	.00	.29	.00	29
National Assets Leasing Corporation Ltd.	.20	1.37	4.46	.00
Natover Lease & Refinance Limited	.49	.74	-1.94	18
Network Leasing Corporation Limited	.11	1.07	13	15
Orix Leasing Pakistan Limited	.83	.98	.32	15
Pak Gulf Leasing Company Limited	.00	.59	.14	.02
Pakistan Industrial & Commercial Leasing	.38	.93	.16	.02
Saudi Pak Leasing Limited	.46	.95	.31	.00
Security Leasing Corporation Limited	.15	.91	.16	.01

Sigma Leasing Corporation Limited	.00	.76	.26	.02
Universal Leasing Corporation Limited	.52	.68	.01	.03
Inv. Banks / Inv. Cos. / Sec/ Cos.				
Al-Mal Securities & Services Limited	.00	.90	20	.01
AMZ Venutres Limited	.63	.76	05	02
ArifHabib Securities Limited	1.02	.99	.73	03
Assests Investment Bank Limited	.00	4.92	.16	.34
Atlas Investment Bank Limited	.82	.98	.24	76
Crescent Standard Investment Bank Limited	.00	.78	.22	.03
Dawood Capital Mgmt (Pak Venture)	.00	.28	.15	.05
Escorts Investmen Bank Limited	.66	.96	.36	.08
First Capital Securities Corporation Limited	1.35	1.32	.21	.03
First Dawood Investment Bank Limited	1.25	1.04	.36	.19
First International Investment Bank Limited	.00	.85	.08	.01
First National Equities Limited	3.95	1.76	.88	.01
International Housing Finance Limited	.00	.50	.04	.07
Investec Securities Limited	31	7.60	.25	.02
Jahangir Siddiqui& Company Limited	.90	1.08	.77	27
Jahangir Siddiqui Investment Bank Limited	1.92	1.09	.36	.21
Javed Omer Vohra& Company Limited	.95	1.10	.81	.12
JS Investments Limited	.14	.55	.08	.06
Network Microfinance Bank Limited	.33	.45	17	01
Orix Investment Bank Pakistan Limited	.28	.92	.16	08
Prudential Discount & Guarantee House	11.42	10.85	.19	03
Prudential Investment Bank	.00	3.15	.07	.18
Security Investment Bank Limited	.59	.90	.13	15
Trust Securities & Brokerage Limited	4.44	1.81	1.88	.03
Banking				
Bank Al - Habib Limited	2.81	1.10	.24	07
Bank Alfalah Limited	2.37	1.05	.21	.01

Bank of Punjab Limited	1.95	1.08	.22	.01
Crescent Commercial Bank Limited	.52	.87	28	.02
Faysal Bank Limited	2.11	1.11	.20	06
KASB Bank Limited	1.58	1.05	.01	.02
Meezan Bank Limited	.58	.96	.29	.00
Mybank Limited (Bolan)	14.49	2.26	.15	.03
MCB Bank Limited	1.51	1.08	.09	.01
National Bank of Pakistan Limited	1.85	1.09	.20	.01
NIB Bank Limited (NDLC - IFIC)	2.33	1.16	.01	.02
Saudi Pak Commercial Bank Limited	.56	1.00	95	.00
Soneri Bank Limited	1.62	1.05	.19	02
Standard Chartered Bank (Pakistan) Ltd.	4.51	1.60	.06	.01
United Bank Limited	.66	.98	.28	.01
Insurance				
Adamjee Insurance Company Limited	4.43	2.03	.43	.02
American Life Insurance Co. Limited	1.41	1.00	.15	.13
Asia Insurance Company Limited	.00	.42	.07	.01
Askari General Insurance Company Ltd.	2.19	1.30	.22	.04
Beema Pakistan Limited	.19	.35	07	.05
Business & Industrial Insurance Company	.46	.67	.01	05
Central Insurance Company Limited	1.36	1.13	.42	.01
Century Insurance Company Limited	2.30	1.65	.28	.36
Crescent Star Insurance Company Ltd.	.66	.77	.16	.14
Dadabhoy Insurance Company Limited	.00	.41	.00	.08
EFU General Insurance Company Limited	4.67	1.60	.45	.00
EFU Life Assurance Company Limited	10.35	1.87	.50	.07
East West Insurance Company Limited	.00	.42	.36	.05
Habib Insurance Company Limited	4.25	2.54	.44	.21
IGI Insurance Limited	.28	.57	.40	.23
Ittefaq General Insurance Company Ltd.	.00	.05	06	.29

Metropolitan Life Assurance Company Ltd.	.80	.97	.17	06
Muslim Insurance Company Limited	2.83	1.79	.55	.11
New Jubilee Insurance Company Limited	1.11	1.01	.35	.23
New Jubilee Life Insurance Company Ltd.	19.14	2.90	.15	.14
Pakistan General Insurance Company Ltd.	30.69	18.20	.05	.01
Pakistan Reinsurance Company Limited	1.91	1.30	.25	.03
Platinum Insurance Company Limited	.00	.28	01	.09
Premier Insurance Company Limited	.30	.72	.38	01
Progressive Insurance Company Limited	-1.14	1.21	.43	.18
Raja Insurance Company Limited	.00	.72	03	.20
Reliance Insurance Company Limited	1.50	1.21	.22	01
Shaheen Insurance Company Limited	2.74	1.59	.22	.09
Silver Star Insurance Company Limited	1.14	1.06	.21	.06
Union Insurance Company of Pakistan Ltd.	.00	.14	.04	.11
United Insurance Company Limited	.00	.43	.25	.03
Universal Insurance Company Limited	.55	.90	.17	.14

# INDEX

#### A

ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE IV
ANOVA
С
CAREER EXPLORATION
CAREER PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 1, 3, 14, 15, 19, 54, 76, 86
CAREER PLANNING SYSTEM IV, V, VIII, IX, 32, 76, 81, 86, 91, 103, 104, 105, 106, 107, 109, 110, 112, 113, 114, 115
CAREER STRATEGY
COMPENSATION SYSTEMIV, V, VIII, 35, 81, 82, 91, 111, 115
COMPENSATION1, 14, 35, 37, 54
CONTROL VARIABLES 13, 51, 79, 89, 115
CORRELATION 49, 57, 90, 92, 94, 95, 96, 98, 99, 100, 101, 102, 118
CORRELATION MATRIX56, 98
CRONBACH'S ALPHA
CROSS-FUNCTIONAL INTEGRATION43
D
DEMOGRAPHIC VARIABLES 12, 51, 56, 63, 90, 91, 92, 94
Ε
EDUCATIONIV, IX, 54, 62, 65, 73, 91, 94, 95, 103, 104, 105, 106, 107, 114, 132, 145, 159
EMPLOYEE ASSESSMENT
EMPLOYEE PARTICIPATION 1, 3, 8, 14, 15, 17, 43, 44, 45, 46, 54, 57, 63, 77, 78, 90, 101, 103, 104, 105, 106, 107, 116, 118

EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE. 1, IV, VIII, 46, 80,

81, 82, 89, 91, 114

EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE MEDIATION 13
EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTIONS
EMPLOYEES IV, IX, 42, 54, 69, 73, 75, 76, 77, 83 84, 85, 86, 87, 88, 91, 92, 100, 133, 138, 140, 141, 147, 148, 149, 150, 151, 152, 162
EMPLOYEES PARTICIPATIONIV, 91
EXPERIENCEIV, IX, 55, 62, 66, 73, 91, 94, 121 159
EXTRINSIC REWARDS

#### G

GENDE	ER. A	IV,	IX,	54,	56,	62,	65,	73,	91,	94,	95,	98,
103,	104.	, 10	)5, 1	106,	114	4, 1	20, .	145,	152	7		

#### $\boldsymbol{H}$

HOT DECK IMPUTATION
HUMAN CAPITAL DEVELOPMENT <i>IV, V</i>
HUMAN CAPITAL MANAGEMENT <i>IV</i>
HUMAN RESOURCE ACCOUNTING THEORY
HUMAN RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT26
HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT 1, 3, 6, 7, 10, 12, 16, 18, 24, 29, 34, 53, 90, 95, 115, 132, 133, 134, 135, 136, 137, 139
HYPOTHESES51
I
INDUSTRY TYPE IV, IX, 54, 67, 73, 91, 107, 145, 157
INTERACTIVE VOICE RESPONSE25
INTRINSIC REWARDS

## J

JOB DESCRIPTION1, 26
JOINT REWARD SYSTEMIV, V
L
LIKERT SCALE
М
MARRIS RATIO <i>V</i> , <i>VIII</i> , 11, 13, <i>21</i> , 53, 89, 91, 94, 105, 107, <i>121</i> , <i>125</i> , <i>127</i> , <i>128</i> , <i>130</i>
MEDIATION ANALYSIS115
Ν
NEW PRODUCT DEVELOPMENTIV, V
0
OPEN COMMUNICATION43
ORGANIZATION LIFEIV, 91
ORGANIZATIONAL FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE <i>IV</i> , 80, 81
ORGANIZATIONAL PERCEIVED PERFORMANCEIV
ORGANIZATIONAL PERFORMANCE II, 3, 6, 7, 10, 11, 12, 13, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 31, 38, 40, 44, 45, 57, 78, 83, 91, 99, 100, 101, 102, 103, 108, 110, 115, 132, 133, 135, 139
ORGANIZATIONAL PERFORMANCE 1, IV, VIII, 19, 21, 74, 80, 81, 82, 89, 114, 132, 134, 141, 142, 144, 146
Р
PAKISTAN <i>III, IV, V, 3, 5, 8, 9, 11, 22, 42, 62,</i> <i>129, 131, 135, 137, 144, 181, 183, 184, 185, 186</i>
PARTICIPATION INTENSITY44
PEOPLE CENTERED STRATEGIESIV
PEOPLE MANAGEMENTV
PERCEPTUAL MEASURE19

PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL1, 3, 6, 8, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 29, 30, 31, 46, 54, 57, 63, 76, 77, 78, 86, 90, 100, 101, 103, 104, 105, 106, 107, 116, 118
PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL IV, V, IX, 80, 81, 86, 91, 114, 148, 152
PERFORMANCE FEEDBACK
PERFORMANCE-BASED COMPENSATION37
PERSONNEL MANAGEMENTIV, 2
PERSONNEL MANAGEMENT IV, 139
PILOT STUDY
PIM8
POPULATION2, 9, 16, 51, 52, 58
PURPOSIVE SAMPLING51
R
RECRUITMENT & SELECTION1, 3, 14, 15, 19, 54, 63, 75, 77, 78, 90, 100, 101, 105, 115, 118
RECRUITMENT & SELECTION V, VIII, IX, 24, 75, 80, 84, 91, 103, 104, 105, 106, 107, 109, 111, 112, 113, 114, 147
RECRUITMENT SOURCES24

- REGRESSION ...... 17, 18, 45, 60, 90, 102, 116
- REGRESSION ANALYSIS . V, 94, 103, 104, 105, 106, 107, 109, 112, 113, 114

RESEARCH	AND I	DEVELO	OPMENT	 V

- RESEARCH DESIGN......51
- RESOURCE-BASED VIEW OF THE FIRM ... 20
- RETURN ON ASSETS ...... V, 78, 91, 113, 127

RETURN ON EQUITY ...... V, 53, 78, 91, 106, 125, 127, 130

RETURN ON EMPLOYEE PARTICIPATION.V

RETURN ON RECRUITMENT & SELECTION.V

#### RETURN ON TRAINING & DEVELOPMENTV

ROA11, 12, 13, 54, 63, 78, 82, 89, 90, 91, 93, 94, 96, 98, 102, 107, 118, 181
ROE,11, 82, 89
S
SCATTER PLOTS117, 118
SELECTION-MATCHING5
SELF ASSESSMENT
STRUCTURAL AND INSTITUTIONAL WEAKNESSES

#### T

TOBIN'S Q . V, VII, VIII, 11, 12, 13,	19, 22, 53, 63,
78, 82, 89, 90, 91, 94, 105, 110, 1	12, 118, <i>121</i> ,
124, 125, 127, 128, 130, 181	

- TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT ...1, 3, 14, 15, 19, 54, 63, 77, 78, 90, 101, 102, 115, 118
- TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT .... V, VIII, IX, 26, 75, 80, 85, 91, 103, 104, 105, 106, 107, 109, 112, 113, 114, 148

#### U

UNIVERSALISTIC PERSPECTIVE ......15

#### W